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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
3| ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the year ended December 31, 2013
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission File Number: 001-34753

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 27-2053069
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or or ganization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
5964 La Place Court, Carlsbad, California 92008-8829
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code760-448-4300

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) t¢fie Act

Title of Each Class: Name of Each Exchange on which Registered:

Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
(NASDAQ Global Market)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢fie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a vikelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%edbé&turities Act of 1933, as amended. YEB  NO

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 198lamended. YES]
NO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Sectid or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4l8G8ring the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the regjigtwas required to file such reports) and (2)been subject to such filing requirements for thet 88 days. Ye&l No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iasnitted electronically and posted on its corpokéb site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd to be submitted and
posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§8B2of this chapter) during the preceding 12 meiti for such shorter period that the registraas vequired to submit and
post such files). Ye&l No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiilers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K i contained herein, and will not be contained hmltest of registrant’s
knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statents incorporated by reference in Part Il of fiism 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kl

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantleazge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&wse definitions of “large
accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smalteporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the ExchaAge.
Large accelerated filed Accelerated filerx] Non-accelerated fileE] Smaller reporting companiyl

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Brge Act). YesO No

As of June 28, 2013, the last business day ofdfistrant’'s most recent completed second quaheraggregate market value of the common stocktheftbn-affiliates of the



registrant was approximately $299,342,000 baseti@ulosing sale price for the registrant’s comrstmtk on the NASDAQ Global Market on that date b®$3 per share. This
number is provided only for the purpose of thisortpn Form 10-K and does not represent an admigsieither the registrant or any such person ésetstatus of such person.

The number of outstanding shares of the regissammmon stock on March 1, 2014 was 41,906,372 cohenon stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global Marfgtding symbol
“GNMK”).

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive Proxy Sta@nt to be filed with the Securities and Exchangen@ission within 120 days after the close of tisedl year are
incorporated by reference into Part Ill of thisoep
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, or Annual Reppatticularly in Item 1. “Business” and Item 7. “Magement’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems” and the documents incorporated herein by refeegniaclude forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of#wirities Act and Section 21E of the Securitieh&nge Act of 1934, as amended, or the
Exchange Act. All statements, other than statenadtiistorical fact, are statements that could leembed to be forwa-looking statements,
including, but not limited to, statements regardmg future financial position, business strategggearch and development efforts, and plans
and objectives of management for future operati@isen used in this Annual Report, the words “beljetmay,” “could,” “will,”

“estimate,” “continue,” “intend,” “expect,” “target ,” “anticipate,” “aim,” “plan” and similar expressions, including their use in tlegative
are intended to identify forward-looking statements

” . ” w ” o ” o

These forward-looking statements are based on ntiggpectations, estimates, forecasts and projestabout our business and the
industry in which we operate and management’s fsetiad assumptions. They are not guarantees afefpierformance or development and
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties atter factors that are in some cases beyond outrabms a result, any or all of our
forward-looking statements in this Annual Report may turhto be inaccurate. Risks and other factors thay mause such differences inclt
but are not limited to, those described under thading “Risk Factors” in ltem 1A of Part | of thilsnnual Report.

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assuongj actual results and timing of events couldediffiaterially and adversely from those
anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statents. Accordingly, readers are cautioned not sz@lundue reliance on such forward-
looking statements.

Except as required by law, we do not intend to tpdaese forward-looking statements publicly oupalate the reasons actual results
could differ materially from those anticipated hrese forward-looking statements, even if new indtion becomes available in the future.

Trademarks and Trade Names

GenMark®and eSensdtand our other logos and trademarks are the propé®enMark Diagnostics, Inc. or its subsidiari@l.other
brand names or trademarks appearing in this AnRapbrt are the property of their respective hold@rs use or display of other parties’
trademarks, trade dress or products in this AnReglort does not imply that we have a relationshtp,ver the endorsement or sponsorship of
the trademark or trade dress owners.

Use of External Estimates

This Annual Report includes market share and ingldsta and forecasts that we obtained from inglysiblications and surveys.
Industry publications, surveys and forecasts gédiyestate that the information contained thereis baen obtained from sources believed to b
reliable, but there can be no assurance as tacthegacy or completeness of included information. Walee not independently verified any of
data from third-party sources nor have we asceaxthihe underlying economic assumptions relied uperein. While we are not aware of any
misstatements regarding the industry and market pl&sented herein, the data involve risks andrtainges and are subject to change based
on various factors.
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PART I.

ltem 1. BUSINESS

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc., or GenMark, was formgddsmetech plc, or Osmetech, as a Delaware corporiat February 2010.
GenMark had no operations prior to its initial gatdffering, which was completed in June 2010. Indrately prior to the closing of the initial
public offering, GenMark acquired all of the outslang ordinary shares of Osmetech in a reorgawizatnder the applicable laws of the Un
Kingdom. As a result of the reorganization, altleé issued ordinary shares in Osmetech were caddellconsideration of (a) the issuance of
common stock of GenMark to the former shareholdé@smetech and (b) the issuance of new sharesnme@ch to GenMark. Following the
reorganization, Osmetech became a subsidiary dtmttioy GenMark, and the former shareholders of €sweh received shares of GenMark.
Once the reorganization became effective, all sagtlons granted under the Osmetech plc 2003 WyBitfECompensation Plan, long term
incentive awards and all warrants issued by Osrhetere exchanged for options and warrants exeleigabthe common stock of
GenMark. Any discussion of GenMark prior to thisnganization relates to Osmetech and its conseliistibsidiaries. In September 2012,
GenMark placed Osmetech into liquidation to simypiti§ corporate structure. The liquidation of Osaehtwas competed in the fourth quarter
2013.

”ou

References herein to “we,
specifically requires otherwise.

us” or “our” refer tee@Mark Diagnostics, Inc. and its wholly owned sdlzsies, unless the context

Overview

We are a molecular diagnostics company focusecekwaldping and commercializing our proprietary e®efisletection technology. Our
proprietary electrochemical technology enables fasturate and highly sensitive detection of up2alistinct biomarkers in a single sample.
Our XT-8 system received 510(k) clearance fromUhéed States Food and Drug Administration, or FRAd is designed to support a broad
range of molecular diagnostic tests with a compadteasy-to-use workstation and self-containegodible test cartridges. Within
approximately 30 minutes of receipt of an extragted amplified nucleic acid sample, our ®Tsystem produces clear and accurate results
XT-8 system supports up to 24 independent testidgets, each of which can be run independentlyltiag in a highly convenient and flexible
workflow for our target customers, which are priityahospitals and reference laboratories. As of@aber 31, 2013 , we had an installed bas
of 413 XT-8 analyzers, or placements, with our comsrs.

We have developed eight tests for use with our XSlysBem. Four of our diagnostic tests have receil2dl clearance, including our
Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, which detects gershanges associated with cystic fibrosis, ourféfan Sensitivity Test, which determines
an individual’s ability to metabolize the oral aaagulant warfarin, our Thrombophilia Risk Test,jethdetects an individua’increased risk
blood clots, and our Respiratory Viral Panel, whighultaneously detects and differentiates 14 cdilty relevant viruses from patients with
influenza-like illnesses. Our eSenédechnology has demonstrated 100% accuracy in alisicidies compared to Deoxyribonucleic acid, or
DNA, sequencing and other standards in our CyskioBis Genotyping Test, our Warfarin Sensitivitgst and our Thrombophilia Risk Test.
We have also developed two hepatitis C virus, oWH@Enotyping tests, a 3A4/3A5 genotyping test, arBC19 genotyping test, versions of
which are available for research use only (RUO).

In addition, we are developing our next-generatistrument system, or NexGen system, which is bdagigned to integrate automated
nucleic acid extraction and amplification with @8ensof detection technology to enable technicians usieg\xGen system to place a raw
or a minimally prepared patient sample directlpiatir test cartridge and obtain results without adgitional steps. This sample-to-answer
capability is enabled by the robust nature of @eresor detection technology, which is not impaired by seEmmpurities that we believe
hinder competing technologies. We are designing\mxGen system to further simplify workflow and yiage powerful, cost-effective
molecular diagnostics solutions to a significamtkpanded group of hospitals and reference labdestdiVe are currently developing six assay
for our NexGen system, which include gram-positinel gram-negative sepsis panels, a respiratorlypargel (RVP), a gastrointestinal
infection (GI) panel, an HCV genotyping test, anckatral nervous system (CNS) infection pan#fe intend to continue investing in our
NexGen system and its related test menu for tresémable future. We currently expect to completalttvelopment of our NexGen systen
the middle of 2014, initiate the European launcthefsystem in late 2014, and launch the systeimeitunited States in the second half of
2015.

Since inception, we have incurred net losses frparations each year, and we expect to continuectar iosses for the foreseeable
future. Our losses attributable to operationslierfiscal year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 agproximately $33.6 million and $22.1
million , respectively. As of December 31, 2013e ad an accumulated deficit of $224.2 million r Operations to date have been funded
principally through sales of capital stock, borrogsé and cash from
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operations. We expect to incur increasing expeogesthe next several years, principally to develapNexGen system and additional
diagnostic tests, as well as to further increasespanding to manufacture, sell and market our yetsd

Our Strategy

Our goal is to become the market leading providetubomated, multiplex molecular diagnostic testiygtems. We intend to expand the
use of our XT-8 system and diagnostic tests tangetspecially those reference laboratories anditabsn the United States which perform a
high volume of molecular diagnostic tests. In a@dditwe intend to build worldwide awareness of proprietary eSensor® technology and the
value proposition we expect to offer our customgrsn completion of our NexGen system and its ihiéat menu. To achieve these objecti
we intend to:

« Grow our Installed Base of Customers We have identified those laboratories and hospitaise United States that we believe
will be high volume customers and who will benéfitm our eSensdttechnology. We intend to leverage our commercial
organization to drive placements of our XT-8 systeévie anticipate expansion of our installed baseustomers will drive sales of
our test cartridges, from which we anticipate gatieg the majority of our revenues for the foreséeéuture.

« Increase Utilization of Test. We intend to increase the use of our diagnostis tesdeveloping and offering tools and support
tailored to our products such as accredited physieducation programs and seminars, product tgafiinour customers and
reimbursement support. These activities are dedigmaid in establishing the clinical utility of mtiplex molecular diagnostic tests,
which we believe will increase adoption of our prots.

« Develop our NexGen Syste. We are developing our NexGen system to providenapbete sample-to-answer solution for our
customers. The NexGen system is being designestdmrall of the customer benefits of our XT-8 syst while also integrating
automated nucleic acid extraction and amplificapoocesses. These features will eliminate the faetine consuming and
complex sample preparation steps and allow tecimscio place a raw or minimally prepared patienta directly into our test
cartridge. We believe the NexGen system will beaative to a broader range of hospitals and labaes that lack the technical or
economic resources to perform molecular diagnaessiing with existing products and technology. Véédve these workflow
enhancements will expand our target user base diggnoximately 1,000 customers to approximately @ ®@0more potential
customers in the United States.

« Expand our Menu of Clinical Diagnostic Product. We intend to develop a broad menu of molecularriatic tests for our
NexGen system that we believe will satisfy impottaedical needs and present attractive commerpjabidunities. For exampl
we expect our initial assay menu for the NexGetesgwill includegram-positive and gram-negative sepsis panelssparegory
viral panel (RVP), a Gl infection panel, an HCV ggrping test, and a CNS infection panel

« Expand Internationally and Explore Ot-Licensing Opportunities We plan to offer our molecular diagnostic produnts
European and other international markets in the futare. We intend to utilize a direct sales amchhical support team in certain
key European countries, which we expect will beraeigted by marketing partners and distributors lreiostrategic areas as we
expand internationally. We intend to introduce Xiir8 system to key opinion leader sites in certaimtaes as we look to establ
our technology and certain tests within these ntarikepreparation for the international launch of BlexGen instrument system,
which we expect will occur in late 2014. We alsteimd to explore opportunities to leverage our iatélial property position in
detection technologies through licensing or thaldisthment of partnerships.

Revenues, net loss and total assets for the past yiears are contained in our consolidated fimdstatements in Part 1l of this Annual
Report. All revenues for the periods reported in@ansolidated financial statements in Part llhi$ tAnnual Report were derived from
customers located within the United States.

Our Products
Our XT-8 System

Our XT-8 system is an automated molecular diagoaststem that enables reference laboratories aspithts to perform fast, accurate
and easy-to-use molecular diagnostic tests. Thé&Xystem, which employs our proprietary electrodieahtletection technology, consists of a
compact bench-top workstation with an integratedthoscreen computer and an analyzer into whiclselftcontained, disposable test
cartridges are inserted. Our XT-8 system is usendlly, intuitive, requires minimal maintenance gmdvides laboratories with the ability to
perform multiplex molecular diagnostic tests inedficient and cost-effective manner. With a foatpiof approximately 16-by-16 inches in its
standard configuration,
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our XT-8 system takes up less bench top spacentizeny of our competitors’ systems, and its standatbesign allows it to be installed and
used without any required laboratory modifications.

We believe that our XT-8 system and related diatin¢ssts offer reference laboratories and hosptteg following benefits:

Versatile Platform for a Broad Test Menu Our XT-8 system has broad application across a eumbareas in molecular
diagnostic testing. In addition to our FDA-cleafggstic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, Warfarin Sendiyiviest, Thrombophilia Risk
Test and Respiratory Viral Panel, we have develdpedHCV genotyping tests, a 3A4/3A5 genotyping tasd a 2C19 genotyping
test, each of which is available for research udg. d.aboratories using our system are able tothertests we offer without any
additional capital investment or operator training.

Ease of Use. Our XT-8 system eliminates the need to use comiplExumentation to generate test results, minimmeasual
processing steps and streamlines data analysisngnadolecular diagnostic testing available to aaorspectrum of laboratories
without the need for highly skilled technicians. &sesult, our XT-8 system provides national refeeslaboratories with the ability
to perform our menu of molecular diagnostic test®ss all of their locations. Our XT-8 system alsquires minimal maintenance.

Accuracy and Reliability. ~ Our XT-8 system provides accurate and reliabndéecular diagnostic test results. We have
demonstrated 100% accuracy in clinical studies @megbto DNA sequencing and other standards in geti€CFibrosis Genotyping
Test, our Warfarin Sensitivity Test and our Thromibitia Risk Test. Our XT-8 system limits technicieontact with a patient
sample, thereby reducing contamination risk. I gisovides clear reports, minimizing the risk ofitan error and increasing the
repeatability of test results.

Enhanced Laboratory Work Flov.  Our unique platform allows for random access, erdhility to initiate any of our tests while
any of our other tests are in progress, for updtindependent test cartridges, resulting in a igbhvenient and flexible workflow.
In addition, our proprietary electrochemical detattechnology streamlines the sample preparationgss and eliminates the need
for the additional washing steps required by sotheradetection methods, such as optical or flu@essdetection. Laboratories
using our XT-8 system can expect to obtain testltesvithin approximately 30 minutes of receiptioé amplified DNA sample,
generally resulting in a total turnaround time efveeen four and six hours.

Multiplex Capability.  Our XT-8 system can detect up to 72 separammdikers in a single test cartridge. This allovi®iatories
to run multiple tests or panels on an individudleye sample in a one-step detection process. ddpability reduces the time
required for a laboratory to perform a diagnostialgsis that involves multiple genetic markersrdectious disease pathogens,
which otherwise would require the laboratory to mltiple, separate molecular diagnostic tests.

Prior to performing a test on our XT-8 instrumentaboratory technician takes isolated DNA fromph&ent sample and performs an
automated nucleic acid extraction and amplificatep. In some cases, the technician also perfamrostine enzymatic treatment before
adding our proprietary signal probes and trangfgriine solution into the sample compartment intest cartridge. The technician enters sal
identification and reagent information into our XTsystem using the supplied bar code wand or aceesdkeyboard and inserts the test
cartridge into an open slot on the analyzer. Thbaard computer automatically assimilates inpubiimfation and test cartridge information
from the memory chip on the test cartridge andatas the specified test protocol. The testing @seqenerally takes between four and six
hours to complete, and in most cases the testtsesan be viewed on the built-in touch screen noor@pproximately 30 minutes after the
insertion of test cartridges into the instrumerdsflresults can also be printed out or reportesltiir the laboratory’s computer information

system.

The key features of our XT-8 system include:
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Key Features Characteristics

Fast Turnaround Approximately 30 minutes to regolin amplified DNA sample with minimal techniciéime
needed

Accurate Results Our Cystic Fibrosis GenotypingtTeur Warfarin Sensitivity Test and our ThrombiéiptRisk
Test demonstrated 100% accuracy in clinical studiespared to DNA sequencing and other
standards

Ease of Use Intuitive touch-screen interface dedraeports

Small Footprint Approximately 16 inches in widthdadepth in its standard configuration

Random Access Each of up to 24 test cartridgs st be accessed independently

Minimal Maintenance No routine maintenance orhralion required

Multiplex Capability Detects up to 72 distinct arkers in a single sample

Our XT-8 Test Menu

We have developed eight tests for use with our XSlys@em, four of which have receiviedvitro diagnostic, or IVD, clearance from the
FDA and four of which are available for research asly (RUO). The majority of our revenues are vktifrom the sale of consumables
(reagents and test cartridges) based on our ptaprieSensottechnology. For the fiscal years ended Decembe2@®13 , 2012 and 2011 ,
consumables sales represented 92%, 96% and 886 tuftal revenues, respectively.

Our In Vitro Diagnostic (IVD) Test Menu

Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test. Our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test is a midtipgenotyping test that detects a panel of mutatio
associated with cystic fibrosis based on guidelmdsished by the American College of Medical Gaseand the American College of
Obstetricians and Gynecologists for screening aftasbuples contemplating pregnancy. Our Cystiadsls Genotyping Test demonstrated
100% accuracy in clinical studies as compared t&\BBquencing and other standards and deliverstsasithin 30 minutes of receipt of the
amplified DNA sample. Test results are summarirean easy-to-interpret report that includes a sumrftarrier” or “non-carrier”
determination as well as individual carrier stdturseach of the 23 recommended markers. Our Cifhimsis Genotyping Test received FDA
clearance in July 2009.

Our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test addresses &eh#nat was estimated in 2011 at over $70 milliothe United States alone. More
than 10 million Americans are carriers of one matabf the cystic fibrosis gene. The American Cg#leof Obstetricians and Gynecologists
suggests that all couples who are considering bawvichild, or those who are expecting a child, ghbave genetic carrier testing for cystic
fibrosis. Much of current cystic fibrosis testirggderformed by national reference laboratories.

Warfarin Sensitivity Test. Our Warfarin Sensitivity Test is a multiplexgsmacogenetic test for the detection of three genwdrkers
that are known to play a critical role in the metém of, and sensitivity to, warfarin. Warfarirffered under the brand name Coumadin, is the
most widely prescribed oral anticoagulant in Naktherica and Europe and is used to prevent heatletf strokes and blood clots in veins,
arteries and lungs. Through detection of an indials sensitivity to warfarin, doctors are bettbleato accurately and efficiently determine the
appropriate warfarin dosage level on an indivicagtient basis. Our Warfarin Sensitivity Test dentiated 100% accuracy in clinical studies
compared to DNA sequencing and other standardsl@lingers results within 30 minutes of receipt of #implified DNA sample. Our Warfarin
Sensitivity Test received FDA clearance in July 200

Thrombophilia Risk Test. Our Thrombophilia Risk Test is a multiplex téstthe detection of four common inherited genetk
factors of thrombophilia: Factor V Leiden, Factbptothrombin and two genetic markers in the methgtetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR)
gene. Thrombophilia is a condition where a persbiosd clots easily or excessively placing thermrisk of developing clots. Thrombophilia is
a particular concern for high risk patients, indhgdpatients who are pregnant or undergoing cedaigeries. Our Thrombophilia Risk Test
demonstrated 100% accuracy in clinical studies @meghto DNA sequencing and other standards andedgliesults within 30 minutes of
receipt of the amplified DNA sample. Our ThrombdjhRisk Test received FDA clearance in April 2010.

Thrombophilia is one of the most common types obblcoagulation disorders affecting 1 in 1,000vidlials. We believe the U.S.
market is approximately $55 million based on stassprovided by Kalorama Information 2009, a maresearch firm.
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Respiratory Viral Panel (RVP). Our Respiratory Viral Panel is a multiplex testthe detection of 14 viruses, including inflaarA
(HIN1 and seasonal), influenza B, respiratory stiatyirus (RSV) and numerous other upper respisatiruses. Our Respiratory Viral Panel
received FDA clearance in September 2012.

Respiratory pathogens are a major source of illaadscan lead to hospitalizations and death. Adegrib the Centers for Disease
Control, or CDC, each year in the United Statesawarage, 5% to 20% of the population gets tharidi more than 200,000 people are
hospitalized from flu-related complications. In #gioh, over a period of 30 years (1976-2006), eatas of flu-associated deaths in the United
States ranged from a low of approximately 3,008 togh of approximately 49,000. RSV is the most own cause of bronchitis and
pneumonia in infants and young children, with ud2%,000 children hospitalized annually in the BdiStates. One of the challenges faced b
the physician assessing a patient with a respirditoess is determining the underlying cause s én effective treatment plan can be
determined.

Our Research Use Only (RUO) Test Menu

Hepatitis C Virus Genotyping (HCVQ) Tests Our HCV Genotyping Test and our HCVg DirectTesich of which is available for
research use only, are multiplex tests for thedtiete and typing/subtyping of HCV 1a, 1b, 2a/c, 2pb4, 5 and 6.

3A4/3A5 Genotyping Test (3A4/3A5).0ur 3A4/3A5 Genotyping Test, which is available fesearch use only, is a multiplex test
designed for the detection and genotyping of thH&, *2, *3, *12, and *17 alleles of the CYP450 3Adne locus, and the *1D, *2, *3, *3B, *6,
*7, *8, and *9 alleles of the CYP450 3A5 gene lacus

2C19 Genotyping Test (2C19).Our 2C19 Genotyping Test, which is availabler&search use only, is a multiplex test for theedéon
and genotyping of the *2, *3, *4, *5, *6, *7, *8,9¢ *10, *13 and *17 alleles of the cytochrome P46¥P450) 2C19 gene locus.

Our Products in Development

Our NexGen System

We are highly focused on developing our NexGenesggb provide a complete sample-to-answer soldGoour customers. The
NexGen system is being designed to retain all tistotner benefits of our >-8 system, while also integrating automated nuaeid extractio
and amplification processes. These features viitlinhte the need for time consuming and complexpgdampreparation steps and allow
technicians to place a raw or minimally preparetieph sample directly into our test cartridge. Widve this advancement will make our
eSensoftechnology attractive to the broad range of instits that currently lack the technical or econonesources to perform molecular
diagnostic testing. We believe our NexGen systelhexpand our target user base from approximatg@@ to approximately 5,000 or more
potential laboratories and hospitals in the UnBégkes alone. We currently expect to complete #veldpment of our NexGen system in the
middle of 2014, initiate the European launch ofsiistem in late 2014, and launch the system itJtiiteed States in the second half of 2015.
We believe our approach to a sample-to-answermsysi# achieve benefits over many other competitiveltiplex systems, including an
ability to perform complex multiplex tests in a hithroughput, random access, efficient and costéffe manner.

Our Initial NexGen Test Menu

We are currently developing six infectious disei@se panels for our NexGen system. We select fiessiatroduction on our NexGen
system based upon what we believe are clinicalgvent targets which address unmet market needsaré/eurrently developing or designing
the following diagnostic tests for our NexGen syste

Respiratory Viral Panel (RVP) As noted above, respiratory pathogens are a rsajmce of iliness and can lead to hospitalizations
and death. According to the Centers for DiseasdrGipeach year in the United States, on averayetd20% of the population gets the flu
more than 200,000 people are hospitalized fromdlated complications. In addition, over a perié@® years (1976-2006), estimates of flu-
associated deaths in the United States rangeddrionmw of approximately 3,000 to a high of approxieta 49,000. RSV is the most common
cause of bronchitis and pneumonia in infants anthgahildren, with up to 125,000 children hospitatl annually in the United States. One of
the challenges faced by the physician assessiagjenpwith a respiratory illness is determining tmderlying cause so that an effective
treatment plan can be determined. We believe tieagiobal market for respiratory viral testing theg will initially target for our NexGen
system is approximately $150 million.

Sepsis PanelsThecurrent documented incidence of sepsis worldwide8amillion cases annually; however, we believs figure
reflects low rates of recognition and diagnosisc@xding to theAgency for Healthcare Research and

7
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Quality, there were 1.6 million inpatient staydtie U.S. alone in 2009 with a primary or secondhagnosis of septicemia, a serious, life-
threatening infection that gets worse very quickdyl may arise from infections throughout the béilg. are developing blood stream infection
panels for the earlier detection of specific baatand resistance markers within patients with #lsweam infections. These panels include
gram positive and gram negative bacteria and asguatresistance markers. We believe that the globaket for the sepsis gram positive and
gram negative tests that we will initially target bur NexGen system is approximately $250 million.

Gastrointestinal Infection (Gl) PanelAccording to the Agency for Healthcare Research@udlity, there were nearly 3.7 million
U.S. emergency department visits in 2010 for unkmgastrointestinal symptoms of bacterial or virathmgens resulting in 1.3 million
hospitalizations. In 2010, inpatient costs attréilé to patients suffering from gastrointestin&ations cost the healthcare system nearly $1.¢
billion. One of the challenges faced by physiciassessing a patient with symptoms of gastrointgstifection is determining the underlying
cause. We believe that the global market for gag@stinal infection testing that we will initialiiarget for our NexGen system is approxime
$300 million.

HCV Genotyping Test According to the Centers for Disease Control, H@féction is the most common chronic blood-borne
infection in the United States, with over 3.0 noiflipeople considered chronically infected. Accaydimthe World Health Organization, it is
estimated that approximately 150 million people@monically infected with HCV globally and at risk developing liver cirrhosis and/or liver
cancer, and more than 350,000 people die from H&&tad liver diseases each year. An article pubdish the Annals of Internal Medicine
found that, in the United States, HCV is citedlas¢ause of death more than HIV. Based on themuineatment guidelines for HCV, a
patient’s genotype is a component of selectingotioper treatment strategy as well as a predicttinefikelihood of treatment success. We
believe that the global market for HCV genotypditgsthat we will initially target for our NexGerystem is approximately $100 million.

Central Nervous System (CNS) Infection PaneAccording to the CDC, over 1.2 million cases atterial meningitis are estimated
occur worldwide each year. The incidence and €afsdity rates of central nervous system infectigasy by region, country, pathogen, and
group. The diagnosis of meningitis and encephaliis be challenging because the underlying causbeafectious, post-infectious or
noninfectious. According to the Infectious Dise&seiety of America, as many as 62% of patients eitbephalitis remain undiagnosed. We
believe the global market for central nervous sysiEfection testing that we will initially targedf our NexGen system is approximately $100
million.

Our Technology
Our XT-8 eSensof Technology

Our proprietary eSens&technology is based on the principles of competilNA hybridization and electrochemical detectibhA
naturally forms a double-stranded structure, wabhestrand binding with high affinity, or hybridigj, only to a complementary strand. Our
technology takes advantage of this highly spedificling by first creating two types of single-stiad DNA, the capture probe and the signal
probe. The capture probe and signal probe are@aunplementary to a different segment of the talj¢f, or biomarker, that is the focus of
the particular diagnostic test. Using our proprigtachnology and processes, we attach our captolees to a proprietary monolayer on the
surface of a gold electrode within our proprietAily8 test cartridge. We separately attach ferrocame)ectrochemically active organometz
compound label, to our signal probes.

Before placing the sample into our XT-8 test cdge, the technician mixes the amplified DNA sampilh our signal probe. If the target
biomarker is present in the prepared patient sgraptegment of the biomarker DNA will hybridize v solution containing our signal probe.
This solution is then run past an electrode, agamsch our capture probes have been immobilizée ds-yet unbound segment of the target
biomarker binds to our capture probe, creatinggeteDNA, signal probe, capture probe complex atdtirface of the electrode. This complex
produces an electrochemical signal analyzed aedargted by our system. Our XT-8 test cartridgesetuly have 72 distinct electrodes, each
of which can be configured to detect a differengéh biomarker, enabling highly multiplexed testing

Our eSensoftechnology is highly specific for the target bioker, and is not based on optical or fluorescerdatitn. As a result, our
diagnostic tests are less prone to sample contaigninask and do not require many of the time-canswg washing and preparation steps
required by competing technologies. The only sarppiparation step required before using our XTs8 ¢artridges is a polymerase chain
reaction, or PCR, amplification, which involves difyjing, or generating billions of copies of, thergjet DNA molecules, followed by transfer
of the sample to our test cartridge and insertiothe test cartridge into any open slot in our XEy&tem. In some tests, amplified DNA is
subject to an additional enzymatic treatment talpoe a single-stranded-DNA.
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Our XT-8 Test Cartridges Our XT-8 test cartridges are self-containedicey specifically programmed and configured foneg
diagnostic test. Each test cartridge includes gpfamompartment and a plastic cover that formshkaitlization chamber. The test cartridge is
fitted with a diaphragm pump and valves that caeithe hybridization solution, including the sigpebe and prepared patient sample, when
inserted into the XT-8 system. The test cartridge ancludes a printed circuit board chip consiptiri an array of 72 gold-plated working
electrodes, a silver/silver chloride reference tebete, and two gold-plated auxiliary electrodescliEalectrode is customized with a proprietary
monolayer that immobilizes the DNA capture probmsciic for each target of a test panel. The tasfricge also contains an electrically
erasable, programmable read-only memory compohanstores information related to the cartridgehsas an assay identifier, cartridge lot
number and expiration date.

Our XT-8 Workstation.  Our XT-8 system is a multiplex workstation thas a modular design consisting of an integraiadh screen
workstation and up to three analyzers. Each anab@etains eight modules into which individual teattridges are placed. The test cartridge
slots operate independently of each other allowingo 24 independent test cartridges to be loatledatime, with the remaining slots
available for use at any future time while the egsis running. Each slot contains a test cartricigeector, a precisiocentrolled heater, an ¢
pump and electronics. The air pumps drive the digain pump and valve system in the test cartridgmjreating fluid contact between the
system and the cartridge. The pneumatic pumpinglesaecirculation of the hybridization solutiofoaing the target DNA and the signal
probes to efficiently hybridize with the complemeayt capture probes on the electrodes. The diaphpagnp in the test cartridge is connected
to a pneumatic source from the XT-8 system andigesvwunidirectional pumping of the hybridizationdtoire through the cartridge during
hybridization.

The touch screen workstation controls each analyrevides power and analyzes and stores dataniaahs can load patient
identification numbers and reagent lot codes bggittie included bar code scanner, the touch seneeploading a text file from a USB
memory stick.

Advantages of Our eSens® Electrochemical Signal Detection

We believe our proprietary electrochemical sigretedtion technology has several advantages over sifjnal detection platforms,
including:

« Robust Signal. Our capture probes are highly target specific, ceduthe binding of non-target DNA and, therebygé&dy
eliminating interference from other components patient’'s sample, such as blood, saliva or ui@iilarly, constituents of blood
that would normally interfere with fluorescenceedgion, such as hemoglobin or bilirubin, have rfeafon the processed electro
signals produced by our eSenétechnology. We believe this robust functionalitgifisates the development of integrated
amplification and sample-to-answer systems, suaduadlexGen system, for blood and other samplestype

« High Sensitivity and Accuracy Our eSensdttechnology is highly sensitive in the detectiomatleic acids. Each electrode can
routinely detect approximately one nanomolar ajéaDNA, and a sensitivity of 10 picomolar of tariNA has been achieved.
Such concentrations are readily produced from pasiamples using several commercially-validatedldicgtion technologies such
as PCR. Our eSensbtechnology has demonstrated 100% accuracy in osticCibrosis Genotyping Test, our Warfarin Sewmititi
Test and our Thrombophilia Risk Test in clinicaldies compared to DNA sequencing and other stasdard

e Streamlined Sample Preparatiol Our technology directly detects the target Dd&juence with highly specific signal probes an
electrode-bound capture probes. As a result, atiseamples do not require many of the washing s$igysally required to remove
unbound target DNA and labels. We believe thateensof technology can minimize sample preparation requires We have
already demonstrated direct PCR-based genotypimg dliluted whole blood without the need for DNA gdenpreparation or
washing out of interfering substances.

- Efficient Multiplexing. Each of the 72 electrodes in our XT-8 test car&ridgnfiguration acts independently of the othes an
produces a comprehensive and informative signalekample, a single eSensalectrode can measure the presence or absence
control DNA, which we use for quality control, asidnultaneously indicate whether a patient sampiegaios zero, one or two
copies of a particular sequence, correspondinguimmnt, heterozygous or wild type genotypes. Assalteour eSensditechnology
eliminates the need for redundancy and the avegagfimultiple measurements commonly required by peting technologies.

«  Small Footprint with Low Maintenance Our eSensdttechnology enables users to perform hybridizatinh detection in a low-
cost system with relatively few moving parts. Imgast, conventional microarray systems requir@ticbnstrumentation to
automate multistage fluidic handling processesaAssult, these systems are often bulky, complicatel expensive and require
frequent calibration and maintenance. Our XT-8aystfor
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example, requires no calibration and virtually n@imtenance and is self-contained in a small footpd approximately 16-by-16
inches in its standard configuration.

e Cost-Effective Development. The use of electrochemical technology allows our8<3ystem to leverage third-party advances in
microelectronics such as miniaturization and martufing efficiencies. Many electronic componentsoasated with our core
processes are produced in large volumes at lowatwksize for use in numerous fields, includingendtive, aerospace, informat
technology and medical devices. By avoiding theafsmptical or fluorescent detection, we believe e8ensof technology can be
applied at low cost to numerous testing environsénaddition to our current target markets, inglgdield testing and point-of-
care applications.

«  Straightforward Development of New Tests.Our eSensottechnology is highly flexible, and we believe thaimdesign
consideration in developing new diagnostic test®fo instrument systems is our ability to accexs synthesize the appropriate
capture and signal probes. Our versatile platfdtawa us to add new diagnostic tests to our meno add new content to existing
diagnostic tests without modifying the system glatf. This ease of assay development and our viergdditforms will allow us to
focus our research and development resources alogévg new commercial test products.

«  Functionality Outside of Molecular Diagnostics. Our eSensoftechnology has broad applicability to detect a eaofy
biomolecules. Independently, and through collaldegaesearch with university and industry partnershave demonstrated
eSensof detection of proteins and small molecule drugss Weisatility opens the possibility of developinixed analyte sensors,
such as tests that can detect antibodies to arcedthogen plus the pathogen itself, or geneti@tians in drug metabolism plus
monitoring of the drug level itself.

License Agreements

California Institute of Technology. We have a license from the California Institot& echnology to patents and patent applications
related to nucleic acid-mediated electron transfehnology. We license certain of these patentsmexclusive basis. The license grant is
worldwide, fully paid-up, and extends until thetlafthe underlying patents expires. The agreeriseaiso conditioned on us paying all
associated patent maintenance and prosecutionHgkesr party may terminate the license agreempaha material breach by the other party,
subject to a cure period. We may terminate thenieeagreement for any reason upon 60 days writigoen

Harvard University. We have licensed from Harvard University, ontad, exclusive worldwide rights to technologyatéig to self-
assembling monolayers, or SAMs, and nucleic acidcés and methods. The license agreement providenfupfront payment which has
been paid, a maintenance/minimum annual fee wkicheditable against royalties, royalties on nktssaf products incorporating the
underlying patents, payment of a fraction of sudiging upfront and milestone fees and royaltiespaytnent of all prosecution costs and
maintenance fees. The license extends for thefifbe underlying patents. The license agreemeetisinable by Harvard upon certain eve
including our insolvency or bankruptcy, our brea€hhe license agreement or our underreportingnolegpayment of royalties, some of which
are subject to a cure period. If Harvard terminthtedicense agreement, Harvard may, in its dismrehave a right in all sublicenses assigned
for its benefit. We may terminate the license agrext for any reason upon 90 daggvance written notice. Harvard retains certaihtaginde
this license.

University of Michigan and Hospital for Sick Childen. In March 2006, we acquired a non-exclusivengzefrom the University of
Michigan, or UM, and HSC Research and Developménited Partnership, or HSC, to utilize the cystiwdsis genes. We made a one-time
upfront payment and are subject to escalating dricease maintenance fees against which runnigglties are credited. The agreement
remains in effect until the last to expire of thedarlying patents. HSC/UM may terminate the agregrapon a material breach which is not
cured within 60 days, and we may terminate theeagent upon 90 days written notice.

Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. We have a non-exclusive license from Roche Bldbr Systems, Inc. to utilize a form of chemically
modified thermostable DNA polymerase that is a congmt in some of our commercial products. We paidextime upfront fee for this
license and are obligated to pay quarterly runngyglties on net sales. The agreement remaindectaintil the last to expire of the underlyi
patents. Either party may terminate the licenseagent upon a material breach of the license agneelny the other party, subject to a cure
period, or upon the filing for bankruptcy of théet party.

Caliper Life Sciences Inc. In March 2012, we entered into a license agesgtiwith Caliper Life Sciences Inc., or Caliperrguant to
which we obtained a non-exclusive license undeip€ds microfluidics patent portfolio. In considéian for the license, we agreed to pay
Caliper certain up-front and sales-based milespayenents, as well as a royalty on the sale of iceptaducts. In addition, we obtained an
unconditional release from any and all claims bagszh any alleged infringement of the licensed mtsterior to the effective date of the
agreement.
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Advanced Liquid Logic, Inc. In July 2012, we entered into a development collatian and license agreement with Advanced Liquid
Logic, Inc., or ALL, which was acquired by llluminboc. in July 2013. Under the terms of the agregmge established a collaborative
program to develop in-vitro diagnostic productsoimqorating ALL’s proprietary electro-wetting techagy in conjunction with our
electrochemical detection. We paid ALL an upfroo¢hse payment of $250,000 and agreed to pay $f,#50,000 in potential additional
milestone payments. Pursuant to the agreemenpattties agreed to enter into a supply agreemeatinglto the manufacture and supply of
certain ALL components. The agreement also provilaswe would, upon the occurrence of certain &ydye obligated to pay to ALL a
royalty consisting of a low- to mid-single digitneent of net sales of designated licensed produgitaining ALL components which we
manufacture or are otherwise not manufactured apgliged by ALL.

Market Opportunity

We believe the global market for molecular diagizssis currently approximately $5.0 billion and Makperience a growth rate of
approximately 15% per year over the course of the several years based on research publishedabinemarket research firms. Although
we believe the global market for molecular diagitsss approximately $5.0 billion, our XT-8 techagy is suited to address a subset of this
market that approximated $900 million in 2013. &r8 instrument and related reagents are curremtly sold in the U.S. market. We intend
to utilize a direct sales and technical suppomnt@acertain key European countries, which we ekpéitbe augmented by marketing partners
and distributors in other strategic areas as warmcnternationally. We expect to introduce our &$ystem to key opinion leader sites in
certain countries as we look to establish our teldgy and certain tests within these markets ip@ration for the international launch of our
NexGen instrument syste.

We believe that our NexGen system would, when cetad| expand the global market opportunity forteehnology to approximately
$2.3 billion. We currently expect to complete tlevelopment of our NexGen system in the middle dffnitiate the European launch of the
system in late 2014, and launch the system in thited States in the second half of 2015. We belikaethe global market for the infectious
disease tests that we will initially target for dlexGen system is approximately $1.6 billion, coisipg approximately $250 million for
respiratory tests, approximately $400 million fepsis tests, approximately $800 million for gastrestinal infection tests, approximately $10C
million for HCV genotyping tests, and approximat8i40 million for central nervous system infecttests. We also believe that the aggregat:
global market for the tests that we will consideveloping in the near term and for which our tedbgyis suited, including fungal,
pneumonia, and other tests, is an additional appabely $500 million. We anticipate that the marf@tthe molecular diagnostic tests on
which our NexGen system will focus will increaserbgre than 20% per year over the next several ybany factors are driving growth of
this market, including increased demand for infaddidisease diagnostics panels, the expansiometigeesting for disease predisposition,
advances in personalized medicine, such as tlugitajlof therapies to those individuals most likelyrespond .

Research and Development

As of December 31, 2013 , we had 68 employees éutar research and development. Our research aetbgment expenditures were
approximately $22.1 million , $13.5 million and $8nillion for the years ended December 31, 201&122and 2011 , respectively. The
increase in research and development expense2fbdéhto 2013 was primarily due to expenses incurr@nnection with our NexGen
system and assay development programs, and towapar product reliability and enhance our prodaftectiveness in software development
and product technical support for our XT-8 system.

In addition to developing our NexGen system andhexiing our diagnostic test menus, our researctdanedlopment team is focused on
the following initiatives:

« Improving the Clinical and Practical Utility of ourTests. An important role of our research and developinteam is to help
establish the clinical utility and value of our mollar diagnostic tests. We have and intend tomoato partner with academic and
reference laboratories to perform validation amcicl studies on our tests. Key aspects of owreffare aimed at improving
workflow in the laboratory setting, positively coarng our tests to historical or “gold standardstseand demonstrating that our
tests can help improve patient care and lower distimand medical treatment costs. We intend tdiglukhe results from these
clinical studies in peer-reviewed or trade journalgmit them to regulatory bodies and present theimdustry conferences in
support of our commercialization strategy.

» Developing New Test Capabilities. We may develop capabilities for utilizing our eSarf&echnology in protein and small
molecule detection, through research collaboratwratherwise. These capabilities may enhancewuréd menu offerings or
provide us with out-licensing opportunities. We nadso explore direct gene expression analysis appities through collaboration
with oncology specialists in industry and acadermfese opportunities
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may allow us to develop quantitative tests thatcarapetitive with the “gold standard” real-time P@Rts but that are simple to
perform in a multiplex manner.

Manufacturing

We manufacture our proprietary XT-8 test cartridged ancillary reagents at our headquarters irsGadl, California. We perform
reagent formulation, test cartridge manufacturing packaging of final components and test cartddgeccordance with applicable guideli
for medical device manufacturing. We currently kas approximately 53,000 square foot office andufecturing facility which we believe
will be adequate to meet our manufacturing needthinforeseeable future. We outsource manufagwirour XT-8 system to Leica
Biosystems Melbourne Pty Ltd., or Leica. We aldg om third party suppliers, including in certaimstances sole source suppliers, for
oligonucleotide and other raw materials used inpyoducts and much of the disposable componentingplhd sub-component assembly for
our test cartridges.

We have implemented a quality management systeigrosbsto comply with FDA regulations and ISO stadagoverning diagnostic
medical device products. These regulations casefahtrol the design, manufacture, testing andassleof diagnostics products, as well as raw
material receipt and control. In 2012, our Carlstzalifornia facility obtained 1SO 13485 certificat. We also have controlled methods for
consistent manufacturing of our proprietary testriclges and reagents at our facilities. Our ketsourcing partners are generally 186xtified
to help assure a continual supply of high qualitgnponents.

We plan to continue to manufacture componentswieadetermine are highly proprietary or highly cusized, while outsourcing more
commodity-like components. We are likely to estsibiadditional outsourcing partnerships as we matwfa additional products.

Sales and Marketing

Our current sales and marketing strategy is to mplae installed base and utilization of our XTy8tem and consumables. Our XT-8
products are sold in the United States throughogigghically dispersed direct sales and technjpatialist service organization, which is
supported by a centralized team of product managetsnarketing, customer support, and technicgy@upersonnel.

Our sales representatives typically have experieanogolecular diagnostics and a network of labasatmntacts within their respective
territories. We utilize our representatives’ knodge along with market research databases to tangetjualify our customers. We execute a
variety of sales campaigns and strategies to rhediuying criteria of the different customer segtaave serve. To support our expanding
molecular test menu, growth in our customer baskoam launch plans for our NexGen system, we castio make investments in these
customer facing organizations.

We believe the XT8 system competes largely on the basis of imprpeztbrmance and reliability, ease of use and stlieachlaboraton
workflow, a high value test menu with multiplexingpabilities, and a superior return on investmenése and other advantages conferred by
our technology are enabling us to provide clinisiand researchers with superior molecular solutions sales cycle typically includes
customer evaluations and validations of our pragludpon successful validation, a customer may gdlgeacquire our XT-8 system and
consumables in the following ways:

« Reagent Rental: The reagent rental agreement requires a customanitent to purchase a minimum number of test iciydis
over the term of the agreement, and a portion®ttiarge for each cartridge is a usage fee foed@ment. Our reagent rental
agreements do not typically provide for any camtih rights by the customer.

e Capital Purchase: The XT-8 system is paid for upfront and in its egtf by the customer. Customers are also eligblecteive
structured pricing incentives if they enter intoggtional annual minimum cartridge commitment.

We intend to offer our molecular diagnostic produotEuropean and other international marketseérfature. We anticipate utilizing a
direct sales and technical support team in cek@jnEuropean countries, which we expect will beraeigted by marketing partners and
distributors in other strategic areas as we exjiaednationally. We also expect to introduce our-&$ystem to key opinion leader sites in
certain countries as we look to establish our teldgy and certain tests within these markets ip@ration for the international launch of our
NexGen instrument system, which we expect will oéodate 2014

Customers

In 2013, only Natural Molecular Testing Corporatior NMTC, represented more than 10% of our t@aénue. Although we did not
recognize any revenue from NMTC in the second ¢fa#f013, NMTC represented approximately 30% of
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our total revenues for the year ended Decembe2@li3. NMTC filed for bankruptcy in October 2013.2612, two customers, NMTC and
Companion Dx Reference Labs, LLC, accounted for@agmately 68% of our total revenue.

Placements are defined in terms of the number alfyaars sold to or placed with a customer, refferct direct correlation between the
reagent test revenue opportunity and the numbesbicartridges that can be analyzed at any ore #s of December 31, 2013, we had
placed 413 XT-8 analyzers at 173 unique custontes,sbr approximately 2.4 analyzers per customis dompares with 297 analyzer
placements at 135 unique customer sites, or appedrly 2.2 analyzers per customer, as of Decenhe2(®BL2 .

The increase in analyzers placed and related revgenerated in 2013 over the prior year is duatmerease in the number of new
customers buying our products and growth in the ehtonsumables to existing customers, despitectimeval of 50 analyzers from NMTC
during late 2013 as a result of NMTC'’s bankrupfiting.

Competition

We primarily face competition in the molecular diagtic testing markets with testing products arstesys developed by public and
private companies such as Cepheid, Siemens, Hologic Luminex Corporation, Nanosphere, Inc., @iV, Roche Diagnostics, a division
of F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd., bioMerieux (which emtly acquired Biofire Diagnostics, Inc.) and Abtidoblecular Diagnostics, a division of
Abbott Laboratories. Our diagnostic tests also fammapetition with laboratory developed tests, ofMisDdeveloped by national and regional
reference laboratories and hospitals. We beliegedtr XT-8 system competes largely on the basécofiracy and reliability, enhanced
laboratory workflow, multiplex capability, ease-afe and return on investment for customers.

Many of our competitors have substantially grefiteancial, technical, research and other resounoedlarger, more established
marketing, sales and distribution organizations tva do. Many of our competitors also offer brogoleduct lines and have greater brand
recognition than we do. Moreover, our existing aed/ competitors may make rapid technological dguakents that may result in our
technologies and products becoming obsolete b&fereecover the expenses incurred to develop themefore they generate significant
revenue.

Intellectual Property

To establish and protect our proprietary techn@egind products, we rely on a combination of oteria, copyrights, trademarks, and
trade secrets, as well as other intellectual ptgpéghts in our technology and business informatiOur intellectual property portfolio for our
core electrochemical technology was initially bthitough the combination of our acquisition of @leical Micro Sensors business from
Motorola and licensing patents from third parties|uding the California Institute of TechnologydaHarvard University.

We believe that our patent portfolio, which incladmproximately 130 owned and exclusively licende®l and foreign patents and over
25 pending applications, provides us with robustgxtion of our electrochemical detection technigjwlemical insulators and attachment
points on electrode surfaces and other technoloay tollectively, form the staple of our eSerf$platform. We continue to pursue the
issuance of new patents to protect our ongoingarekedevelopment and commercial activities, inicigdvith respect to our NexGen system
and related consumables. In general, patents htareneof at least 20 years from the applicaticindildate or earlier claimed priority date. A
majority of our issued and exclusively licensedepéd are scheduled to expire by 2021, with apprateiy one half of the patents expiring by
2018. Several of our pending applications haveptitential to mature into patents that may expitgvben 2028 and 2034. Our success def.
to a significant degree upon our ability to policEingement, derive licensing revenues and comtittudevelop proprietary products and
technologies without infringing the intellectuabperty rights of others.

We also rely in part on trade-secret protectionwfintellectual property. We attempt to protect tvade secrets by entering into
confidentiality agreements with third parties, eaygles and consultants. Our employees and consulitatt sign agreements requiring that
assign to us their interests in intellectual prtypesuch as patents and copyrights arising fronr therk for us. All employees sign an
agreement not to compete unfairly with us durirgjrtemployment and upon termination of their emplent through the misuse of
confidential information.

We also have filed for registration, or obtainegis&ation, in the U.S. and other countries for ksarsed with our products and
technology. Our trademarks registered in the Lh&ude eSensdtand GenMark .

Trademark protection continues in some countriega$dong as the mark is used and, in other castfor as long as it is registered.
Registrations generally are for fixed but renewabtens.
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Government Regulation

The design, development, manufacture, testing aledo$ our molecular diagnostic products are suhigecegulation by numerous
governmental authorities, principally the FDA, ammdresponding state and foreign regulatory agencies

Regulation by the FD#

In the United States, the Federal Food, Drug, amsht@tic Act, or FDCA, FDA regulations and othereed and state statutes and
regulations govern, among other things, medicalogeglesign and development, preclinical and cliniesting, premarket clearance or
approval, registration and listing, manufacturiladpeling, storage, advertising and promotion, satesdistribution, export and import, and
post-market surveillance. The FDA regulates thegesnanufacturing, servicing, sale and distributad medical devices, including molecular
diagnostic test kits and instrumentation systeragufe to comply with applicable U.S. requirememizy subject a company to a variety of
administrative or judicial sanctions, such as FAusal to approve pending applications, warninggtst product recalls, product seizures, tote
or partial suspension of production or distributiorunctions, fines, civil penalties and criminqabsecution.

Unless an exemption applies, each medical deviceigle to distribute commercially in the United ®stvill require marketing
authorization from the FDA prior to distributionh@& two primary types of FDA marketing authorizatrequired applicable to a device are
premarket naotification, also called 510(k) cleamrand premarket approval, also called PMA. The tfomarketing authorization required is
generally linked to the classification of the devidhe FDA classifies medical devices into onehoé¢ classes (Class I, 1l or Ill) based on the
degree of risk the FDA determines to be associatdda device and the level of regulatory contreéthed necessary to ensure the device's
safety and effectiveness. Devices requiring feveaitrols because they are deemed to pose lowearngsglaced in Class I. Class | devices are
deemed to pose the least risk and are subjectomgneral controls applicable to all devices, saghequirements for device labeling and
adherence to the FDA's current Good Manufacturiragctces, or cGMP, and Quality System Requiremerstseflected in its QSR. Class Il
devices are intermediate risk devices that aresstibp general controls and may also be subjespégial controls such as performance
standards, produdpecific guidance documents, special labeling requents, patient registries or postmarket survaitta Class Il devices a
high risk devices for which insufficient informati@xists to assure safety and effectiveness sthietyigh general or special controls. Class I
devices include life-sustaining, life-supportingimplantable devices, devices of substantial inguare in preventing impairment of human
health, or which present a potential, unreasonadieof illness or injury.

Most Class | devices and some Class Il devicesxempted by regulation from FDA’s premarket revieguirement and can be
commercialized without prior authorization from thBA. Some Class | devices that have not been smpted and most Class Il devices are
eligible for marketing through the 510(k) clearapcecess. By contrast, devices placed in Claggeltlerally require PMA or 510(k) de novo
clearance prior to commercial marketing. The PMégcess is the most stringent type of device margetjpplication required by FDA. We
commercialize the following Class Il molecular diagtic tests on our XT-8 system: the eSef¥darfarin Sensitivity Test, the Cystic Fibrosis
Genotyping Test, the Thrombophilia Risk Test arelRespiratory Viral Panel. U.S. market authorizattbthese tests was accomplished via
the 510(k) clearance process.

510(k) Clearance To obtain 510(k) clearance for a medical devaceapplicant must submit a premarket notificatimthe FDA
demonstrating that the device is “substantiallyiegjent” to a device legally marketed in the Unitettes that is not subject to PMA,
commonly known as the “predicate device.” A dev&substantially equivalent if, with respect to firedicate device, it has the same intende
use and has either (i) the same technological cteistics or (ii) different technological charatséics and the information submitted
demonstrates that the device is as safe and e#ezmsi a legally marketed device and does not difiifezent questions of safety or effectiveness
Demonstration of substantial equivalence may reqelinical data. Although completion of the 510(&Yyiew process is targeted for 90 days,
these reviews typically take longer (e.g., up tavidghths or more) due to stoppage of the FDA revalek to address requests for additional
information. Payment of a user fee is required#DA to initiate review of a 510(k) submission.

After a device has received 510(k) clearance &pexific intended use, any change or modificati@t significantly affects its safety or
effectiveness, such as a significant change imlésgyn, materials, method of manufacture or intdnde, may require a new 510(k) clearance
or PMA. The determination as to whether or not alification could significantly affect the devicesafety or effectiveness is initially left to
the manufacturer using available FDA guidance; harethe FDA may review this determination to eatéuthe regulatory status of the
modified product at any time and may require thewfiacturer to cease marketing and recall the mediifievice until 510(k) clearance or P!
is obtained. The manufacturer may also be subjesignificant regulatory fines or penalties.

Before submitting a medical device for 510(k) cteare, a series of studies (e.g., method compansenision, reproducibility,
interference and stability studies) must be coretlitd characterize the performance of the testddtition,
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clinical studies may be required to validate thesdgormance characteristics in a clinical settiagvall as to ensure that the intended users ca
perform the test successfully.

Although clinical investigations of most deviceg aubject to the investigational device exemptwriPE, requirements, clinical
investigations of molecular diagnostic tests, idatg our products and products under developmeatyenerally exempt from the IDE
requirements. Thus, clinical investigations by muted users for intended uses of our products gindianot require the FDA prior approva
provided the clinical evaluation testing is nondsive, does not require an invasive sampling praeethat presents a significant risk, does no
intentionally introduce energy into the subject &dot used as a diagnostic procedure withouticoafion by another medically established
test or procedure. In addition, products must lgr@griately labeled per FDA regulations to refldet intended use of the product (e.g., for
research use only or for investigational use oahd distribution controls must be established sugesthat such products are distributed for
those specified purposes.

PMA . PMA applications must be supported by valigstfic evidence, which typically requires extersperformance data, includi
technical, preclinical, clinical and stability data demonstrate the safety and effectivenesseoflivice. A PMA application must also include
a complete description of the device and its corepts) a detailed description of the methods, tasliand controls used to manufacture the
device, and the proposed labeling. Payment of efaeds required for FDA to initiate review of MR application.

During the PMA application review period, the FDAayrequest additional information or clarificatiohinformation provided in the
application. In addition, the FDA will conduct aepapproval inspection of the manufacturing facitityfacilities to ensure compliance with the
QSR, which requires manufacturers to follow destgsting, control, documentation and other quaggurance procedures.

Although FDA review of an initial PMA applicatios required by statute to take between six to tenth®) these reviews typically take
longer (e.g., up to 2 years) due to stoppage oFh& review clock to address requests for additiam@rmation. The FDA can delay, limit or
deny approval of a PMA application for many reasamduding:

e itis not demonstrated that there is reasonatdeirance that the device is safe or effectivenuhgeconditions of use prescribed,
recommended or suggested in the proposed labeling;

< the data from preclinical studies and clinicallsrimay be insufficient to support approval;

< the manufacturing process, methods, controfaailities used for the manufacture, processingkiay or installation of the device
do not meet applicable requirements.

If the FDA evaluations of both the PMA applicatiand the manufacturing facilities are favorable,FB&A will either issue an approval
letter or an approvable letter, which may containditions that must be met in order to secure fapgdroval of the PMA application. If the
FDA's evaluation of the PMA application or manufaing facilities is not favorable, the FDA will dgmapproval of the application or issue a
“not approvable” letter. A “not approvable” lettwill outline the deficiencies in the applicationcanvhere practical, will identify what is
necessary to make the application approvable. ThelRay also determine that additional studies (&l and/or clinical studies) are
necessary, in which case the PMA may be delayesefeeral months or years while these studies ardumed and the subsequent amendmel
to the PMA application is submitted. Once grantgghroval of the PMA application may be withdrawntbg FDA if compliance with post-
approval requirements, conditions of approval beotegulatory standards are not maintained orlenabare identified following initial
marketing.

Post-approval modifications to the manufacturingcpss, labeling, device specifications, materialdesign of a Class 11l device may
require approval of a PMA supplement. PMA suppletsieaquire submission of technical data to supipgotementation of the proposed
change to the Class Il device. Payment of a u=seid required for FDA to initiate review of a PMApplement.

Regulation after FDA Clearance or Approval Any devices we manufacture or distribute punsta clearance or approval by the F
are subject to pervasive and continuing reguldtipthe FDA and certain state agencies. We are medjtd adhere to applicable regulations
setting forth detailed GMP requirements, as sehforthe QSR, which includes testing, control dodumentation requirements. Non-
compliance with these standards can result in fiimpgnctions, civil penalties, recalls or seizuodproducts, total or partial suspension of
production, refusal of the government to grant klL0{earance or PMA of devices, withdrawal of mairkg approvals and criminal
prosecutions. We have designed and implementedtygagstem processes within our manufacturing fied in order to comply with FDA's
GMP requirements.

Because we are a medical device manufacturer, vet ateo comply with FDAS medical device reporting requirements wheneaneth
evidence that reasonably suggests that one ofrodupts may have caused or contributed to a death o
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serious injury. We must also report any incidenwhich our product has malfunctioned if that matftion would likely cause or contribute tc
death or serious injury if it were to recur.

Labeling, advertising, and promotional activities aubject to scrutiny by the FDA and, in certansumnstances, by the Federal Trade
Commission. Medical devices approved or clearethby*DA may not be promoted for unapproved or warelé uses, otherwise known as
“off-label” promotion. The FDA and other agenciesigely enforce the laws and regulations prohilgjtthe promotion of off-label uses, and a
company that is found to have improperly promottdabel uses may be subject to significant ligijlincluding substantial monetary
penalties and criminal prosecution. We have implaie quality system processes and advertising/ptiomad policies designed to comply
with these requirements.

Environmental Regulations  We are also subject to numerous federal, staddocal laws relating to such matters as safdiwgr
conditions, manufacturing practices, environmeptatection, fire hazard control and disposal ofdidaus or potentially hazardous substar
Some of these laws require us to obtain licens@&inits to conduct our operations. We have nunsepalicies and quality system procedure:
in place to ensure compliance with these laws andihimize the risk of occupational exposure todrdous materials. We do not expect the
operations of our products to produce significardrgities of hazardous or toxic waste or radiatiat would require the use of extraordinary
disposal practices. Although the costs to compljwhese applicable laws and regulations have @en lonaterial, we cannot predict the impac
on our business of new or amended laws or regakatio any changes in the way existing and futuss land regulations are interpreted or
enforced, nor can we ensure we will be able toinlitamaintain any required licenses or permits.

Export of Our Products  Medical devices that are legally marketed mthS. may be exported anywhere in the world withpoior
FDA notification or approval. Devices that have heen approved or cleared in the U.S. must follosvexport provisions of the FDCA.
Depending on which section of the FDCA we may ekpader, we may need to request an export pertidrler export certificate, or we may
need to submit a simple notification. Export cégéifes may be requested by foreign customers eigiorgovernments to provide proof of the
products’ status as regulated by the FDA. The ebqatificate is prepared by FDA and contains infation about a product’s regulatory or
marketing status in the United States.

Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988 The use of our products is also affected byGlaical Laboratory
Improvement Amendments of 1988, or CLIA, and reldederal and state regulations, which providaégulation of laboratory testing. Any
customers using our products for clinical use i tnited States will be regulated under CLIA, whisttablishes quality standards for all
laboratory testing to ensure the accuracy, reitgtahd timeliness of patient test results regaslief where the test was performed. In
particular, these regulations mandate that clifetabratories must be certified by the federal goresnt or a federally approved accreditation
agency, or must be located in a state that hasdeesmed exempt from CLIA requirements becauset#iie kas in effect laws that provide for
requirements equal to or more stringent than Cldduirements. Moreover, these laboratories must mesdity assurance, quality control and
personnel standards, and they must undergo profigitesting and inspections. The CLIA standarddiegdge to clinical laboratories are basec
on the complexity of the method of testing perfodnbg the laboratory, which range from “waived” tmdderate complexity” to “high
complexity.” We expect that most of our productd i categorized as “high complexity,” since mostlecular diagnostic tests are currently
FDA-cleared as CLIA “high complexity” devices.

Foreign Government Regulation We intend to market our products in Europeah@ther select international markets. The regwator
pre-market requirements for IVD devices vary fromaiatry to country. Some countries impose prodwntdards, packaging requirements,
labeling requirements and import restrictions ovicks. Each country has its own tariff regulatiacthgties and tax requirements. Failure to
comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirentsemay subject us to fines, suspension or withdrafiregulatory approvals, product
recalls, seizure of products, operating restrictiand criminal prosecution.

Third-Party Payor Reimbursements

Obtaining reimbursement approval for a health gaoeluct or service from a government or other tpiadty payor is a time consuming
and costly process that could require us to prosigeorting scientific, clinical and health economata for the use of our products to the
payor. We may not be able to provide data sufficiergain acceptance with respect to reimbursent/@n when a payor determines that a
product or service is eligible for reimbursemehg payor may impose coverage limitations that paeepayment for some uses that are
approved by the FDA or comparable authorities.dditon, there is a risk that full reimbursementynmat be available for certain products.
Moreover, eligibility for coverage does not imphat any product or service will be reimbursed Ircakes or at a rate that allows our custol
to make a profit or cover their costs. Initial otdrim reimbursements for products and servicessaflable, may also be insufficient to cover
costs and may not be made permanent.
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Successful sales of our products in the UnitedeStand other countries will likely depend on thailability of reimbursement from
third-party payors such as private insurance plaraaged care organizations, and Medicare and Miedi©ur customers have obtained
reimbursement for our Cystic Fibrosis GenotypingtTeur Thrombophilia Risk Test and our Respiratdinal Panel for the XT-8 system.
However, Medicare and Medicaid generally do nahtrirse providers who use our Warfarin Sensitivigg{T Outside of the United States,
health care reimbursement systems vary from couatepuntry, and to the extent we begin to sellmaducts outside the United States, we
may not be able to obtain adequate reimbursemewetrage, if any, for our products.

In addition, we may develop tests in the futurd tlnot relate to previously established currentedural terminology, or CPT, codes
and we may need to obtain new CPT codes in ordebttmin reimbursement. In January 2013, the Cdatdviedicare and Medicaid Services,
or CMS, implemented new molecular diagnostic CPdesoand retired the prior procedural codes usédltfor molecular testing. All
Medicare contractors subsequently issued pricingdme or all of the new molecular pathology codlesyever, reimbursement coverage
decisions and levels during 2013 varied signifisaamong these contractors. The disparate Mediengbursement coverage determinations
among Medicare contractors resulted in a Medicavemage disparity during 2013 for the performanfce particular diagnostic testing
procedure depending on the area of the United Statehich the procedure was performed. In Septe@20&3, CMS issued final “gap-fill”
pricing decisions for CPT codes, which has fornfetliiasis of related payments in 2014. The CPT cpalelsshed for 2014 did not include
rates for all codes and reduced the reimbursemmeatiats for certain products, including some of plrmacogenomics products. In addition,
certain Medicare Administrative Contractors (MA@sid private payors have recently issued draft agespolicies for pharmacogenomics
testing that, if implemented, would significantBstrict coverage for these tests.

Reimbursement by a third-party payor depends amaber of factors, including applicable coverageaqies and limitations, the level of
demand by health care providers and the payor&rghithation that the use of a new product is mebjicecessary and represents a clinical
advance. In addition, both government and non-govent third-party payors routinely limit reimbursent coverage and reimbursement
amounts for diagnostic tests. If our customers ocaireceive sufficient levels of reimbursement wiising our products, our ability to sell the
products could be significantly constrained.

Fraud and Abuse Regulations

We are subject to numerous federal and state healéhanti-fraud laws, including the federal antkkack statute and False Claims Act
that are intended to reduce waste, fraud and ahubke health care industry. These laws are broddsabject to evolving interpretations. They
prohibit many arrangements and practices thataav&ul in industries other than health care, inahgdéertain payments for consulting and o
personal services, some discounting arrangemémtgrovision of gifts and business courtesiesfuhg@shing of free supplies and services,
waivers of payments. In addition, many states henaeted or are considering laws that limit arrang@smbetween medical device
manufacturers and physicians and other healthpraréders and require significant public disclosaoacerning permitted arrangements. Tl
laws are vigorously enforced against medical demieaufacturers and have resulted in manufactueeisig significant fines and penalties ¢
being subject to stringent corrective action pland reporting obligations. We must operate ourriass within the requirements of these laws
and, if we were accused of violating them, we cdddorced to expend significant resources on itiyation, remediation and monetary
penalties.

Patient Protection and Affordable Care A

Our operations are affected by the federal PaResitection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, as rfiediby the Health Care and
Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, which we retie@ as the Health Care Act. The Health Care Agidses a 2.3% excise tax on sales of
medical devices by manufacturers. Taxable devivelsde any medical device defined in section 20tftihe FDCA and intended for use by
humans, with limited exclusions for devices pur@ualy the general public at retail for individuakuThere is no exemption for small
companies, and we began paying the tax in Jand§. Ihe Health Care Act also requires manufacturereport to the Department of He:
and Human Services detailed information about i rarrangements with physicians and teachingitelspThese reporting provisions
preempt state laws that require reporting of tmeesaformation, but not those that require repoftdifferent or additional information. Failu
to comply subjects the manufacturer to significgnil monetary penalties.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013 , we had 153 employeesraxapately 68 employees were involved in researah@evelopment, 30 in
operations, manufacturing and quality assurancé; 38les and marketing, and 20 in general andradtrative functions. Our success will
depend in large part upon our ability to attraat eetain employees. We face competition in thisarddrom other companies, research and
academic institutions, government entities andratinganizations. None of our employees are covbyed collective bargaining agreement.
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Corporate and Available Information
Our principal corporate offices are located at 5SB&4Place Court, Carlsbad, California.

We make available, free of charge, our annual tepor Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Qrext reports on Form 8-K and
any amendments to those reports, as soon as réaspnacticable after we electronically file suclaterial with, or furnish it to, the Securities
and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. We also ntedee tdocuments and certain public financial infdionaavailable on our website, whi
is www.genmarkdx.comOur SEC reports and other financial informatian be accessed through the investor relationsosestiour website.
Some of the information found on our website ispant of this or any other report we file with airiish to the SEC.

ltem 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should consider each of the following factasvall as the other information in this Annual Re@o evaluating our business and
our prospects. The risks and uncertainties desdriiidow are not the only ones we face. If any eftfiowing risks actually occur, our
business and financial results could be harmedh#t case, the trading price of our common stoaladdecline. You should also refer to the
other information set forth in this Annual Repangluding our financial statements and the relatedes.

We may not be successful in developing and comnadiming our NexGen system and its related test menu

We are designing our NexGen system to integratenaatied nucleic acid extraction and amplificatiothvaur eSensor® technology to
allow technicians to be able to place a raw or mally prepared patient samples directly into ost tartridges and obtain results with
significantly reduced or no technician hands-orcpssing time. Our current plan for achieving pesitiash flow and our future growth
projections relies upon the successful developrmedtcommercialization of our NexGen system antkitgted test menu. The development of
new or enhanced products is a complex and uncestatess requiring the accurate anticipation dfitetogical and market trends, as well as
precise technological execution. Although we hagaiicant experience with our proprietary eSenset@ctrochemical detection technology,
we have not thus far developed a complete, sampdeswer diagnostic instrument system. Successfoltypleting this complex project will
require the effective convergence of our eSensecBrtology with a number of additional unique tedbgies. We may not be successful in
completing the development of all of the curreiiended features and benefits of the system ece¥iely managing the complexities of the
development program.

In addition, the development of our NexGen systewolves multiple collaboration partners. For examjh July 2012 we entered into a
Development Collaboration and License Agreemertt witvanced Liquid Logic, Inc., or ALL, which wasaared by lllumina Inc. in July
2013. This agreement established a collaborativogram to develop in-vitro diagnostic products iqemating ALL’s proprietary electro-
wetting technology in conjunction with electrochealidetection. While we have signed agreements edtth of our collaboration partners, we
cannot completely control the resources our coliatian partners dedicate to our NexGen developipergram and their internal priorities
may change over time. If any of our corporate d¢mllators were to breach or terminate its agreemihtus or otherwise fail to conduct its
collaborative activities successfully, in a timelycost effective manner, or if we are otherwissuatessful in effectively managing the
complexities of our NexGen development program dineelopment or commercialization of our NexGertayscould be delayed or
terminated, or could cost significantly more thapected.

We believe we have made significant progress irdtheslopment of our NexGen system and continuertam highly focused on
developing a multiplex, sample-to-answer diagnaspiation of the highest quality for our customéased on development milestones
achieved during 2013 and our ongoing assessmelgvalopment progress relative to our developmeart,ple currently believe that the
completion of development of our NexGen system agltur in the middle of 2014. In addition, we cuthg expect to initiate the European
launch of our NexGen system in late 2014 and laghelsystem in the United States in the seconddi@015. However, our current estimates
are based on a number of assumptions which coolcep be inaccurate or we may experience unaat&iptechnical or regulatory challen
or other delays. If we are unsuccessful in compietievelopment of our NexGen system within our etgmbtime frame, or at all, our business
and future prospects may be adversely affected.

Our financial results will depend on the acceptanaad increased demand among reference laboratorfesspitals and the medical
community of our molecular diagnostic technology @products.
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Our future success depends on the belief by ogetaustomers and the medical community that odeoatar diagnostic products are a
reliable, medically-relevant, accurate and costaffe replacement for other molecular diagnogtitihg methods. Medical offices and many
hospitals outsource their molecular diagnostidrigsteeds to national or regional reference lalooied. Our business success depends on ou
ability to convince these target laboratories aosiitals to perform these tests internally with products if they have historically outsourced
their testing needs or have historically used naegular methods to perform such testing, or tda@ptheir current molecular testing
platforms with our system and its related testrirffgs.

Many other factors may affect the market acceptamcecommercial success of our molecular diagntsticnology and products,
including:

« the relative convenience, ease of use, acciaadytime-toresult of our diagnostic products over competingdpicts

e the introduction of new technologies and commetiroducts that may make our technologies andygtsd less attractive solution
for our target customers;

« the breadth of our menu of available diagnostitsteslative to our competito

e our success in training reference and hosp#akd laboratories in the proper use of our prag

« the acceptance in the medical community and keiopileaders of our molecular diagnostic technolagg product:
« the extent and success of our marketing and sHbatse anc

e general economic conditiol

Professional societies, government agencies, peagtanagement groups, private health/science féiondaand organizations involved
in healthcare issues may publish guidelines, recentfations or studies for the healthcare and pat@mmunities. Recommendations of
government agencies or these other organizatiogsefate to such matters as cost-effectivenessiaaadf related products. Organizations like
these have in the past made recommendations aboabmpetitors’ products, such as the need forflesgient screening tests, which could
result in reduced product sales. Moreover, thegpian by the investment community or stockholdees recommendations, guidelines or
studies will result in decreased use of our progloould adversely affect the prevailing marketefimr our common stock.

Our quarterly revenue and operating results may yasignificantly and we may experience constraintsiefficiencies caused by
unanticipated acceleration and deceleration of coster demand.

A significant portion of our current revenue isisted from our Respiratory Viral Panel, or RVP. Dexddor this product tends to
accelerate on a seasonal basis based upon inflaedzather respiratomelated outbreaks. These outbreaks are usually cooreentrated in tt
first and fourth quarters of the year. Flu seasoesnaturally unpredictable. Although epidemicfiwtend to happen each year, the timing,
severity and length of the season varies from @& {0 another. As a result, predicting associsédgs levels for our RVP test can be difficult,
and, depending on the severity of the flu seasenmnay not be able to accurately forecast sales thisrproduct.

Also, unanticipated changes in customer demandudoproducts may result in constraints or inefficies related to our manufacturing,
sales force, implementation resources and admatiigtrinfrastructure. These constraints or inefiigies may adversely affect us as a result o
delays, lost potential product sales or loss ofeniror potential customers due to their dissattsgfa. Similarly, over-expansion or investments
in anticipation of growth that does not materigliaedevelops more slowly than we expect, couldrhanr financial results and result in
overcapacity.

We face intense competition from established anavrampanies in the molecular diagnostics field aegipect to face increased competition
in the future.

The markets for our technologies and products fgyhcompetitive and we expect the intensity ofnpetition to increase. We compete
with many companies in the United States engagéukinlevelopment, commercialization and distributd similar products intended for
clinical molecular diagnostic applications. Categeiof our competitors include:

* companies developing and marketing multiplexenolar diagnostics systems, including: Luminex; d&ohere, Inc.; bioMerieux,
which recently acquired BioFire Diagnostics, Ir@iagen NV; Abbott Molecular Diagnostics, a divisiohAbbott Laboratories;
Hologic, Inc. and Cepheid;
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< large hospital-based laboratories and referéaim@ratories who provide large-scale testing usiivgr own proprietary testing
methods, including Quest Diagnostics Incorporatedi laaboratory Corporation of America; and

e companies that manufacture laboratory-based &8t analyzers, including: Cepheid; Siemens; Holdgc.; Qiagen NV;
bioMérieux; Roche Diagnostics, a division of F. fiefnn-La Roche Ltd.; and Abbott Molecular Diagnosti

Our diagnostic tests also face competition fronotatory developed tests, or LDTs, developed byonatiand regional reference
laboratories and hospitals. LDTs may not be sultfettie same regulatory requirements, includingeh@quiring clinical trials and FDA
review and clearance or approval that may appbutodiagnostic products.

We anticipate that we will face increased compmtiin the future as new companies enter the mavitktnew technologies and our
competitors improve their current products and exipheir menu of diagnostic tests. Many of our eatrcompetitors, as well as many of our
potential competitors, have greater name recognititore substantial intellectual property portfslitonger operating histories, significantly
greater resources to invest in new technologiese rmabstantial experience in new product developngeeater regulatory expertise, and more
extensive manufacturing and distribution capakditilt is critical to our success that we anti@petanges in technology and customer
requirements and successfully introduce enhancéd@ampetitive technology to meet our customers’ prsdpective customers’ needs on a
timely basis.

We may be unsuccessful in expanding sales of owdurct offerings outside the United States.

Assuming we receive the applicable regulatory apgisy we plan to offer our molecular diagnosticdurats in European and other
international markets in the near future. We intendtilize a direct sales and technical suppattén certain key European countries, which
we expect will be augmented by marketing partnedsdistributors in other strategic areas as we mx@ernationally. We expect to introdtc
our XT-8 system to key opinion leader sites ina@artountries as we look to establish our technokogd certain tests within these markets in
preparation for the international launch of our Bex instrument system, which we expect will ocouate 2014. If we are unable to establish
the infrastructure or recruit highly qualified pensel to support our direct sales and support ézgéon, or if we are unsuccessful in
developing awareness and acceptance of our prodndttechnology internationally, our future finalgerformance would be adversely
affected. Furthermore, any distributors we estabiigy not commit the necessary resources to markesell our products to meet our
expectations. If distributors do not perform addglysor in compliance with applicable laws and degjons in particular geographic areas, or if
we are unable to locate distributors in particgeographic areas, our ability to realize revenwsvijt based on sales outside the United State:
would be harmed.

In order to market our products in the Europearod@nd many other foreign jurisdictions, we, or distributors or partners, must
obtain separate regulatory approvals and comply mitmerous and varying regulatory requirementsrdigg safety and efficacy and
governing, among other things, clinical studies emchmercial sales and distribution of our produ€te approval procedure varies among
countries and can involve additional testing. Tégutatory approval process outside the United Stai@y include all of the risks associated
with obtaining FDA approval, as well as additioriaks. In addition, in many countries outside thateld States, a product must be approved
for reimbursement before the product can be apjgréaesale in that country. We may not obtain appf® from regulatory authorities outside
the United States on a timely basis, if at all,alhtould harm our ability to expand into markettsale the United States.

The regulatory clearance or approval process forteén products is expensive, time consuming and ent&in, and the failure to obtain and
maintain required clearances or approvals could geat us from commercializing our products.

We are investing significantly in the research dadelopment of our NexGen instrument and its rdlatelecular diagnostic tests to
expand our future product offerings. Our molecdliagnostic products may be classified as Class@lass Il medical devices which will
require 510(k) clearance or pre-market approvahley=DA prior to their marketing for commercial usehe United States. For international
commercialization, the classification of, and tegulatory pre-market requirements for, our molecdiagnostic products varies from country
to country. There are a number of potential risgsoaiated with the regulatory review processestomproducts in development. For example,
regulatory authorities may require that we condulttitional studies that could impact the cost assed with product development and could
potentially delay commercial launch of the prodiictaddition, we may be unsuccessful in obtainigutatory clearance for all of our desired
intended uses for our products or product approvalearance within certain jurisdictions.

The regulatory environment is constantly evolviRgr example, the FDA conducted a review of thempegket clearance process in
response to internal and external concerns regatian510(k) program, and, in January 2011, FDAoanoed 25 action items designed to
make the process more rigorous and transparente $bthese proposals, if enacted, could imposetiaddi regulatory requirements for dev
manufacturers which could delay our ability to abtaew 510(k) clearances, increase the costs optiante or restrict our ability to maintain
our current clearances. More recently, in July
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2012, President Obama signed into law the Fooddand Administration Safety and Innovation Act, betFDASIA. Among other things, the
FDASIA includes several reforms which are furthrgended to clarify and improve medical device ragah both pre- and post-approval. One
of these provisions obligates the FDA to preparepart for Congress on the FDA's approach for deieing when a new 510(k) will be
required for modifications or changes to a previpakeared device. After submitting this reportg thDA is expected to issue revised guidance
to assist device manufacturers in making this deteation. Until then, manufacturers may continuadbere to the FDA’s 1997 guidance on
this topic when making a determination as to whetiheiot a new 510(K) is required for a change odification to a device, but the practical
impact of the FDA's continuing scrutiny of thessuss remains unclear. Similarly, the European UrooiEU, is proposing to update the
European Directive 98/79/EC amvitro diagnostic medical device, or IVD Directive (IVDORhat could impact the classification of our
molecular diagnostic products and result in add#@laegulatory requirements, which could delay ahility to CE Mark our products. Delays
receipt of, or failure to obtain, clearances orrapgls for future products, including our NexGestinment and products that are currently in
design or development, would result in delayedmrrealization of revenues from such productsiarsibstantial additional costs, which
could decrease our profitability.

We must also comply with the applicable FDA anceifgn regulatory agency post-market requirementy. fAilure to maintain post-
market compliance with FDA or foreign regulatorgu@ements could harm our business, operationgpafidancial condition.

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesiirthe sale of research use only, or RUO, tests;iwdaie not intended for diagnostic
purposes. Clinical laboratories are regulated uttdeClinical Laboratory Improvement Amendment4 888, or CLIA, and may validate the
use of a laboratory developed test, or LDT, spediify for use in their laboratory using any labefedducts, which may include RUO-labeled
products. While FDA does not regulate LDTs, it pe@mulgated guidance on acceptable distributiostjmas for IVD products labeled for
Research Use Only and on responding to unsolicgqdests for off-label information. We have develbprocedures designed to comply with
these requirements. Nevertheless, if the FDA impgs@stantial changes to the regulation or enfoee¢wf LDTs which limit the availability
and use of our RUO tests, it may result in a sigaift reduction in the sale of our RUO products wednay be required to terminate those
RUO product sales, conduct additional performamediss and/or make submissions of our RUO prodiactise FDA for clearance or
approval, which could reduce our revenues or irsgeair costs and adversely affect our operatiod&afinancial condition.

We may have difficulties scaling our manufacturimgperations for our anticipated future growth.

To date, we have produced our products in limiteangjties relative to the quantities necessaryctoewe our desired revenue growth.
We recently completed a facility expansion propesigned to increase our future manufacturing défiedin anticipation of the launch of o
NexGen instrument system and its related test ni@aveloping the necessary manufacturing and qugatitgedures for a significant numbel
newly developed products is a complex process. \Bemot be prepared to produce sufficient quantafesur products or maintain consiste
and quality among differing lots of consumablesvéf encounter difficulties in scaling our manufaittg operations as a result of, among othe
things, quality control and quality assurance issard availability of components and raw matetigipdies, we may not achieve our anticipz
financial results within the time frame we expextat all.

To manage our anticipated future growth effectiyaelg must enhance our manufacturing capabilitiesagerations, information
technology infrastructure, and financial and ac¢mgnsystems and controls. Organizational growtith scale-up of operations could strain our
existing managerial, operational, financial andeottesources. If our management is unable to @ftdgtprepare for our expected future
growth, our expenses may increase more than aatédpour revenue could grow more slowly than etqek@and we may not be able to
achieve our commercialization goals. Our failureffectively implement the necessary processegambdures and otherwise prepare for ou
anticipated growth could have a material adverscebn our future financial condition and prosgect

Our products could infringe patent rights of othergvhich may require costly litigation and, if we amot successful, could cause us to pay
substantial damages or limit our ability to comméatize our products

Our commercial success depends on our ability ¥elde, manufacture and market our systems anddesitsise our proprietary
technology without infringing the patents and otheprietary rights of third parties. As the molkwiagnostic industry expands and more
patents are issued, the risk increases that thayebm patents issued to third parties that retataut products and technology of which we are
not aware or that we must challenge to continueoperations as currently contemplated. Our produetg infringe or may be alleged to
infringe these patents.
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In addition, patent applications in the United &saand many foreign jurisdictions are typically poblished until eighteen months after
the earliest filing date for which a benefit isimiad. For this reason, and because publicatiotiseiscientific literature often lag behind actual
discoveries, we cannot be certain that others havéled patent applications for technology coveby our issued patents or our pending
applications or that we were the first to inverd tchnology. Another party may have filed or mayhie future file patent applications covel
our products or technology similar to ours. Undher ffirst to invent” rules applicable to patentedi before March 2013, any such patent
application may have priority over our patent agatiions or patents, which could further requirgéougbtain rights to issued patents covering
such technologies. If another party has filed a |geent application on inventions similar to owve, may have to participate in an interference
proceeding declared by the U.S. Patent and Trade®ifice, or PTO, to determine priority of inverntian the United States. The costs of thes
proceedings could be substantial, and it is posshadt such efforts would be unsuccessful if theeoparty had independently arrived at the
same or similar invention prior to our own invemtioesulting in a loss of our U.S. patent positidth respect to such inventions.

The patent positions of medical device companiasbeahighly uncertain and involve complex legal &mtual questions for which
important legal principles remain unresolved. Nosistent policy regarding the breadth of claimewaéld in patents in these fields has eme
to date in the United States or in many foreigisflictions. Both the U.S. Supreme Court and therCafuAppeals for the Federal Circuit have
made, and will likely continue to make, changebaw the patent laws of the U.S. are interpreted.eixample, two recent Supreme Court
cases, Association for Molecular Pathology et aMyriad Genetics, Inc., et al. and Mayo CollabmatServices v. Prometheus Laboratories,
have introduced additional questions regardingptitentability of isolated naturally occurring gemesl gene fragments, proteins, peptides,
natural products, and related diagnostic and tleertgpmethods which are likely to be resolved dhhpugh continued litigation. The overall
impact of these decisions and others on the maediggnostics industry remains uncertain and merpretation of the scope of these rulings
on existing or future patents may be inaccurate.

There is a substantial amount of litigation invalyipatent and other intellectual property rightthie medical device, biotechnology and
pharmaceutical industries generally. From timart@t we may become engaged in litigation with thgedties having patent or other
intellectual property rights alleging that our puats or proprietary technologies infringe theieifectual property rights. If a third party claims
that we or any of our customers or collaboratofsrige its intellectual property rights, we may éa& number of issues, including, but not
limited to:

< infringement and other intellectual propertyiiwla which, regardless of merit, may be expensivktane-consuming to litigate and
may divert our management’s attention from our darsiness;

e substantial damages for infringement, which vagy mave to pay if a court decides that the prodtictsue infringes on or violates
the third party’s rights, and if the court findsatthe infringement was willful, we could be ordite pay treble damages and the
patent owner’s attorneys’ fees;

< acourt prohibiting us from selling or licensiagr product unless the third party licenses itelpct rights to us, which it is not
required to do;

- ifalicense is available from a third party, may have to pay substantial royalties, upfrons f@egrant cross-licenses to intellectua
property rights for our products; and

e redesigning our products or processes so theyotlmfringe, which may not be possible or mayuieg|substantial monetary
expenditures and time.

Some of our competitors may be able to sustairctisés of complex patent litigation more effectivédign we can because they have
substantially greater resources. In addition, armgettainties resulting from the initiation and doogtion of any litigation could have a mate
adverse effect on our ability to raise funds todktent necessary to continue our operations.

If third -party payors do not reimburse our customers foethse of our products or if reimbursement levelgaet too low for us to sell our
products at a profit, our ability to sell our proaitis and our results of operations will be harme

We sell our products to hospital-based and referdatmoratories, substantially all of which receigeanbursement for the health care
services they provide to their patients from ttpatty payors, such as Medicare, Medicaid, othere&timand foreign government programs,
private insurance plans and managed care progRensibursement decisions by particular thpatty payors depend upon a number of fac
including each third-party payor’'s determinatioatthse of a product is:

e acovered benefit under its health p
« appropriate and medically necessary for the speiciflication

* cost effective; ar
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< neither experimental nor investigatiol

Third-party payors may deny reimbursement for cestggroducts if they determine that a medical prbdas not used in accordance
with cost-effective diagnosis methods, as deterchimethe third-party payor, or was used for an wnayed indication. Thirgsarty payors ma
also refuse to reimburse for procedures and dedeesied to be experimental or investigational.

Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval fopduct from each government or third-party paga time consuming and costly
process that could require us to provide supposaigntific, clinical and cost-effectiveness datathe use of our product to each government
or thirdparty payor. We may not be able to provide datéicsenft to gain acceptance with respect to covemgereimbursement. For examy
Medicare and Medicaid generally do not reimburseviglers who use our Warfarin Sensitivity Test. tldiéion, eligibility for coverage does r
imply that any product will be covered and reimlaarén all cases or reimbursed at a rate that almwsotential customers to make a profit or
even cover their costs. Further, third-party payoay choose to reimburse our customers per testlasindividual biomarker detection,
rather than on the basis of the number of residengoy the test. This may result in reference tatwries, public health institutions and
hospitals electing to use separate tests to séoeeach disease or condition so that they cariveceimbursement for each test they conduct.
In that event, these entities may purchase septstefor each disease, rather than products,asiobrs, that can be used to return highly
multiplexed test results.

In the United States, the American Medical Assaamgtor AMA, generally assigns specific billing axifor laboratory tests under a
coding system known as Current Procedure TermiiylogCPT, codes, which are necessary for our ousts to bill and receive
reimbursement for our diagnostic tests. Once th€ Gfele is established, the Centers for MedicareMdicaid Services, or CMS, which is
responsible for implementing the Medicare prograstablishes payment levels and coverage rules hheldicare. Private payors establish
rates and coverage rules independently. We canasaigtee that any of our tests are or will be cedday the CPT codes that we believe may
be applied to them or that any of our tests ormpneducts will be approved for coverage or reinseanent by Medicare, Medicaid or any third

party payor.

Third-party payors are increasingly attemptingaatain health care costs by limiting both coverage the level of reimbursement for
medical products and services. Increasingly, Medidsledicaid and other third-party payors are @maing the prices charged for medical
services, including molecular diagnostic testsluly 2013, CMS released certain proposals thakameed payment amounts for tests
reimbursed under the Medicare clinical laboratesy $chedule due to changes in technology. CMSpatgmsed to bundle the Medicare
payments for certain laboratory tests ordered wdibatient received services in a hospital outpaiietting, replacing the current methodology
to make separate payments for the test. These ebavent into effect on January 1, 2014. In additgayment methodologies may be subject
to changes in healthcare legislation. In Febru@id22 President Obama signed the Middle Class TéirfRend Job Creation Act of 2012,
which mandated an additional change in reimburséifeerlinical laboratory services payments. Thgislation required CMS to reduce the
Medicare clinical laboratory fee schedule by 292@13, which in turn will serve as the base for 2@fhd subsequent years. Levels of
reimbursement may continue to decrease in thedpaund future legislation, regulation or reimbursebpolicies of third-party payors may
harm the demand and reimbursement available fopamgucts, which in turn, could harm our produdtipg and sales. If our customers are
not adequately reimbursed for our products, they raduce or discontinue purchases of our produdigsh would cause our revenues to
decline.

In January 2013, CMS implemented new molecularrebatic CPT codes and retired the prior procedwdés used to bill for molecular
testing. All Medicare contractors subsequentlyeaskpricing for some or all of the new molecularmdbgy codes; however, reimbursement
coverage decisions and levels during 2013 varigaifgiantly among these contractors. The dispavégdicare reimbursement coverage
determinations among Medicare contractors resift@dViedicare coverage disparity during 2013 far plerformance of a particular diagnostic
testing procedure depending on the area of theedi8tates in which the procedure was performed Médicare reimbursement uncertainty
experienced during 2013 resulted in some of outoousrs receiving delayed reimbursement or dengddged to the use of certain products for
which reimbursement was previously available. Ipt€mber 2013, CMS issued final “gap-fill” pricingdsions for CPT codes, which has
formed the basis of related payments in 2014. TR& Godes published for 2014 did not include ratesfi codes and reduced the
reimbursement amounts for certain products, indgdiome of our pharmacogenomics products. In adfditertain Medicare Administrative
Contractors (MACs) and private payors have recaatlyed draft coverage policies for pharmacogensmeisting that, if implemented, would
significantly restrict coverage for these testsaA®sult, some of our pharmacogenomics custonaes heen negatively affected, which, in
turn, has negatively affected the revenues wevededm these products.

Disruptions in the supply of raw materials, consuiva goods or other key product components, or issassociated with their quality fror
our single source suppliers, could result in a sifipant disruption in sales and profitability.
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We must manufacture or engage third parties to fagtwre components of our products in sufficierdmfities and on a timely basis,
while maintaining product quality, acceptable maatifiring costs and complying with regulatory regoients. Our components are custom-
made by only a few outside suppliers. In certagtances, we and our customers have a sole soyphy $ar certain key product components
and ancillary items used to run our tests. If wewrable to satisfy our forecasted demand frontiagisuppliers for our products, or we or our
customers are unable to find alternative suppfir&ey product components or ancillary items asmably comparable prices, it could have
material adverse effect on our business, finargatition and results of operations. Additionallse have entered into supply agreements witl
most of our suppliers of strategic reagents antsgarhelp ensure component availability and flexjurchasing terms with respect to the
purchase of such components. If our suppliers distoe production of a key component for one oremafrour products, we may be unable to
identify or secure a viable alternative on reastsm#dyms, or at all, which could limit our ability manufacture our products.

In determining the required quantities of our pradwand the manufacturing schedule, we must maksfisiant judgments and estimat
seasonality based on inventory levels, current etdriends and other related factors. Because dhtterent nature of estimates and our lim
experience in marketing our products, there coeldipnificant differences between our estimatesthadctual amounts of products we
require. This can result in shortages if we faihitticipate demand, or excess inventory and wiffeibwe order more than we need.

Reliance on third-party manufacturers entails tislvhich we would not be subject if we manufactutieegse components ourselves,
including:

« reliance on third parties for regulatory compliaacel quality assuranc
e possible breaches of manufacturing agreementsebthitd parties because of factors beyond our of
e possible regulatory violations or manufacturingkpeons experienced by our suppli

e possible termination or non-renewal of agreeméptthird parties, based on their own busineswifigs, at times that are costly or
inconvenient for us;

< the potential obsolescence and/or inability of suppliers to obtain required compone

< the potential delays and expenses of seeking ateegources of supply or manufacturing serv

< the inability to qualify alternate sources withémpacting performance claims of our prodi

« reduced control over pricing, quality and timelyidkery due to the difficulties in switching to atteate suppliers or assemblers;
« increases in prices of raw materials and key corapts

The manufacturing operations for our test cartridgge highly technical processes involving unigueprietary techniques. In addition,
the manufacturing equipment we use would be casthepair or replace and could require substatg#d time to repair or replace. Any
interruption in our operations or decrease in tteelpction capacity of our manufacturing facilitytbe facilities of any of our suppliers beca
of equipment failure, natural disasters such athgaakes, tornadoes and fires, or otherwise, wibmid our ability to meet customer demand
for our products and would have a material adveffget on our business, financial condition andiitssof operations. In the event of a
disruption, we may lose customers and we may bbleria regain those customers thereafter. Our &msug may not be sufficient to cover all
of our potential losses and may not continue tav@élable to us on acceptable terms, or at all.

If we are unable to obtain, maintain and enforcet#llectual property protection covering our prodg;tothers may be able to make, use
sell products substantially the same as ours, whittuld adversely affect our ability to compete hetmarket.

Our commercial success is dependent in part orrohgg maintaining and enforcing intellectual prageights, including patents. If we
are unable to obtain, maintain and enforce inteilqroperty protection covering our productseothmay be able to make, use or sell
products that are substantially the same as odh®uiiincurring the sizeable development and lizensosts that we have incurred, which
would adversely affect our ability to compete ie tharket. We seek to obtain and maintain patemto#rer intellectual property rights to
restrict the ability of others to market produdtattcompete with our products. Currently, our papemtfolio is comprised on a worldwide ba
of approximately 130 owned and exclusively licenpaténts and over 25 additional pending applicatitmgeneral, patents have a term of at
least 20 years from the application filing datesarlier claimed priority date. A majority of ousisged and exclusively licensed patents are
scheduled to expire by 2021, with approximately bak of the patents expiring by 2018. Severalwf pending applications have the potentia
to mature into patents that may expire between 20@82034. However, not all of the pending or fetpatent
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applications owned by or licensed to us are guasghto mature into patents, and, moreover, issath{s owned by or licensed to us now or
in the future may be found by a court to be invalicdtherwise unenforceable. Also, even if our ptt@re determined by a court to be valid
and enforceable, they may not be sufficiently brimagrevent others from marketing products sintiteours or designing around our patents,
despite our patent rights, nor provide us withdiea to operate unimpeded by the patent rightsiu#rst

We have licensed certain intellectual property fithind parties related to our products, and we oglythem to file and prosecute patent
applications and maintain patents and otherwisteptthe licensed intellectual property. We havehza and do not have primary control ovel
these activities for certain of our patents or paépplications and other intellectual propertyntgy We cannot be certain that such activities b
third parties have been or will be conducted in plimmce with applicable laws and regulations ot véisult in valid and enforceable patents
and other intellectual property rights. Pursuanthtterms of the license agreements with someioficensors, the licensors may have the |
to control enforcement of our licensed patentsafeidse of any claims asserting the invalidity @fsth patents and, even if we are permitted to
pursue such enforcement or defense, we will regh@ecooperation of our licensors. We cannot b&aethat our licensors will allocate
sufficient resources or prioritize their or our emiement of such patents or defense of such clameotect our interests in the licensed patt
If we fail to comply with our material obligationsder any of our patent license agreements, teadies may be terminated and we could lose
license rights that are important to our businEssthermore, additional licenses we may need maypaavailable to us on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all, which could adveraffsct our results of operations and growth protpec

In addition, there are numerous recent changdsetpatent laws and proposed changes to the rutes &TO, which may have a
significant impact on our ability to protect oucleology and enforce our intellectual property tigt-or example, in September 2011 the
United States enacted sweeping changes to thepltént system under the Leahy-Smith America InvAotsincluding changes that have
transitioned the United States from a “first-toemy” system to a “first inventor to fileSystem and altered some of the processes for ohailg
issued patents. These changes may materially dffectncertainties and costs surrounding the puisecof our patent applications and the
enforcement or defense of our issued patents aedtsaof our collaborators and licensors.

The patent situation in the medical device andmbiatic fields outside the United States is evenenumicertain. We have a number of
foreign patents and pending applications. HoweerJaws of some foreign jurisdictions do not pebiatellectual property rights to the same
extent as laws in the United States, and many commpdave encountered significant difficulties btaning, protecting and defending such
rights in foreign jurisdictions. If we encounterchudifficulties or we are otherwise precluded freffectively protecting our intellectual
property rights in foreign jurisdictions, our busss prospects could be substantially harmed.

We also rely on trade-secret protection to prabectinterests in proprietary know-how and for prses for which patents are difficult to
obtain or enforce. We may not be able to protecti@ae secrets adequately. We have limited cooirei the protection of trade secrets used
by our licensors, collaborators and suppliers. édtih we use reasonable efforts to protect our tsadeets, our employees, consultants,
contractors, outside scientific collaborators atftepadvisors may unintentionally or willfully disse our information to competitors.
Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally olstad and is using any of our trade secrets is esiperand time consuming, and the outcome is
unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the EthiStates are sometimes less willing to protedetsecrets. We rely, in part, on ndiselosure
and confidentiality agreements with our employeesisultants and other parties to protect our tsateets and other proprietary technology.
These agreements may be breached and we may ratlaguate remedies for any breach. Moreover,othay independently develop
equivalent proprietary information, and third paestmay otherwise gain access to our trade secrétgraprietary knowledge. Any disclosure
confidential data into the public domain or to thiparties could allow our competitors to learn wade secrets and use the information in
competition against us.

We are subject to various federal and state lawgaiaing to health care fraud and abuse, includinanti-kickback, selfreferral, false claims
and fraud laws, and any violations by us of suclwia could result in fines or other penalties.

Our commercial, research and other financial retfestips with healthcare providers and institutiaressubject to various federal and
state laws intended to prevent health care fraddadse. The federal anti-kickback statute prohithie knowing offer, receipt or payment of
remuneration in exchange for or to induce the refaf patients or the use of products or servibas would be paid for in whole or part by
Medicare, Medicaid or other federal health carggpams. Remuneration has been broadly defined tada@anything of value, including cash,
improper discounts, and free or reduced price itentsservices. Many states have similar laws thpllyato their state health care programs as
well as private payors. Violations of the anti-kielck laws can result in exclusion from federal theedre programs and substantial civil and
criminal penalties.
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The federal False Claims Act, or the FCA, imposasility on persons who, among other things, preseicause to be presented false or
fraudulent claims for payment by a federal headtteqorogram. The FCA has been used to prosecuensesubmitting claims for payment t
are inaccurate or fraudulent, that are for servit#grovided as claimed, or for services thatrertemedically necessary. We have impleme
procedures designed to ensure our compliance eligwvant legal requirements. Nevertheless, if ouketing, sales or other arrangements,
including our reagent rental arrangements, wererdehed to violate anti-kickback or related lawssluding the FCA, then our revenues could
be adversely affected, which would likely harm business, financial condition and results of openat

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Actam&nded by the Health Care and Education RecaimmiliAct, or the PPACA, also
imposes new reporting and disclosure requiremantiewice manufacturers for payments to healthcareigiers and ownership of their stock
by healthcare providers. Further, the PPACA, amathgr things, amends the intent requirement oféderal anti-kickback and criminal
healthcare fraud statutes. A person or entity @am Ioe found guilty under the PPACA without actuabwledge of the statute or specific intent
to violate it. In addition, the PPACA provides tltla¢ government may assert that a claim includieigs$ or services resulting from a violation
of the federal anti-kickback statute constitutéalse or fraudulent claim for purposes of the fallsgms statutes. In February 2013, CMS
released the final rule implementing the federgldttian Payments Sunshine Act, or the Sunshine Bt.law requires certain pharmaceuti
biologic, and medical device manufacturers to altyueport to CMS payments or other transfers dbigahey furnish to physicians and
teaching hospitals. These new reporting requiresi@aak effect on August 1, 2013. Failure to submdjuired information may result in
significant civil monetary penalties. We expect @hiance with the PPACA and Sunshine Act to impagaiicant administrative and financi
burdens on us.

In addition, there has been a recent trend of aseré federal and state regulation of payments noepleysicians for marketing. Some
states, such as California, Massachusetts and \feymandate implementation of corporate compligmograms, along with the tracking and
reporting of gifts, compensation and other remui@nao physicians. The shifting commercial comptia environment and the need to build
and maintain robust and expandable systems to gowifil different compliance and/or reporting re@mrents in multiple jurisdictions
increase the possibility that a healthcare compaay run afoul of one or more of the requirements.

State and federal authorities have aggressiveljetad medical device companies for alleged viatatiof these anti-fraud statutes, basec
on improper research or consulting contracts witttars, certain marketing arrangements that relyauame-based pricing, off-label
marketing schemes and other improper promotioredtises. Companies targeted in such prosecutiores peid substantial fines in the
hundreds of millions of dollars or more, have b&®ned to implement extensive corrective actiomplaand have often become subject to
consent decrees severely restricting the mannghich they conduct their business. If we becomedhget of such an investigation or
prosecution based on our contractual relationshitisproviders or institutions, or our marketingdgoromotional practices, we could face
similar sanctions which would materially harm ousimess.

Once we commence commercial operations outsideited States, we will be subject to the U.S. FgmeCorrupt Practices Act, or the
FCPA, and other countries’ anti-corruption/dntibery regimes, such as the U.K. Bribery Act. R&PA prohibits improper payments or off
of payments to foreign governments and their adficfor the purpose of obtaining or retaining bass Safeguards we implement to
discourage improper payments or offers of paymieytsur employees, consultants, sales agents aibdigirs may be ineffective, and
violations of the FCPA and similar laws may resulsevere criminal or civil sanctions, or otheblldies or proceedings against us, any of
which would likely harm our reputation, businessahcial condition and results of operations.

We are currently reliant on the commercial succexfsour XT-8 system and its related test menu totgly fund our current operations and
development programs.

We currently market our XT-8 instrument system &md FDA-cleared diagnostic tests. In addition, es’e several diagnostic tests in
the research, development or design stage. Weprawarily placed our XT8 systems with customers at no initial charge thhoteagent rent
agreements, under which customers generally cotorpirchase minimum quantities of test cartridge$ r@agents (consumables) over a
typical period of one to three years, with a cormgrurof the cartridge and reagent price allocate@¢over the instrument price. We also offer
our XT-8 systems for sale. We intend to continudedicate a significant portion of our resourcegtocommercialization of our XT-8 system
and its related test menu, while also dedicatiggiicant resources to the development of our Nex&estem and its related test menu. As a
result, to the extent that our XT-8 system andextisting and future diagnostic and research pradaiet not commercially successful or are
withdrawn from the market for any reason, our ofiegaresults, financial condition and critical déy@ment programs would be harmed anc
may be required to seek additional funding to suppar ongoing operations.
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In addition, we have limited marketing, sales arstrithution experience and capabilities. Our apild achieve profitability depends on
attracting customers for our products and buildirend loyalty. To successfully perform sales, mtnkg distribution and customer support
functions ourselves, we face a number of riskduing:

* our ability to attract and retain the skillegport team, marketing staff and sales force necgssaommercialize and gain market
acceptance for our technology and our products;

» the ability of our sales and marketing teanmdentify and penetrate the potential customer askiding hospitals and national and
regional reference laboratories; and

< the difficulty of establishing brand recognitiondaloyalty for our product

Some hospital-based and reference laboratorieswmagonsider adopting our XT-8 system unless weradfbroader menu of diagnostic
tests or may choose not to convert from competjingelucts unless and until we are able to offarape-to-answer instrument solution, such
as our NexGen instrument. In addition, in ordecdmmercialize our products, we are required to tiale time consuming and costly
development activities, including clinical studfes which the outcome is uncertain. Products tipgiear promising during early development
and preclinical studies may, nonetheless, faileimdnstrate the results needed to support regulapgpgoval or, if approved, may not generate
the demand we expect. If we are unable to effelgtivempete with our XT-8 system and its related tasnu, our revenues and our ability to
achieve profitability will be significantly impaide

Legislative or regulatory healthcare reforms mayVea material adverse effect on our business anglitts of operations

Federal and state governments in the United Stéaéesndertaking efforts to control growing healéineccosts through legislation,
regulation and voluntary agreements with mediced gaoviders and third-party payors. In March 2026ngress enacted the PPACA. While
the PPACA involves expanding coverage to more iddils, it includes new regulatory mandates andratieasures designed to constrain
medical costs. Among other requirements, the PPAfJ#oses a 2.3% excise tax on sales of medical devag manufacturers that is expected
to cost the medical device industry up to $20dnillover the decade following its effectiveness.alde& devices include any medical device
defined in Section 201(h) of the FDCA and intenfteduse by humans, with limited exclusions for @&a purchased by the general public at
retail for individual use. There is no exemption $mall companies, and we began paying the taR1832Complying with PPACA may
significantly increase our tax liabilities and cswhich could adversely affect our business amaritial condition.

In August 2011, President Obama signed into lavBtigget Control Act of 2011, which among other gsincreated automatic
reductions to several government programs, incydiggregate reductions to Medicare payments togeov of up to 2% per fiscal year. In
January 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act@f2 or the ATRA, delayed for another two montrestiindget cuts mandated by these
sequestration provisions of the Budget Control @&@011. In March 2013, President Obama signedkantgive order implementing
sequestration, and in April 2013, the 2% Medicargnpent reductions went into effect. The ATRA aBmong other things, reduced Medicare
payments to several providers, including hospiiaigaging centers and cancer treatment centersparneased the statute of limitations period
for the government to recover overpayments to jierg from three to five years. We expect that aaithl state and federal healthcare reform
measures will be adopted in the future, any of Witiculd limit the amounts that federal and stateegoments will pay for healthcare products
and services, which could result in reduced denfiandur products or additional pricing pressure.

We have a history of net losses, and we may neebieve or maintain profitability.

We have a history of significant net losses andhiadd history commercializing our molecular diagtio products. We obtained FDA
clearance for our first generation molecular diagicossystem in 2006, and commenced a limited menggedffort for this system. We initially
offered our XT-8 system and our Warfarin Sensiiviiest in July 2008, our Cystic Fibrosis Genotypirest in July 2009, our Thrombophilia
Risk Test in April 2010, and our Respiratory Vikanel in September 2012. Our net losses were appately $33.6 million and $22.1 million
for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 20Epectvely. As of December 31, 2013 , we had anractated deficit of $224.2 million .
We expect to continue to incur significant experfeeshe foreseeable future in connection with ongoing operations, primarily related to
commercial organization (sales and marketing),axeteand development and regulatory activitiesnta@ing our existing intellectual
property portfolio, obtaining additional intelleefproperty rights and investing in corporate isfracture. Although we believe that we will
generate positive cash flow over the next few yemescannot provide any assurance that we willeehprofitability and, even if we achieve
profitability, that we will be able to sustain ocrease profitability on a quarterly or annual aBurther, because of our limited
commercialization history and the rapidly evolvimgture of our target market, we have limited insigto the trends that may emerge and
affect our business. We may make errors in predjcind reacting to relevant business trends, wdocid harm our business and financial
condition.
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We may need to raise additional funds in the futyand such funds may not be available on a timebsis, or at all.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate pgasitiash flows from operations, we will be requitedinance our operations with our
cash resources. We may need to raise additiondkfimthe future to support our operations. We otibe certain that additional capital will
available as needed, on acceptable terms, or. &t &k require additional capital at a time whaméstment in our company, in molecular
diagnostics companies or the marketplace in geieliahited, we may not be able to raise such fusitthe time that we desire, or at all. If we
do raise additional funds through the issuanceguofte or convertible securities, the percentage ewhip of holders of our common stock
could be significantly diluted. In addition, newsued securities may have rights, preferencesivitgges senior to those of holders of our
common stock. If we obtain debt financing, a partid our operating cash flow may be dedicated éoplyment of principal and interest on
such indebtedness, and the terms of the debt sesussued could impose significant restrictionsoar operations and place encumbrances o
our assets. If we raise additional funds throudtaborations and licensing arrangements, we coaldelguired to relinquish significant rights
our technologies and products, or grant licensegions that are not favorable to us.

If we are unable to retain key employees or hired@tbnal skilled employees, we may be unable toiaek our goals

Our performance is substantially dependent on émopmance of our senior management. Competitionoip management personnel is
intense and we may not be able to recruit andiréte personnel we need. Our senior managers gamegge their relationship with us at any
time. The loss of services of any of these keygrars| could significantly reduce our operationd¢etiveness and investor confidence and ou
stock price could decline. We do not maintain kegnrtife insurance on any of our employees.

In addition, our product development and markeéffgrts could be delayed or curtailed if we arehledo attract, train and retain highly
skilled technical employees and scientific advisdisexpand our research, product development amanercial efforts, we will need to retain
additional people skilled in areas such as eleb#odcal and molecular science, information techggleananufacturing, sales, marketing and
technical support. Because of the complex and teahnature of our systems and the dynamic markeirich we compete, any failure to
attract and retain a sufficient number of qualifeedployees could materially harm our ability to eley and commercialize our technology.
may not be successful in hiring or retaining qirdifpersonnel, and any failure to do so could fer®terial adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We and our suppliers, contract manufacturers andstamers are subject to various governmental regiglas, and we may incur significant
expenses to comply with, and experience delaysuinmoduct commercialization as a result of, thessgulations.

Our manufacturing processes and facilities andettoedsome of our contract manufacturers must comyitly the federal Quality System
Regulation, or QSR, which covers the proceduresdacdmentation of the design, testing, productimmtrol, quality assurance, labeling,
packaging, sterilization, storage and shippingwfdevices. The FDA enforces the QSR through pariadnounced and/or unannounced
inspections of manufacturing facilities. We and oontract manufacturers have been, and anticipateei future being, subject to such
inspections, as well as to inspections by otheer@dand state regulatory agencies.

We must also file reports of device corrections emrdovals and adhere to the F3Aules on labeling and promotion. The FDA and «
agencies actively enforce the laws and regulapwoBibiting the promotion of off-label uses, andeampany that is found to have improperly
promoted off-label uses may be subject to signifidi@bility, including substantial monetary pefiedtand criminal prosecution.

Failuret o comply with applicable FDA requirements, or ladescovery of previously unknown problems with puoducts or
manufacturing processes, including our failureherfailure of one of our contract manufacturerate@ satisfactory corrective action in
response to an adverse QSR inspection, can rasaltnong other things:

e administrative or judicially imposed sanctic

e injunctions or the imposition of civil penalti

< recall or seizure of our produc

« total or partial suspension of production or disition;

« withdrawal or suspension of marketing clearancespprovals

* clinical holds
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e warning letters
« refusal to permit the import or export of our protiy an
e criminal prosecutiol

Any of these actions, in combination or alone, dquievent us from marketing, distributing or sejliour products and would likely harm
our business.

In addition, a product defect or regulatory viaaticould lead to a government-mandated or voluntzegll by us. We believe that the
FDA would request that we initiate a voluntary fleifa product was defective or presented a riskjury or gross deception. Regulatory
agencies in other countries have similar authaadtecall devices because of material deficiencredefects in design or manufacture that c
endanger health. Any recall would divert managenaéention and financial resources, could causetite of our shares of common stock to
decline and expose us to product liability or ottlaims, including contractual claims from partiesvhom we sold products, and harm our
reputation with customers. A recall involving ouf-8 system or our diagnostic tests would be partibutgarmful to our business and finani
results.

The use of our diagnostic products by our custonseatso affected by CLIA and related federal atadesregulations that provide for
regulation of laboratory testing. CLIA is intenddensure the quality and reliability of clinicabloratories in the United States by mandating
specific standards in the areas of personnel deatiibns, administration, participation in profioy testing, patient test management, quality
assurance, quality control and inspections. Cuweffiture CLIA requirements or the promulgatioraditional regulations affecting
laboratory testing may prevent some laboratoriesfusing some or all of our diagnostic products.

If our products do not perform as expected or thaiability of the technology on which our productse based is questioned, our operati
results and business would suffer.

Our success depends on the market's confidencevthatin provide reliable, high quality, moleculagostic products. We believe that
customers in our target markets are likely to béiqaarly sensitive to product defects and errés.a result, our reputation and the public
image of our products and technologies will be ifigantly impaired if our products fail to perforas expected. Although our diagnostic
systems are designed to be user friendly, the immethey perform are complex and our products deselop or contain undetected defects ol
errors.

We currently manufacture our proprietary test édges at our Carlsbad, California manufacturinglitgc We outsource manufacturing
of our XT-8 system and much of the disposable carepbmolding for our test cartridges. In 2012, wenfalized our relationship with Leica
Biosystems Melbourne Pty Ltd., or Leica, the carttraanufacturer of our XT-8 instrument system. beipecializes in manufacturing of
electronic and electromechanical devices for médisa. While we work closely with Leica to ensuomtinuity of supply while maintaining
high quality and reliability, we cannot guaranteattthese efforts will be successful. We curreatiticipate manufacturing the proprietary test
cartridges for our NexGen system, and outsourdiegrianufacture of our NexGen system to a thirdypagnufacturing partner.

If we experience a material defect or error in ahgur current or future products, it could resalthe loss or delay of revenues, incre:
costs, delayed or reduced market acceptance, damegetation, diversion of development and managemesources, legal and/or regulatory
claims, recalls, increased insurance costs or ase service and warranty costs, any of which caatkrially harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We also face the risk of product liability exposteated to the sale of our products. We currecdlyy product liability insurance that
covers us against specific product liability claiMée also carry a separate general liability antbnetha policy that covers us against certain
claims but excludes coverage for product liabilypy claim in excess of our insurance coveragdéoowhich we do not have insurance
coverage, would need to be paid out of our cagtrves, which would harm our financial condition. \d&not assure you that we have
obtained sufficient insurance or broad enough ameto cover potential claims. Also, we cannot gesgau that we can or will maintain our
insurance policies on commercially acceptable teonat all. A product liability claim could sigmigntly harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Although we have recently remediated a material Weess in our internal control over financial repairig, if we are unable to maintain th
effectiveness of our internal controls, our finarali results may not be accurately reported.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness ohtaunal control over financial reporting as ofd@enber 31, 2011 reported a materia
weakness in our internal control over financialamtimg related to the supervision and review of fimaincial closing and reporting process, as
described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for ylear ended December 31, 2011. During 2012 and,2@4 8levoted significant time and
resources to the remediation of the material weskménich included, but was not limited to:
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» evaluating our Finance Department’s managemahstaff qualifications, which resulted in us makuoertain personnel changes,
including the replacement of our Chief Financiafi€r, Controller and certain accounting staff;

* redesigning and implementing structured and formadliinternal control procedur
« implementing new control procedures over the wilan of external resources; ¢

< developing and initiating a plan for the depl@mhof additional software systems to assist immating and controlling certain
financial processes.

Although further and ongoing efforts will continire2014 and beyond to enhance our internal cootrel financial reporting, we believe
that our remediation efforts now provide the fouratafor compliance with the Committee of Sponsgrrganizations (1992 framework)
(COSO) of the Treadway Commission framework. Assalt, our assessment of the effectiveness ofnterral control over financial reporti
as of December 31, 2012 and 2013 no longer repdniednaterial weakness or any other material wes&mver financial reporting, and the
audit report of our independent registered pulddimoanting firm no longer expressed an adverse opian the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December2113.

Internal control over financial reporting is a pess designed to provide reasonable assurance iregénd reliability of financial
reporting in accordance with accounting princigieserally accepted in the United States. Becawsmbierent limitations of internal control
over financial reporting cannot guarantee the préea or detection of a material weakness, we @amnguarantee a material weakness over
financial reporting will not occur, including wittespect to any previously reported material wease®sAny future material weakness could
result in material misstatements in our financiatements or cause us to fail to meet our repodbigations. In addition, if we or our auditors
are unable to certify that our internal control ofieancial reporting is effective, we may be subj® sanctions or investigations by regulatory
authorities such as the U.S. Securities and Exah@ugnmission, or the SEC, or The NASDAQ Global M#rkand we could lose investor
confidence in the accuracy and completeness dfimamcial reports, which would materially harm dawsiness, the price of our common stock
and our ability to access the capital markets.

We may not be able to correctly estimate or contvat future operating expenses, which could leaddash shortfalls.

Our operating expenses may fluctuate significaimtihe future as a result of a variety of factongny of which may be outside of our
control. These factors include, but are not limited

» the time and resources required to developcanduct clinical studies and obtain regulatory ideaes for, additional diagnostic
tests;

« the expenses we incur for research and developragquired to maintain and improve our technolaggluding developing our
NexGen systerr

« the costs of preparing, filing, prosecuting,atefing and enforcing patent claims and other patdated costs, including litigation
costs and the results of such litigation;

e the expenses we incur in connection with commaeaiibn activities, including product marketinglesaand distribution expens
« the expenses we incur in licensing technologies fiiaird parties to expand the menu of diagnosgéssstwe plan to offe

e our sales strategy and whether the revenuesdades of our test cartridges or X8Tsystem will be sufficient to offset our expen
< the costs to attract and retain personnel wittsHilés required for effective operations; i

e the costs associated with being a public comj

Our budgeted expense levels are based in partroexpectations concerning future revenues fronmssafl@ur XT-8 system and its
related test menu, as well our assessment of theefinvestments needed to expand our commeragahization and support research and
development activities in connection with our NexGgstem. We may be unable to reduce our expeeditara timely manner to compensate
for any unexpected events or a shortfall in revedgeordingly, a shortfall in demand for our prothior other unexpected events could have
an immediate and material impact on our businedgiaancial condition.
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We incur costs and demands upon management as alte$ complying with the laws and regulations afféng public companies in the
United States, and failure to comply with these Bwaould harm our business and the price of our commstock.

As a public company listed in the United Statesjweer significant legal, accounting and other exges. In addition, changing laws,
regulations and standards relating to corporategmnce and public disclosure, including regulatiomplemented by the SEC, the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB), and WA DAQ Global Market, may increase our legal ainéricial compliance costs a
make some activities more time consuming. Thess,laggulations and standards are subject to vaigtegoretations and, as a result, their
application in practice may evolve over time as igeidance is provided by regulatory and governiadiés. We intend to invest resources to
comply with evolving laws, regulations and standaahd this investment may result in increased rg¢iaad administrative expenses and a
diversion of management’s time and attention frerrenue-generating activities to compliance acésitif we nevertheless fail to comply with
new laws, regulations and standards, regulatofyaaities may initiate legal proceedings againsamng our business may be harmed.

Current economic conditions and the uncertain ecaniz outlook may adversely impact our business, fesof operations, financial
condition or liquidity.

Global economic conditions may remain challenging ancertain for the foreseeable future. Theseitiond not only limit our access
capital but also make it extremely difficult forrozustomers, our vendors and us to accurately &steand plan future business activities, and
they could cause U.S. and foreign businesses amsilinters to slow spending on our products and ssyviehich would delay and lengthen
sales cycles. Some of our customers rely on govenbnesearch grants to fund technology purchakesghtive trends in the economy affect
the government'’s allocation of funds to researcbre may be less grant funding available for ceréiour customers to purchase technologie
from us. Certain of our customers may face chattergaining timely access to sufficient credit oyratherwise be faced with budget
constraints, which could result in decreased pwesaf our products or in an impairment of theilitglto make timely payments to us. If our
customers do not make timely payments to us, welmeagquired to assume greater credit risk relatirthose customers, increase our
allowance for doubtful accounts, and our days salgstanding would be negatively impacted. Althoughmaintain allowances for doubtful
accounts for estimated losses resulting from thbility of our customers to make required paymentsmay not continue to experience the
same loss rates that we have in the past. Additjgrihese economic conditions and market turbutemay also impact our suppliers, causing
them to be unable to supply in a timely mannerisigfit quantities of customized components, theigipairing our ability to manufacture on
schedule and at commercially reasonable costs.

We are exposed to risks associated with long-liged intangible assets that may become impaired assgllt in an impairment charge.

The carrying amounts of long-lived and intangildsets are affected whenever events or changesimt§tances indicate that the
carrying amount of any asset may not be recoverablese events or changes might include an ingidisuccessfully deliver an instrument to
the marketplace and attain customer acceptanderaye in the rights or use of licensed intellecpraperty, adjustments to our depreciation
assumptions, or other matters. Adverse eventsarges in circumstances may affect the estimateduliged future cash flows expected to be
derived from long-lived and intangible assetstlf@ay time we determine that an impairment has wedyuwe will be required to reflect the
impaired value as a charge, resulting in a redogticarnings in the quarter such impairment isifified and a corresponding reduction in our
net asset value. In the past we have incurrediratick future we may incur, impairment charges. &ample, during the year ended
December 31, 2013, we recorded an impairment ctar§i2.6 million related to previously capitalizedyments made under the terms of a
license agreement, which we terminated in Decer®®&B. A material reduction in earnings resultirmpirsuch a charge could cause us to fail
meet the expectations of investors and securitiafyats, which could cause the price of our stocltecline.

Providing XT-8 systems to our customers through reagent remgteements may harm our liquidity.

The majority of our XT-8 systems are provided tstomers via “reagent rentadgreements, under which customers are affordedght
to use the XT-8 system in return for a commitmemurchase minimum quantities of reagents ancctestidges over a period of time.
Accordingly, we must either incur the expense ofafacturing XT-8 systems well in advance of reagjvsufficient revenues from test
cartridges to recover our expenses or obtain fhartly financing sources for the purchase of our8X3ystems. The amount of capital required
to provide these systems to customers dependseanuthber of systems placed. Our ability to generapétal to cover these costs depends on
the amount of our revenues from sales of reagentsest cartridges sold through our reagent remggeements. We do not currently sell
enough reagents and test
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cartridges to recover all of our fixed expenses, tnerefore we currently have a net loss. If wenoasell a sufficient number of reagents and
test cartridges to offset our fixed expenses, igquiidity will continue to be adversely affected.

We use hazardous chemicals, biological materialglanfectious agents in our business. Any claimsatéhg to improper handling, storage
or disposal of these materials could be time congugrand costly.

Our research, product development and manufactpriogesses involve the controlled use of hazardmitsrials, including chemicals,
biological materials and infectious disease agédis.operations produce hazardous waste produasafinot eliminate the risk of accidental
contamination or discharge and any resulting infuoyn these materials. We may be sued for anyynjurcontamination that results from our
use or the use by third parties of these mate@ald,our liability may exceed our insurance coveragd our total assets. Federal, state and
laws and regulations govern the use, manufacttosgge, handling and disposal of these hazardoteriala and specified waste products, as
well as the discharge of pollutants into the envinent and human health and safety matters. Ouatipes are regulated and may require that
environmental permits and approvals be issued plicable government agencies. Compliance with emvirental laws and regulations may
expensive and may impair our research, developarahproduction efforts. If we fail to comply withdse requirements, we could incur
substantial costs, including civil or criminal fsvand penalties, clean-up costs or capital expemeditfor control equipment or operational
changes necessary to achieve and maintain comeliamaddition, we cannot predict the impact onlmusiness of new or amended
environmental laws or regulations or any changekénwvay existing and future laws and regulatiaesiterpreted and enforced.

Our corporate structure may create tax inefficiemss.

As a result of our reorganization in 2010 and ptiothe reorganization steps that took place ire 2011 (as described below), Osmetecl
was a wholly-owned subsidiary of GenMark and a iemled foreign corporation for U.S. federal incotag purposes. This organizational
structure may create inefficiencies, as certairesypf income and investments of Osmetech thatwibemould not be currently taxable under
general tax rules may have become taxable. Iniadditonveyance of intellectual property rightsnfrone subsidiary to another could create
taxable income. Distributions from GenMark to ifsecating subsidiaries or amongst the U.S. operatithgidiaries of GenMark could have
been subject to additional U.S. and foreign incaéaxewithholding and result in lower profits. Duritige quarter ended June 30, 2011, the
Company underwent a corporate reorganization irgéna simplify its U.S. entity structure. As paftioe reorganization, Osmetech
Technologies, Inc. merged into Clinical Micro Serssdnc., with Clinical Micro Systems, Inc. survig. Additionally, Osmetech plc converted
to a U.K. limited company for U.K. legal and taxrpases and made an entity classification electidvettreated as an entity disregarded from
GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. for U.S. federal incorae purposes. The reorganization did not triggerraagerial U.S. federal or U.K. income 1
expense. In November 2013, as one of the finakstefhe reorganization, we liquidated Osmetechlpls anticipated that the post-
reorganization structure will allow GenMark Diagtics, Inc. to elect to file a consolidated U.S.deal income tax return with its remaining
U.S. subsidiaries, Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. &winetech, Inc. As a result of these steps, alladipas will be included in a U.S. federal
consolidated tax return and many of the inefficieaalescribed above will be eliminated on a goimgvaird basis, however, if the
reorganization results in additional tax liabilgito us, it may negatively impact our financial dition and results of operations.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryfoands may be limited.

As of December 31, 2013, we had net operating wsNOL, carryforwards available of approximateB9® million million for U.S.
federal income tax purposes. These loss carryfatsvaill expire in varying amounts through 2033.8et382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, genergligses an annual limitation on the amount of NOLyfarwards that may be used to offset
taxable income when a corporation has undergomfisignt changes in stock ownership. We have ddtexdththat we have experienced
multiple ownership changes under Section 382 ofltbde. Our ability to use the current NOL carryfards may also be limited by the
issuance of common stock in the future. To theregxtar use of NOL carryforwards is limited, our@mee may be subject to corporate income
tax earlier than it would if we were able to uselNearryforwards. We have recorded a full valuatidiowance against our net deferred tax
assets.

We also had non-U.S. NOL carryforwards as of Deaamdti, 2013. As a result of the liquidation of Osaeé plc in the fourth quarter of
2013, our expectation is that the non-U.S. NOLyfarwards will not be utilized and, therefore, wavk not accounted for them as a deferred
tax asset.

Information technology systems implementation issum security threats could disrupt our internal epations and adversely affect o
financial results.

Portions of our information technology infrastruetumay experience interruptions, delays or cessaidd service or produce errors in
connection with ongoing systems implementation warlparticular, we have implemented an enterprise
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resource planning software system. To more fulffize the potential of this system, we are configuaassessing and upgrading processes
and this may be more expensive, time consumingesulrce intensive than planned. Any disruptioas thay occur in the operation of this
system or any future systems or any unauthorizedsscto our information systems could increasesgpenses and adversely affect our ability
to report in an accurate and timely manner thelteséi our consolidated operations, our financiadifion and cash flows and to otherwise
operate our business in a secure environmentf alhiwh could adversely affect our financial resuktock price and reputation

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation, oupylaws and Delaware law could make an acquisitiihour Company, which may b
beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult anthay prevent attempts by our stockholders to replaceemove the current members of our
board and management.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorpaoatand bylaws could discourage, delay or prevanegger, acquisition or other change
of control that stockholders may consider favoraisleluding transactions in which you might otheseireceive a premium for your shares.
Furthermore, these provisions could prevent ottfatis attempts by our stockholders to replace miokee members of our Board of Directors.
These provisions also could limit the price thakistors might be willing to pay in the future farraommon stock, thereby depressing the
market price of our common stock. Stockholders wish to participate in these transactions may ae€hthe opportunity to do so. These
provisions:

« allow the authorized number of directors to be geahonly by resolution of our Board of Direct
e provide that our stockholders may remove our dineconly for caus
e establish a classified board of directors, suchrbaall members of the Board of Directors mayelexted at one tim

e authorize our Board of Directors to issue withstockholder approval up to 100,000,000 sharemofmon stock, that, if issued,
would dilute our stock ownership and could opeest@ “poison pill” to dilute the stock ownershipaopotential hostile acquirer to
prevent an acquisition that is not approved byRaard of Directors;

e authorize our Board of Directors to issue withstockholder approval up to 5,000,000 shares @fiepred stock, the rights of which
will be determined at the discretion of the Boaf@doectors that, if issued, could operate as as'po pill” to dilute the stock
ownership of a potential hostile acquirer to prenamacquisition that is not approved by our BazfrBirectors;

e require that stockholder actions must be effectedduly called stockholder meeting or by unanimatigen consen

« establish advance notice requirements for stolddn nominations to our Board of Directors or $twckholder proposals that can be
acted on at stockholder meetings;

« limit who may call stockholder meetings; :

* require the approval of the holders of 80% @f dlutstanding shares of our capital stock entitbeebte in order to amend certain
provisions of our certificate of incorporation aoyglaws.

In addition, we are governed by the provisions @ftidn 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Lhahich may, unless certain
criteria are met, prohibit large stockholders, amtigular those owning 15% or more of the votinghts on our common stock, from merging or
combining with us for a prescribed period of time.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
Iltem 2. PROPERTIES

We currently operate from a facility located in IShad, California. We do not own any real propelty-ebruary 2010, we entered into a
lease for an approximately 31,000 square footifgdit Carlsbad, California, the term of which driglly ran through September 2017. The
facility is part of a three-building office and essch and development project located at 5964 aeeRCourt, Carlsbad, California, and the
project totals approximately 160,000 rentable segjdieet. In January 2012, we signed a lease amendnhéch expanded our executive and
administrative office, research and developmerd,raanufacturing space by approximately an additiB8#00 square feet and extended the
term of the lease through June 2021. We believisotimacurrent and future leased facilities are adégto meet our needs for the foreseeable
future.
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Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are from time to time subject to various claansl legal actions in the ordinary course of ouiiriess. We believe that there are
currently no claims or legal actions that woulds@zably be expected to have a material adverseteffieour results of operations or financial
condition.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

PART II.

ltem 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock has been quoted on The NASDAQ & ldlarket under the symbol “GNMK” since May 28, 20Prior to that time,
our stock traded under the ticker symbol “OMH” de London Stock Exchange. The following table &ath, for the periods indicated, the
quarterly high and low sales prices per share otommon stock as reported on The NASDAQ Globalkdar

High Low

Year Ended Year Ended December 31, 2013

First Quarter $ 13.0: % 8.8¢
Second Quarter $ 16.0C $ 9.2t
Third Quarter $ 125¢ % 8.7¢
Fourth Quarter $ 1337 $ 10.7¢
Year Ended Year Ended December 31, 2012

First Quarter $ 47z $ 3.6:
Second Quarter $ 51C $ 3.7t
Third Quarter $ 95 $ 4.42
Fourth Quarter $ 10.2¢ % 7.5

Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total $tolcler returns on our common stock for the penmtidated with the cumulative to
stockholder returns on the NASDAQ Composite Inded the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index for the same qariThe graph assumes that
$100 was invested on May 28, 2010 in our commocksio each index and that all dividends were rest@@. No cash dividends have been
declared on our common stock. Stockholder retuves the indicated period should not be considemdaative of future stockholder returns.
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Total Return to Stockholders
(Assumes $100 investment on May 28, 2010)
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The last reported sale price of common stock onckl&; 2014 as reported on the NASDAQ Global Mavkas $12.18. As of March 3,
2014, there were 2,578 holders of record of ourroom stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividenasiocommon stock and do not expect to pay angelids for the foreseeable
future. We currently intend to retain any futurendiags to fund the operation, development and esiparof our business. Any future
determination to pay dividends will be at the ddikeretion of our Board of Directors and will dedarpon a number of factors, including our
results of operations, capital requirements, fimgrepndition, future prospects, contractual areangnts, restrictions imposed by applicable
law, any limitations on payments of dividends prése our current and future debt arrangements,adiher factors our Board of Directors may
deem relevant.

Item 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial d&tlates to GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and its cadatéd subsidiaries. The selected
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss datepted below of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. forytbars ended December 31, 2013,
2012, and 2011 and the selected consolidated dmkreet data of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. as aebBer 31, 2013, and 2012 have been
derived from the audited consolidated financialesteents of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc., which haverbgrepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in thetdé¢hBtates, or U.S. GAAP, included elsewhere is Arinual Report. The selected
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss datepted for the years ended December 31, 2012Gf@and the selected consolidated
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2010 hanedbeiged from the audited financial statementsimgtided in this Annual Report.

The selected consolidated statements of operatiatasof Osmetech plc presented below for the yeded December 31, 2009 and the
selected consolidated balance sheet data of Odmgliees of December 31, 2009 have been derived &adited consolidated financial
statements of Osmetech plc, not included in thiswah Report, which have been prepared in accordaitbd).S. GAAP.

The results for the periods shown below are noesearily indicative of the results to be expectedhfhy future periods. The selected
consolidated financial data should be read togetlitarthe “Management’s Discussion and Analysiiofancial

35




Table of Contents

Condition and Results of Operations” section anith wie consolidated financial statements and cosetboonsolidated financial statements of
GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and related notes induelsewhere in this Annual Report.

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss Data: (In thousands, except per share data)
Revenue
Product revenue $ 27,20¢  $ 20,21 % 4,70C % 2,341 % 911
License and other revenue 20C 25¢ 30¢ 22¢ 88
Total revenue 27,40 20,46¢ 5,00¢ 2,56¢ 99¢
Cost of revenue 15,89 11,64( 6,20¢ 3,97¢ 4,33:
Gross profit (loss) 11,51( 8,82¢ (1,197 (1,415 (3,339
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing 12,81¢ 6,37¢ 4,96¢ 4,55k 3,18:
General and administrative 11,51: 10,80¢ 8,96( 7,41°F 8,28¢
Research and development 22,06( 13,53¢ 8,73 6,64¢ 5,63¢
Total operating expenses 46,39( 30,72( 22,66¢ 18,61¢ 17,10¢
Loss from operations (34,88() (21,89) (23,867 (20,03) (20,439
Other income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net 69¢ (48) (74) — 33
Therapeutic discovery credit — — — 1,64¢ —
Other income (expenses) 583 (a6 19 (0] 304
Total other income (expense) 1,281 (64) (55) 1,64: 337
Loss before income taxes (33,599 (21,95%) (23,919 (18,389 (20,109
(Provision) for income taxes (44) (14¢) (52 (15) 13¢
Net loss $ (33,64) $ (22,109 $ (23,970 % (18,409 $ (19,967
Net loss per share, basic and diluted ¢ (0.95 $ (089 $ (.45 $ (1.89 $ (4.4
Weighted average number of shares
outstanding, basic and diluted 35,25¢ 26,21t 16,57: 9,791 4,527

Years ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

(In thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term

investments (1)(2)(3)(4) $ 105,58¢ $ 51,25( % 30,32( % 18,32¢ % 16,48:
Total assets 121,75 68,01¢ 38,18¢ 26,31« 19,33¢
Long-term liabilities 2,34¢ 2,39¢ 1,171 1,307 79t
Total liabilities 12,58¢ 11,56¢ 7,552 5,247 4,00¢
Accumulated deficit (224,209 (190,56¢) (168,46 (144,49) (126,091
Total stockholders’ equity (1)(2)(3)(4) 109,16¢ 56,45( 30,63 21,06" 15,32t

(1) In August 2013, we issued approximately 8.Hion shares of common stock at a price of $9.84share. We raised approximately $81.0
million in net proceeds.

(2) In June 2012, we issued approximately 11.fionikhares of common stock at a price of $4.20spare. We raised approximately $45.1
million in net proceeds.

(3) InJune 2011, we issued approximately 8.lionmlshares of common stock at a price of $4.25pare. We raised approximately $31.7
million in net proceeds.

(4) In June 2010, we closed our initial publicesfig, in which we sold approximately 4.6 milliomases of common stock at a price to the
public of $6.00 per share. We raised approxime#e®.6 million in net proceeds.
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ltem 7. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

You should read the following in conjunction witle t Selected Consolidated Financial Data” and trensolidated financial statements
of GenMark and the related notes thereto that appésewhere in this Annual Report. In addition tstbrical information, the following
discussion and analysis includes forward lookinfgimation that involves risks, uncertainties anduaptions. Actual results and the timing
events could differ materially from those anticgrhby these forward looking statements as a re$ultany factors, including those discussed
under the heading “Risk Factors” included elsewhgré¢his Annual Report. See also “Forward Lookirtgt8ments’included elsewhere in th
filing.

Overview

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc., or GenMark, was formgddsmetech plc, or Osmetech, as a Delaware corporiat February 2010.
GenMark had no operations prior to its initial gatdffering, which was completed in June 2010. Indrately prior to the closing of the initial
public offering, GenMark acquired all of the outslang ordinary shares of Osmetech in a reorgawizatnder the applicable laws of the Un
Kingdom. As a result of the reorganization, altleé issued ordinary shares in Osmetech were caddellconsideration of: (i) the issuance of
common stock of GenMark to the former shareholdé@smetech; and (ii) the issuance of new shar€@smetech to GenMark. Following the
reorganization, Osmetech became a wholly-ownedidialog controlled by GenMark, and the former shatdars of Osmetech received shares
of GenMark. Once the reorganization became effectill stock options granted under the OsmetecR@S U.S. Equity Compensation Plan,
long term incentive awards and all warrants isdue@®smetech were exchanged for options and warexetsisable for the common stock of
the GenMark. Any historical discussion of GenMaelates to Osmetech and its consolidated subsidiprier to the reorganization. In
September 2012, GenMark placed Osmetech into Edqjiaid to simplify its corporate structure. The lidation of Osmetech was competed in
the fourth quarter of 2013.

We are a molecular diagnostics company focusecewaldping and commercializing our proprietary eSefisletection technology. Our
proprietary electrochemical technology enables tasturate and highly sensitive detection of up2dalistinct biomarkers in a single sample.
Our XT-8 system received 510(k) clearance from the FDAianksigned to support a broad range of moleclidenostic tests with a comp:
and easy-to-use workstation and self-containegodisble test cartridges. Within approximately 3@utes of receipt of an extracted and
amplified nucleic acid sample, our XT-8 system proes clear and accurate results. Our XT-8 systepasts up to 24 independent test
cartridges, each of which can be run independergbylting in a highly convenient and flexible wibokv for our target customers, which are
hospitals and reference laboratories. As of Decer@be2013 , we had an installed base of 413 XThdlyaers, or placements, with our
customers.

Since inception, we have incurred net losses frparations each year, and we expect to continuectar iosses for the foreseeable
future. Our losses attributable to operationslieryears ended December 31, 2013, 2012 , andwéElapproximately $33.6 million , $22.1
million , and $24.0 million , respectively. As oePember 31, 2013 , we had an accumulated defi§224.2 million . Our operations to date
have been funded principally through sales of eapibck, borrowings and cash from operations. Weet to incur increasing expenses over
the next several years, principally to developarGen system and additional diagnostic tests,edisas to further increase our spending to
manufacture, sell and market our products.

Our Products and Technology

We have developed eight tests for use with our X8lys8em. Four of our diagnostic tests have receii2dl clearance, including our
Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, which detects tjerehanges associated with cystic fibrosis, ourféfin Sensitivity Test, which determines
an individual's ability to metabolize the oral atagulant warfarin, our Thrombophilia Risk Test,ethdetects an individua'increased risk
blood clots, and our Respiratory Viral Panel, whigihultaneously detects and differentiates 14 cdilty relevant viruses from patients with
influenza-like illnesses. Our eSen&dechnology has demonstrated 100% accuracy in alistedies compared to DNA sequencing and other
standards in our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Teast,Warfarin Sensitivity Test and our ThrombophHak Test. We have also developed two
HCV genotyping tests, a 3A4/3A5 genotyping test arBC19 genotyping test versions of which are abéél for research use only (RUO).

In addition, we are developing our NexGen systetiicivis being designed to integrate automated mualgd extraction and
amplification with our eSens@rdetection technology to enable technicians usiegNe@xGen system to be able to place a raw or amalityi
prepared patient sample directly into our testrichyé and obtain results without any additionapstélhis sample-to-answer capability is
enabled by the robust nature of our eSefisietection technology, which is not impaired by sEmmpurities that we believe hinder compet
technologies. We are designing our NexGen systefurtioer simplify workflow and provide powerful, steffective molecular diagnostics
solutions to a significantly expanded group of hiadp and reference laboratories. We are curretgiyeloping six assays for our NexGen
system, which include gram-positive and gram-nggatepsis panels, a respiratory viral panel (R¥Rjastrointestinal infection (Gl) panel, an
HCV
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genotyping test, and a central nervous system (@N&jtion panel We intend to continue investing in our NexGen syséad its related test
menu for the foreseeable future. We currently ekfmecomplete the development of our NexGen sysitethe middle of 2014, initiate the
European launch of the system in late 2014, antclathe system in the United States in the secatfdh2015.

Revenue

Revenue from operations includes product salescipally of our diagnostic tests for use with our-8 system. We primarily place our
XT-8 system with customers through a reagent reagedement, under which we retain title to therumaent and customers commit to
purchasing minimum quantities of reagents anddadtidges over a period of one to three yearsalde offer our XT-8 system for sale.

Revenue also includes licensing revenue from thdicensing of our electrochemical detection tedbgg. We may enter into additional
sub-licenses of our technology generating additiomzenue, but do not anticipate that this willyid® a significant portion of our future
revenue.

Our growth plans in 2014 focus primarily on reagemtal agreements with some sales of our curr@r8Xystem. In late 2014 and
beyond, our growth plans focus on sales and placeno our NexGen system that is currently undeetigpment. We do not anticipate any
domestic sales of our NexGen system in 2014 aimditetl number of international sales of our Nex@gstem in late 2014. We plan to
continue expanding our base of XT-8 customers gatkms as well as test utilization among our custsmiNe expect sales of our XT-8
cartridges to be our primary source of revenuendu?014 and until the commercial launch of our NemGystem and related tests.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues includes the cost of materiatectliabor and manufacturing overhead costs us#ttimanufacture of our consumable
test kits for our XT-8 system, including royaltiess product sales. Cost of revenues also includpesedmtion on revenue generating systems
that have been placed with our customers undexgere rental agreement, amortization of licensiaser@ to our products and other costs suct
as warranty, royalty and customer technical suppdet manufacture our test cartridges in our facémd have recently invested in significant
capacity for expansion. This potential underutdizapacity may result in a high cost of revenukgive to revenue, if manufacturing volumes
are not able to fully absorb operating costs. Ot¥8%systems are procured from a contract manufectand are generally capitalized as fixed
assets and depreciated on a straight line basigloeie useful life as a charge to cost of reveniés expect our cost of revenues to increase &
we place additional XT-8 systems and manufactudesafi an increasing menu of accompanying diagodssits; however, we expect our gros:
margins to increase as manufacturing efficienéeproved procurement practices, instrument relighihcreases and other improvements
decrease costs as a percentage of sales.

Sales and Marketing Expense¢

Sales and marketing expenses include costs assevith our direct sales force, sales managemearketing, technical support and
business development activities. These expensesply consist of salaries, commissions, beneditsck-based compensation, travel,
advertising, promotions, samples and trade shovese¥pect sales and marketing costs to increase asaledp our domestic and internatio
commercial efforts to expand our customer base.

Research and Development Expen:

Research and development expenses primarily ina@wgenses related to the development of our Nexx@trument and related test
menu. These expenses also include certain cliniodly expenses incurred in preparation for FDAreleee for these products, intellectual
property prosecution and maintenance costs, aniygassurance expenses. The expenses primarilyisted of salaries, benefits, stock-basec
compensation costs, outside design and consukingcss, laboratory supplies, contract researchroegtion expenses, clinical study supplies
and facility costs. We expense all research anéldpwment costs in the periods in which they areiired. We expect research and
development costs to increase as we complete dawelat of our NexGen system and invest in expanidénglated test menu.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses includeresgs related to our executive, accounting anddgmacompliance, information
technology, legal, facilities, human resource, adstiative and investor relations activities. Thegpenses consist primarily of salaries,
benefits, share-based compensation costs, indepeadditor costs, legal fees, consultants, tramelrance, and public company expenses,
such as stock transfer agent fees and listingfe@ge@SASDAQ. Included in general
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and administrative expenses for the year endedleee2013, is an impairment charge related todhaihation of a license agreement for
$1.6 million of previously capitalized license pagmits.

Foreign Exchange Gains and Losses

Transactions in currencies other than our functionerency are translated at the prevailing ratethe dates of the applicable transac
Foreign exchange gains and losses arise from €ifées in exchange rates during the period betweedate a transaction denominated in a
foreign currency is consummated and the date oohwibhis settled or translated. Prior to our idipablic offering in 2010, exchange gains and
losses included those arising on cash balanceslgelikmetech denominated in currencies other tisadmnctional currency, the British Pound.
Since the initial public offering, the functionalrcency of GenMark has been the U.S. dollar. Stheanitial public offering, foreign exchange
gains and losses have been primarily related taiatsalue under a single license agreement, which denominated in Euros. In connection
with the liquidation of Osmetech plc in the fouctharter of 2013, we realized a translation 10s$4%50,000 to eliminate accumulated other
comprehensive loss.

Interest Income and Interest Expen:

Interest income includes interest earned on our aad cash equivalents and investments. Inter@stinse represents interest incurred or
our loan payable and on other liabilities.

Provision for Income Taxe:!

We make certain estimates and judgments in det@rgiincome tax expense for financial statement pseg. These estimates and
judgments occur in the calculation of certain tageds and liabilities, which arise from differenaethe timing of recognition of revenue a
expense for tax and financial statement purposes.

We assess the likelihood that we will be able tmver our deferred tax assets. We consider allablaievidence, both positive and
negative, including historical levels of incomepegtations and risks associated with estimatestofd taxable income, and ongoing prudent
and feasible tax planning strategies in asseskmgéeed for the valuation allowance. If it is mitkely than not that we will not recover our
deferred tax assets, we will increase our provigionncome taxes by recording a valuation alloweaagainst the deferred tax assets that we
estimate will not ultimately be recoverable.

Our income tax returns are based on calculatiodsasasumptions that are subject to examination éyrtternal Revenue Service and
other tax authorities. In addition, the calculatadrour tax liabilities involves dealing with untainties in the application of complex tax
regulations. We recognize liabilities for uncerttm positions based on a two-step process. Tsiesfiep is to evaluate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of avaiklevidence indicates that it is more likely thar that the position will be sustained on au
including resolution of related appeals or litigatiprocesses, if any. The second step is to me#tstax benefit as the largest amount that is
more than 50% likely of being realized upon setdaimWhile we believe we have appropriate supporttfe positions taken on our tax retu
we regularly assess the potential outcomes of enations by tax authorities in determining the a@deguof our provision for income taxes. \
continually assess the likelihood and amount oépiil adjustments and adjust the income tax pi@mvishcome taxes payable and deferred
taxes in the period in which the facts that giwe tio a revision become known.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmeats and Estimates
Revenue

We recognize revenue from product sales and cdotbarrangements, net of discounts and saleetetakes. We recognize revenue
from product sales when there is persuasive eva#rat an arrangement exists, delivery has occutinedorice is fixed or determinable and
collectability is reasonably assured. Where appl&aall revenue is stated net of sales taxes ralg discounts.

We offer customers the choice to either purchasestem outright or to receive possession of a sy#tee of charge in exchange for a
commitment to purchase an annual minimum amountalécular diagnostic test cartridges.

When a system is sold, revenue is generally reeegnipon shipment of the unit consistent with aettterms. When a system is placed
free of charge under a "reagent rental" agreementgetain title to the equipment and it remainstediped on our balance sheet under propert
and equipment. Under our reagent rental agreemamtgustomers pay a system usage fee, whichlisded in the price of each test cartridge
purchased. Our reagents and diagnostic test agggiftonsumables) are priced to include the exparsestem usage and maintenance of the
system and are included in product revenue in onsalidated financial statements.
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We sell our durable systems and disposable tesidmrs primarily through a direct sales forcelia tUnited States. The system price is
not dependent upon the purchase of any amounspbsgable test cartridges. Revenue on system anchtésdge sales is generally recognized
upon shipment consistent with contract terms, wisalihen title and the risk of loss and rewardswfership have been transferred to the
customer and there are no other post-shipmentaitdius.

Revenue related to royalties received from licemsgenerally recognized evenly over the contrdqigaod to which the license relates.

In those cases where we bill shipping and handlosis to customers, the amounts billed are claslsifs other revenue.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accountsefstiimated losses resulting from the inability of oustomers to make required
payments. Our allowance for doubtful accounts &edaon our assessment of the collectability of iipexmistomer accounts, the aging of
accounts receivable, and the general conditiohettonomy. Increases to the allowance for doubtfobunts are charged to sales and
marketing expense.

Inventory

We value inventories at the lower of cost or madket part-bypart basis and provide an inventory reserve fomedéd obsolescence ¢
excess inventory based upon historical turnoveramsdmptions about future demand for our produslsaarket conditions. We determine
excess and obsolete inventories based on an estohtte future demand for our products within ecsfied time horizon, generally 12 mont
The estimates we use for demand are also usee#&ostarm capacity planning and inventory purchasimg are consistent with our revenue
forecasts. If our actual demand is less than awcst demand, we may be required to take additextass inventory charges, which would
decrease gross margin and adversely impact neatopgresults in the future.

Property and Equipmen— net

Property, equipment and leasehold improvementseam@ded at cost and depreciated using the strhightnethod over the assets’
estimated useful lives, which are noted below. Wieegally capitalize our XT-8 systems, and provluese to customers for no charge. Each
category of property and equipment is analyzeceterthine its useful life. We look at the manufaetat estimates of useful life and adjust
these for actual experience in our operating enwirent. Useful lives are reviewed periodically aedasionally changed as circumstances
dictate.

Machinery and laboratory equipment 3 -5years

Instruments 4 years

Office equipment 5 years

Leasehold improvements over the shorter of theaaimg life of the lease or the useful economie bf the asset

Repair and maintenance costs are expensed asadcuring 2013, we recorded an impairment chaf@302,000 related to producti
equipment which had been built for NMTC.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

We assess the recoverability of long-lived assetsyding intangible assets and systems at custéooations by periodically evaluating
the carrying value of such assets whenever evemisamges in circumstances indicate that the aagrgimount of these assets may not be
recoverable. If impairment is indicated, we writeath the carrying value of the asset to the estithti value. During the year ended
December 31, 2013, we recorded an impairment cr&r§ig, 624,000 related to previously capitalizegirpants made under a license
agreement, which we terminated in December 2013.

Stock-Based Compensation

We grant stock options with an exercise price etp#te closing price of our common stock on theS\RAQ Global Market on each
grant date. We use the Black-Scholes option-prigioglel as the method for determining the estimégizd/alue of stock options and we use
the grant date fair value of our common stock faluing restricted stock awards. The estimatedvidine of stock-based awards exchanged fo
employee and non-employee director services areresqul over the
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requisite service period. The stock-based compmsakpense related to shares issued under ourR@pByee Stock Purchase Plan is also
estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricingledoThe Black-Scholes model requires the usegtilhisubjective and complex
assumptions which determine the fair value of stogked awards, including the stock option’s expmktdem and the price volatility of the
underlying stock. These assumptions include:

* Expected Tern The expected term represents the period thradtouk-based awards are expected to be outstandiohis
determined by using the simplified method.

« Expected Volatilit, Expected volatility represents the volatilityour stock price expected over the expected tdrthe stock
option.

« Expected Dividen. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model cadis & single expected dividend yield as an input.a&&imed no
dividends as we have never paid dividends and haydans to do so.

* Risk-Free Interest Rate The risk-free interest rate used in the Bl&ckoles option-pricing model is based on published
government rates in effect at the time of granipfariods corresponding with the expected term efaption.

Income Taxes

Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets anitities and reserves for unrecognized tax benefifiect management’s best
assessment of estimated future taxes to be paicaré/eurrently subject to income taxes only inlinéited States but have been subject to
income taxes in both the United States and theedri{ingdom in previous years. Significant judgmeand estimates are required in
determining our consolidated income tax expense.

We believe that it is more likely than not that temefit from our deferred tax assets will not éalized. In recognition of this risk, we
have provided a full valuation allowance on thedeferred tax assets relating to our net operétisg carryforwards and other deferred tax
assets. If our assumptions change and we detethahgve will be able to realize our deferred taseds, the tax benefits relating to any reve
of the valuation allowance on deferred tax assdtve accounted for as a reduction of income tgxemse.

Changes in tax laws and rates could also affecrded deferred tax assets and liabilities in thertu Management is not aware of any
such changes that would have a material effectuomesults of operations, cash flows or financi@ipon.

We recoghnize tax liabilities in accordance with AB@pic 740 and we adjust these liabilities whenjadgment changes as a result of
evaluation of new information not previously avhl& Due to the complexity of some of these unaatitss, the ultimate resolution may result
in a payment that is materially different from @urrrent estimate of the tax liabilities. Theseealiénces will be reflected as increases or
decreases to income tax expense in the period ichvthey are determined.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronouncemerdgssaued by the Financial Accounting Standards @®aarthe
FASB, or other standard setting bodies that theeapt as of the specified effective date. We belitat the impact of recently issued
standards that are not yet effective will not haveaterial impact on our financial condition oruks of operations upon adoption.

In February 2013, the FASB issued guidance whighires an entity to report the effect of signifiteeclassifications out of accumula
other comprehensive income on the respective fémd in net income if the amount being reclassifiegquired under U.S. GAAP to be
reclassified in its entirety to net income. Forastamounts that are not required under U.S. GAAlReteeclassified in their entirety to net
income in the same reporting period, an entitydired to cross-reference other disclosures reduinder U.S. GAAP that provide additional
detail about those amounts. The guidance doeshaoige the current requirements for reporting radrime or other comprehensive income in
financial statements. This guidance was effectivarfterim and annual periods beginning after Ddwemni5, 2012, and was applied
prospectively. Our adoption of this guidance adasfuary 1, 2013 did not have a material impactuwrfinancial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued guidance for Presiemtaf an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net @prg Loss Carryforward, a
Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Egjsvhich provides explicit guidance on the finahstatement presentation of an
unrecognized tax benefit when a net operatingdass/forward, a similar tax loss, or a tax creditrgforward exists. The guidance is effective
prospectively for fiscal years, and interim periedthin those years, beginning after December 0332 with early adoption permitted. We
intend to adopt this guidance at the beginninguoffiost quarter
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of fiscal year 2014, and do not believe the adaptibthis guidance will have a material impact em consolidated financial statements or
related financial statement disclosures.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 201

2013 2012 $ Change % Change
Revenue $ 27,404,000 $ 20,469,000 $ 6,935,001 34%

Our product revenue consists primarily of revermoenfthe sale of reagents and test cartridges (coalsies) with a small component
from our sale of instruments and other revenuetfi®year ended December 31, 2013 , total reveraneased by $6,935,000 , or 34%
compared to the same period ended December 31,,2i2to higher consumable revenues of $25,286;66fus $19,619,000 in 2013 and
2012. respectively. This increase in consumablemeg was primarily driven by a 39% increase innlimber of our installed base of analy:
to 413 at December 31, 2013 from 297 as of Dece®beP012, despite a decrease in consumable utilizatiorapalyzer largely attributable
a lack of product purchases from NMTC during theosel half of the year. Revenue from NMTC represtafgproximately $8,162,000, or
30% of revenue, during the twelve months ended Dbee 31, 2013 . Our base business, which excluesnues from NMTC, grew 120% to
approximately $19,242,000 in the twelve months dridecember 31, 2013 compared with $8,756,000 fstime period ended December 31
2012. The increase in reagent revenue was ndi@tble to any one assay. Pricing changes wera n@terial cause of our significant incre
in revenue. In addition to the increase in reagevenue, higher instrument sales during the tweleaths ended December 31, 2013 result
an additional $1,124,000 of revenue over the sasniegin 2012. We anticipate that our XT-8 consulaa@mnd instrument revenues will
continue to grow, however, we expect to experienceeased revenue growth rates after the commdatiath of our NexGen system and its
related tests.

2013 2012 $ Change % Change
Cost of Revenue $ 15,894,000 $ 11,640,000 $ 4,254,001 37%
Gross Profit $ 11,510,000 $ 8,829,000 $ 2,681,00! 30%

The increase in cost of revenues for the year ebdegmber 31, 2013 compared to the year ended Dewedth, 2012 was primarily
related to the increase in consumable revenuesedaited standard cost of revenues in the curramgeas well as the addition of inventory
reserves and impairment of production equipmeninduhe current period due to NMTC's October 20a8Kouptcy filing. Increases in our
cost of revenues during the current year were piiynattributable to increased standard productso$ $2,097,000, inventory reserve of
$1,192,000, royalties and license amortization espeof $564,000, instrument depreciation, warranty repair of $365,000, customer
technical support cost of $139,000 and medicalatetdaxes of $299,000. These increases were offsalnufacturing efficiencies of
$187,000. We also incurred higher headcount reledsts of $156,000 to support manufacturing volyrhigher supplies and prototype
expenses of $216,000 due to increased productidwaidation of new vendors, higher temporary ladéxpense due to fluctuations in demand
of $205,000, and higher facility and depreciatigpenses of $832,000 due to our expanded produictitastructure and impairment of
production equipment, all of which were offset bgher absorption due to an increase in productaonie. The improvement to gross profit
during the current period of $2,681,000 was prifgatue to increased sales volumes and manufactaridgabsorption efficiencies. We also
continue to realize improved manufacturing efficies by driving process improvements related tgdabatch sizes, which has resulted in
improved manufacturing yields.

2013 2012 $ Change % Change
Sales and Marketing $ 12,818,000 $ 6,378,000 $ 6,440,00! 101%

The increase of $6,440,000 in sales and marketipgrese for the year ended December 31, 2013 , aedhpa the year ended
December 31, 2012 , was primarily driven by a ametincrease in our allowance for doubtful accowfit$2,745,000 mainly related to a bad
debt reserve for NMTC, an increase in salary expefi$1,326,000 to grow our sales and technicgbegeam, an increase in commissions
and bonus expense of $548,000 due to higher heatland performance, additional share based compensH# $623,000, higher samples
expense of $153,000 for new customers, consultipgrese of $482,000, and travel expenses of $166:@0hutable to our increase in volu
and our commitment to expand our domestic andnate@nal commercial organization.

2013 2012 $ Change % Change
General and Administrative $ 11,512,00 $% 10,806,000 $% 706,00( 7%

42




Table of Contents

The increase of $706,000 in general and adminigtraixpense for the year ended December 31, 26d@pared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 was primarily due to a one-timgairment charge of $1,624,000 related to our teation of a license agreement at the
end of 2013, which was partially offset by loweofassional services of $439,000, lower consultegsfof $274,000 and lower legal fees
$158,000.

2013 2012 $ Change % Change
Research and Development $ 22,060,000 $ 13,536,000 $ 8,524,00! 63%

The increase in research and development exper&&5#4,000 for the year ended December 31, 26@pared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 , was primarily due to an in@@&agosts associated with the development of mx@¢n system of $5,476,000 and an
increase in NexGen assay development costs of $989. The increase in NexGen assay developmeensgp is mainly due to an increase
overall research and development headcount.

2013 2012 $ Change % Change
Other Income (Expense) $ 1,281,000 $ (64,000 $ 1,345,00! (2,109)%

Other income (expense) represents non-operatimgria@nd expenses, earnings on cash and cash eqisyakstricted cash, marketable
securities, interest expense related to debt apitatteases. The change in other income (expdoséhe year ended December 31, 2013,
compared to year ended December 31, 2012 , waprduarily to the sale of our preferred stock invesht (recorded on the balance sheet in
other long-term assets) in Advanced Liquid Logig.] or ALL, in connection with ALL's acquisitioryBllumina, Inc. The sale of this
investment resulted in a $1,392,000 realized gaid,an increase in interest income earned on imeggs of $722,000. These gains were
partially offset by amortization expense of $314,6@m related investment activity and $450,00@odumulated other comprehensive loss,
which was realized upon the liquidation of our Uskibsidiary Osmetech plc in the fourth quarter@f2

2013 2012 $ Change % Change
(Provision) for Income Taxes $ (44,000 $ (148,000 $ 104,00( (70)%

Due to net losses incurred, we have only recordegbtovisions related to interest on uncertainp@asitions and minimum tax payments.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 201

2012 2011 $ Change % Change
Revenue $ 20,469,000 $ 5,009,000 $ 15,460,00 30%%

The increase in revenue for the year ended DeceBihex012 compared to the year ended Decembel031, &as primarily related to
the increase in consumable (reagent and testdgaldrrevenues. Consumable revenue increased apmatety $15,216,000 or 346%, to
approximately $19,619,000 for the year ended Deeer@b, 201Zrom approximately $4,403,000 in 2011. This incesgsreagent revenue w
primarily driven by an increase in the test offggravailable on our XT-8 instrument and a 78% iasegin the number of our installed base of
analyzers to 297 at December 31, 2012 , from 1@#/aer placements as of December 31, 2011 . Pratiagges were not a material cause of
our significant increase in revenue. The increaas mot attributable to any one assay; howeverpbarmacogenetics and infectious disease
assay revenue increased significantly more tharotiar assay panels. In addition to the increaseagent (consumables) revenue, higher
instrument sales during the year ended Decembe2@P, resulted in an additional $312,000 of reveswer 2011.

2012 2011 $ Change % Change
Cost of Revenue $ 11,640,00 $ 6,206,000 $ 5,434,001 88 %
Gross Profit (Loss) $ 8,829,000 $ (1,197,00) $ 10,026,00 (838)%

The increase in cost of revenues for the year ebdegmber 31, 2012 compared to the year ended Dewedth, 2011 was primarily
related to the increase in consumable (reagentesmtaartridge) revenues. The improvement to goosst (loss) of $10,026,000 was primarily
due to increased sales volumes and manufacturitieeties. The increase in volume, particularlyhe fourth quarter of 2012 with the
addition of our Respiratory Viral Panel and 3A4/3#5ts, allowed us to
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increase absorption of our fixed manufacturing £a$tapproximately $2,365,000, supporting the higlsdumes by increasing shift lengths i
more efficient usage of existing manufacturing lfies and equipment. We also continued to redfizeroved manufacturing efficiencies by
driving process improvements related to largertbatees, which resulted in substantially improveshofacturing yields

2012 2011 $ Change % Change
Sales and Marketing $ 6,378,000 $ 4,969,000 $ 1,409,00! 28%

The increase of $1,409,000 in sales and marketipgrese for the year ended December 31, 2012, cethparthe year ended December
31, 2011, was primarily driven by an increase iaryaexpense of $1,449,000, associated with oumeibment to increase and improve our
domestic commercial organization.

2012 2011 $ Change % Change
General and Administrative $ 10,806,000 $ 8,960,000 $ 1,846,00! 21%

General and administrative expense was $10,806¢008e year ended December 31, 2012 compared,868®00 for the same period
last year. The increase of approximately $1,84608¢€ due primarily to an increase of twelve headtoepresenting $807,000, building lease
expenses of $388,000, expenses associated withfaesliand ongoing liquidation activities relateddsmetech of $189,000, outside services
related to internal control testing and materiahlreess remediation of $176,000, and outside sexviceupport our human resources
department of $118,000.

2012 2011 $ Change % Change
Research and Development $ 13,536,000 $ 8,737,000 $ 4,799,00 55%

The increase in research and development exper$&e 139,000 for the year ended December 31, 2@i8pared to the year ended
December 31, 2011, was primarily due to an incrégasests associated with the development of owG¥m system of $4,667,000. In additi
the increase was due to the creation of new soétwavelopment and product technical support degautisito improve our product reliability
and enhance our product effectiveness of $1,165€se increases were partially offset by lowsegslevelopment expenses of $740,000 i
2012, since there were no clinical trials ongoingyy the year.

2012 2011 $ Change % Change
Other Expense $ (64,000 $ (55,000 $ (9,000 16%

Other expense represents non-operating revenuexghses, earnings on cash, cash equivalents stnidtesl cash and interest expense
related to debt, capital leases and foreign exahgagn. The change in other expense for the yaedebecember 31, 2012, compared to the
year ended December 31, 2011, was due primargyptimcrease in interest expense related to oupetgrit term loan and capital leas

2012 2011 $ Change % Change
(Provision) for Income Taxes $ (148,000 $ (52,000 $ (96,000) 185%

Due to net losses incurred, we have only recordegbtovisions related to United Kingdom tax intéi@s uncertain tax positions and
minimum tax payments and refunds.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

To date we have funded our operations primarilynftbe sale of our common stock, borrowings and &ash operations. We have
incurred net losses from operations each year amd hot yet achieved profitability. At December 3013 , we had $100,865,000 of working
capital, including $105,589,000 in cash, cash eajaivts, and short-term investments. Net cash usegérations increased $7,553,000 to
$23,796,000 for the year ended December 31, 20dpared to $16,243,000 for the year ended Decenthe2(.2. Net cash used in investil
activities increased $70,418,000 to $72,564,00@Heryear ended December 31, 2013 compared to&Ra for the year endddkecember 3:
2012 due primarily to the purchases of availablesfides securities of $76,190,000 . Net cash peallay financing activities increased
$36,514,000 to $80,833,000 for the year ended Dbeefil, 2013 compared to $44,319,000 for the yeded December 31, 2012 , due
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primarily to the issuance of approximately 8.8 millshares of our common stock in August 2013, framich we derived $81,037,000 in net
proceeds.

Cash Flows

The following table shows cash flow information fbe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and:2011

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Cash used in operating activities $ (23,796,000 $ (16,243,00) $ (19,214,00)
Cash used in investing activities (72,564,00) (2,146,00) (7,110,00)
Cash provided by financing activities 80,833,00 44,319,00 33,262,00
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes — — 53,00(
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent $ (15,527,00) $ 25,930,00 $ 6,991,00!

Cash flows used in operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities increase838/000 to $23,796,000 for the twelve months eridlecember 31, 2013 , compared to
$16,243,000 for the twelve months ended Decembge2@12 . The increase in cash used in operatingties was due primarily to an increase
in our net loss of $11,540,000 for the twelve merehding December 31, 2013 compared to the prar period which was partially offset by
an increase in provision for bad debt of $2,745 @08 stock-based compensation of $1,541,000 .

Cash flows used in investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities increase@1y,418,000 to $72,564,000 for the twelve montldedrDecember 31, 2012omparel
to net cash used in investing activities of $2,086,for the twelve months ended December 31, 2@i#ting 2013, we purchased $76,190,00C
in marketable securities, primarily consisting oforate debt and U.S. government investments whahpartially offset by proceeds from
sales of marketable securities and preferred 686,643,000 .

Cash flows provided by financing activities

Net cash provided by financing increased by $36&Ietto $80,833,000 for the twelve months endecebder 31, 2013 , compared to
net cash provided by financing activities of $498D0 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2@iing the third quarter of 2013, we
received proceeds from the issuance of our comrumk ®f $86,547,000 , less underwriting discourit$®174,856 and offering expenses of
$400,229 .

We have prepared cash flow forecasts which indjdetsed on our current cash resources availalaiews will have sufficient resources
to fund our business for at least the next 12 neontfe expect capital outlays and operating expereditto increase over the next several yeal
as we grow our customer base and revenues, andéxpa research and development, commercializatiehmanufacturing activities. Fact:
that could affect our capital requirements, in &ddito those previously identified, include, bu¢ aot limited to:

» the level of revenues and the rate of our revemoety;
« change in demand from our custom
« the level of expenses required to expand our Uh&irsternational commercial (sales and marketimgjyiies;

« the level of research and development investmeniimed to and develop our NexGen system and retastdnenu and maintain ¢
XT-8 system;

e our need to acquire or license complementary tdolies

« the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending andoecihg patent claims and other intellectual propeghts
e competing technological and market developmentd,

« changes in regulatory policies or laws that afteatoperation:

On August 13, 2013, we entered into an Underwrifiggeement, or the Underwriting Agreement, with. M®rgan Securities LLC
acting as sole book-running manager and as repegsenof the underwriters named therein, or the
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Underwriters, relating to the issuance and salg&22,000 shares of our common stock. Under tmestef the Underwriting Agreement, we
granted the Underwriters an option to purchaseowgntadditional 1,143,000 shares of our commorkstn August 19, 2013, we completed
the public offering of 8,765,000 shares of our camnrstock at a price of $9.84 per share and raipptbaimately $80,672,000 in net proceeds

Although we do not currently anticipate requirirdpdional capital, if additional capital is requiteve cannot be certain that it will be
available when needed or that our actual cash remeints will not be greater than anticipated. Ifraise additional funds through the issuance
of equity or convertible debt securities, the patage ownership of our stockholders could be sicanitly diluted, and these newly issued
securities may have rights, preferences or prieegenior to those of existing stockholders. Ifolbtain additional debt financing, a substantial
portion of our operating cash flow may be dedicatethe payment of principal and interest on suctebtedness, and the terms of the debt
securities issued could impose significant restricst on our operations. If we raise additional fatitrough collaborations and licensing
arrangements, we might be required to relinquighicant rights to our technologies or productsgant licenses on terms that are not
favorable to us.

In March 2010, we entered into a loan and secagtgement with Square 1 Bank, pursuant to whiclobtained a credit facility
consisting of a revolving line of credit in the ammb of up to $2,000,000 and an equipment term ipdahe amount of up to $2,000,000. In
March 2011, we amended the loan and security agneeto increase the line of credit to $3,000,000 subsequently extended the original
maturity date to July 2013.

In September 2012, we terminated the Square 1 Renkand security agreement and entered into a@ewloan with Banc of
California, consisting of the following two loans.

1) We increased the letter of credit provideduolandlord of our Carlsbad, California facility $758,000 from the previous letter of
credit of $500,000. The increase in the letterreflit was required by our landlord pursuant tosegond and third amendments to the
lease for our Carlsbad, California location, in wection with our lease of additional space atfddlity. This letter of credit was
secured with $758,000 of restricted cash at Dece®ibe2013 .

2) We obtained a variable rate term loan from BainCalifornia in the amount of $836,000 with aftial interest rate of 3.75%. This
term loan replaced the Square 1 equipment loaheo$ame amount with an interest rate of 6.75%. &@aid all outstanding amounts
under this loan in the third quarter of 2013.

Pursuant to the terms of the Banc of Californiaiess loan agreement, we were required to mainéainicted cash, honor certain
representations and warranties (including, butimdted to, organization, financial information atakes), affirmative covenants (including,
not limited to, financial records, insurance andiemmmental compliance and reports), negative cawen(including, but not limited to,
indebtedness and liens, continuity of operatiorslaans, acquisitions and guaranties) and othesigioms; however, we were not required to
maintain liquidity ratios, restrictive covenantsather limitations, to which we were subject untter Square 1 Bank loan and security
agreement.

Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2013, we had the following cactual obligations (in thousands):

Payments due by period

Less than 1-3 4-5 After 5

Total 1 Year Years Years Years
Operating lease obligations (1) $ 8,57t $ 1,05 $ 2,20C $ 227¢  $ 3,04t
Licensing payment obligation 3,08: 2,15¢ 77¢ 14€ —
Instrument purchase obligations 1,49¢ 83C 664 — —
Uncertain tax liability and interest (2) 61C 61C — — —
Total obligations $ 13,76: $ 4,65 $ 3,64: $ 2,42¢  $ 3,04¢

(1) We enter into operating leases in the ordimayrse of business with respect to facilities. [@ase agreements have fixed payment t
based on the passage of time. Certain facilitydeasquire payment of maintenance and real esteds.tOur future operating lease
obligations could change if we terminate certaintcacts or if we enter into additional operatingdes.
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(2) As of December 31, 2013, our expected casmpays on unrecognized tax benefits, including ageand penalties, were $610,000e
are unable to reasonably estimate the timing oértam tax liabilities and interest payments initdual periods beyond twelve months
due to uncertainties in the timing of the effectbedtlement of tax positions.

In February 2010, we entered into a lease for anogmately 31,000 square foot facility in Carlshb&alifornia, the term of which
originally ran through September 2017. The faciktypart of a three-building office and researctl davelopment project located at 5964 La
Place Court, Carlsbad, California, and the prdjei@ls approximately 160,000 rentable square feet.original monthly rental payments were
approximately $48,000, subject to 3% annual ina@ead/e originally paid a $55,000 security deposiar the terms of the lease and provided
a $500,000 standby letter of credit as securityfdtire rent.

In February 2011, we entered into a 36-month opegdtase for office equipment with total leaserpants of $85,000. In conjunction
with the lease, the lessor paid us approximateR;CKI0 to payoff previous contracts for similar guuoent leased from a different vendor.

In January 2012, we entered into a lease amendment existing lease agreement for adjoining figcipace for approximately an
additional 22,000 square feet. We are utilizingdbditional space to expand our manufacturing déif)eb and for additional office and
warehouse space. The lease amendment requiredigioal security deposit of $22,000 and an incegasour standby letter of credit to
$758,000 . We took possession of the additionatespa January 1, 2013, at which time the rent aszd by approximately $35,000 per
month, subject to annual increases of between 3%48&n The term of the lease was also extendedne 30, 2021.

In August 2012, we entered into a three year supghgement with Leica for the purchase of our Xisdrument. Amounts reported in
the table above reflect minimum purchase commitmantler this supply agreement which we can satisbugh instrument purchases or the
payment of a designated fee for each instrumerfaivtd purchase under the prescribed minimum artsywubject to certain permitted
exclusions.

Tax Obligations

As included in the table above, approximately $6Q0,0f unrecognized tax benefits, including $228,0Daccrued interest and penalt
have been recorded as liabilities and we are usiceas to if or when such amounts may be settled.

Impact of Inflation
The effect of inflation and changing prices on operations was not significant during the periodsspnted.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements. Wepgravaled a $758,000 standby letter of credit tolandlord as security for future
rent in connection the lease of our Carlsbad, @ati& facility, which is recorded as restrictedrcas the balance sheet.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk

Our exposure to market risk is limited to our casll cash equivalents, all of which have maturibidess than three months, and short-
term investments, which have maturities of less thi@e year. The goals of our investment policypaeservation of capital, fulfillment of
liquidity needs and fiduciary control of cash anddstments. We also seek to maximize income fronminmestments without assuming
significant risk. To achieve our goals, we mayha future maintain a portfolio of cash equivaleans investments in a variety of securities
management believes to be of high credit qualitg. &rrently do not hedge interest rate exposurealse of the short-term maturities of our
cash equivalents and short-term investments, weotibelieve that an increase in market rates wbhald a material negative impact on the
value of our portfolio.

Interest Rate Risk
As of December 31, 2013, based on current intea¢ss and total borrowings outstanding, a hypathke100 basis point increase or

decrease in interest rates would have an insigmifipre-tax impact on our results of operations.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Risks

All of our operating facilities are located withilne United States. We are a U.S. entity and owtional currency is the U.S. dollar.
Virtually all of our revenues are based in the BdiStates. In 2010, we entered into a license agreethat requires payment in Euros, and a
small portion of our expenses in the first quaote?010, relating to our corporate office, weregacted in British Pounds. We currently have
no material operations outside of the United Statésch significantly diminishes the extent of doyeign currency exchange risk we face.

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of GerkMziagnostics, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. as of Decer@be2013 , and the related
consolidated statements of comprehensive lossklsdters’ equity and cash flows for the year thedesl. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupoasibility is to express an opinion on these foiahstatements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the staigdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diss in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenewnelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our auditigges a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the consolidated financial position
of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. at December 31, 2043d the consolidated results of its operationsisnchsh flows for the year then ended, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accountinigciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the GenMark
Diagnostics, Inc.’s internal control over finanaiaporting as of December 31, 2013 , based orrieriéstablished in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSping Organizations of the Treadway Commissi@®2lframework) and our report
dated March 11, 2014 expressed an unqualified opitiiereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 11, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.
Carlsbad, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeet of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and subsatigthe “Company”) (formerly
Osmetech plc and subsidiaries) as of December@®R2, 2nd the related consolidated statements opreEimensive loss, stockholders’ equity,
and cash flows for the years ended December 32, 20d 2011. These consolidated financial statenegntthe responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion on these consolidated financiatistants based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, thasolidated financial position of GenMark
Diagnostics, Inc. and subsidiaries as of DecembgP312, and the results of their operations aei tash flows for the years ended Decer
31, 2012 and 2011, in conformity with accountinggiples generally accepted in the United State&roérica.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Diego, California

March 14, 2013
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GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value)

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments

Restricted cash

Accounts receivable—net of allowances of $2,736 $30l
Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

Property and equipment, net

Intangible assets, net

Restricted cash

Other long-term assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued compensation

Loan payable

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Long-term liabilities

Deferred rent

Loan payable, net of current portion

Other noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies—See note 7
Stockholders’ equity

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000 authdrizene issued

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 100,000 authori4ed20 and 32,753 shares issued and outsta
as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 ctieply

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.

As of December 31,

2013 2012
35,72 $ 51,25(
69,86¢ —

— 1,34¢
2,85¢ 3,19(
2,10: 1,99:

552 22€
111,10; 58,00:
8,591 7,074
1,197 1,83:
75¢€ —
10€ 1,10¢
121,75 $ 68,01¢
3,86: $ 2,44¢
3,37¢ 3,07¢

37 63¢
2,96 3,01¢

10,23" 9,17¢
1,601 1,72t
— 63

74¢ 604
12,58¢ 11,56¢
4 3
333,36: 247,44
(224,20 (190,561
10 (436€)
109,16¢ 56,45(
121,75 $ 68,01¢
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GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Revenue
Product revenue $ 27,20¢  $ 20,21: $ 4,70(
License and other revenue 20C 25¢ 30¢
Total revenue 27,40¢ 20,46¢ 5,00¢
Cost of revenue 15,89 11,64( 6,20¢
Gross profit (loss) 11,51( 8,82¢ (1,199
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing 12,81¢ 6,37¢ 4,96¢
General and administrative 11,51: 10,80¢ 8,96(
Research and development 22,06( 13,53¢ 8,731
Total operating expenses 46,39( 30,72( 22,66¢
Loss from operations (34,88() (21,89) (23,867)
Other income (expense)
Interest income 717 42 21
Interest expense (19 (90) (95)
Other income (expense) 583 (16 19
Total other income (expense) 1,281 (64) (55)
Loss before income taxes (33,599 (21,955 (23,919
(Provision) for income taxes (44) (14¢) (52
Net loss $ (33,64) % (22,109 $ (23,97()
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.95) $ 0.8 $ (1.4%)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding basidiluted 35,25 26,21¢ 16,57.
Other comprehensive loss
Net loss $ (33,64) % (22,109 $ (23,970)
Net unrealized loss on available-for-sale investisiamet of tax 4 — —
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax — — 14
Comprehensive loss $ (33,64) $ (22,109 $ (23,95¢)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents.
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GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands)

Common Stock Additional paid- Total
in Accumulated other ~ Accumulated stockholder'
Shares Par Value capital comprehensive los deficit equity
Balance—Dec 31, 2010 11,72¢  $ 1 % 166,00¢ $ (450 $ (14449) $ 21,067
Stock-based compensation expense — — 1,87 — — 1,872
Shares issued under stock-based compensa
plans, net of cancellations 62% — (29 — — (28)
Issuance of common stock, net of offering
expenses 8,12¢ 1 31,67¢ — — 31,67¢
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — 14 — 14
Net loss — — — — (23,970 (23,970
Balance—Dec 31, 2011 20,47¢ 2 199,53: (436) (168,46)) 30,63
Issuance of stock in lieu of accrued bonuses 93 — 25¢E — — 25E
Stock-based compensation expense — — 2,352 — — 2,352
Shares issued under stock-based compensation
plans, net of cancellations 682 — 228 — — 22%
Issuance of common stock, net of offering
expenses 11,50( 1 45,08¢ — — 45,08¢
Net loss — — — — (22,109 (22,109
Balance—Dec 31, 2012 32,75 3 247,44¢ (436) (190,56¢) 56,45(
Issuance of stock in lieu of accrued bonuses — — 652 — — 652
Stock-based compensation expense — — 3,89: — — 3,89¢
Issuance of employee stock purchase plan
shares 33 — 30C — — 30C
Restricted stock awards issued, net of
cancellations (122) — — — — —
Shares issued under stock-based compensation
plans 91 — 39¢ — — 39¢
Issuance of common stock, net of offering
expenses 8,76¢ 1 80,67: — — 80,67:
Elimination of cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustments upon liquidation of
foreign subsidiary — — — 45C — 45C
Net loss — — — — (33,649 (33,649
Unrealized loss on securities available-for-sale — % — % — % 4 $ — 4
Balance—December 31, 2013 41,52( % 4 3 333,36: $ 10 $ (224,209 $ 109,16¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.
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GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Operating activities:

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of premiums on investments
Stock-based compensation
Provision for bad debt
Non-cash inventory adjustments
Gain on sale of investment in preferred stock

Elimination of cumulative foreign currency trangbat adjustments upon liquidation of
foreign subsidiary

Impairment of intangible asset
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation
Other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Change in restricted cash
Purchases of available-for-sale securities
Payments for intellectual property licenses
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities agfénped stock
Maturities (purchases) of short-term investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Costs incurred in conjunction with public offering
Proceeds from borrowings
Principal repayment of borrowings
Proceeds from stock option exercises
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivakent
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Property and equipment purchased with capital lease
Transfer of systems from property and equipmeiat im¢entory
Property and equipment costs incurred but not jpeidded in accounts payable
Leasehold improvements related to lease incentives
Intellectual property acquisition included in acaiuexpenses
Offering costs incurred but not paid included ihetliabilities

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$ (33649 $ (22,100 $ (23,970
2,53( 1,19¢ 1,32€
314 — —
3,89: 2,35: 1,87:
2,721 (24) —
1,77¢ (482) 517
(1,392 — —
45¢ — —
1,62¢ — —
(2,390 (2,069) (420)
(1,319 88C (1,742
(119) 68 1,84¢
1,34: 72¢ 37¢
951 1,811 97¢
(544) 1,397 —
(23,796 (16,249 (19,21
58t (1,349 —
(76,190) (1,000) —
(882) (1,329) (734)
(4,270 (3,476) (1,376)
6,64: — —
1,55( 5,00( (5,000)
(72,569 (2,146) (7,110
86,54’ 48,30( 34,53
(5,510) (3,211) (2,854)
16€ 991 2,00(
(76€) (1,982 (417)
39¢ 227 —
80,83: 44,31 33,26
— — 53
(15,527 25,93( 6,991
51,25( 25,32( 18,32¢
$ 35720 $  51,25( $ 2532
$ — 3 10¢ $ —
$ 57t $ 225 % 46
$ 60 $ 59z $ 76
$ — % 1,35¢ $ —
$ 45C % — —
$ 65 $ — % —



Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash received for interest
Cash received for income taxes, net
Cash paid for income taxes
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See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.
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GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Organization and basis of presentation

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc., the Company or GenMasds formed by Osmetech plc, or Osmetech, as a Bedagorporation in February
2010, and had no operations prior to its initidblpuoffering, or the IPO, which was completed imé@ 2010. Immediately prior to the closing
of the IPO, GenMark acquired all of the outstandindinary shares of Osmetech in a reorganizatiateuthe applicable laws of the United
Kingdom. As a result of the reorganization, altleé issued ordinary shares in Osmetech were caddellconsideration of (i) the issuance of
common stock of GenMark to the former shareholdé@smetech and (ii) the issuance of new shar&smetech to GenMark. Following the
reorganization, Osmetech became a subsidiary dtmatrioy GenMark, and the former shareholders of €seh received shares of GenMark.
Any historical discussion of GenMark relates to @steh and its consolidated subsidiaries prior ¢orforganization. In September 2012,
GenMark placed Osmetech into liquidation to simpiti§ corporate structure. The liquidation of Osacitwas completed in the fourth quarter
of 2013.

As the reorganization was deemed to be a transagtider common control, GenMark accounted for #oeganization in a manner
similar to a pooling-of-interests, meaning:

i. assets and liabilities were carried over at thespective carrying value
ii. common stock was carried over at the nominal vafule shares issued by GenM:

iii. additional paid-in capital represented th#etience between the nominal value of the shamges by GenMark, and the total of the
additional paid-in capital and nominal value of @¢ech’s shares cancelled pursuant to the reorgamizand

iv. the accumulated deficit represented the aggreddte@ccumulated deficit of Osmetech and Genh

Once the reorganization became effective, all sagtlons granted under the Osmetech plc 2003 WBitfECompensation Plan, long
term incentive awards and all warrants issued wgchanged for options and warrants exercisablthtocommon stock of the Company.

Basis of Presentatiol

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd on a going-concern basis, which contempth&esealization of assets and the
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal courselafsiness. The Company has incurred net lossesdparations since its inception and has an
accumulated deficit of $224 million at December 3013 . Management expects operating losses tincenthrough the foreseeable future.
The Company's ability to transition to attainingfitable operations is dependent upon achievireyallof revenues adequate to support its
structure through expanding its product offeringd aonsequently increasing its product revenuesh Gzsh equivalents, restricted cash, and
investments at December 31, 2013 totaled $106amilliThe Company has prepared cash flow forecdstdwindicate, based on the
Company’s current cash resources available, tea€thmpany will have sufficient resources to furscbitisiness for at least the next 12 months

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieade been prepared in accordance with United Sgatesrally accepted accounting
principles, or U.S. GAAP, and applicable regulasiafi the Securities and Exchange Commission, oSH#@.

Principles of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include twants of the Company and its wholly owned subsiels. All intercompany accounts
and transactions have been eliminated in consadiulat
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Corporate Reorganization

During the quarter ended June 30, 2011, the Compadgrwent a corporate reorganization intendedhpl#y its U.S. entity structure.
As part of the reorganization, Osmetech Technofydie. merged into Clinical Micro Sensors, Ine.GMS, with CMS surviving.
Additionally, Osmetech plc converted to a U.K. lied company for U.K. legal and tax purposes, andenzan entity classification election to
treated as an entity disregarded from GenMark Diatics, Inc. for U.S. federal income tax purpo3és reorganization did not trigger any
material U.S. federal or U.K. income tax expensadifionally, the post-reorganization structure aia GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. to elect to
file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax retwith its remaining U.S. subsidiaries, CMS and Osulef Inc. The liquidation of Osmetech
was competed in the fourth quarter of 2013 .

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investment

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on depdsibanks, money market instruments and cediéis of deposit with original
maturities of three months or less at the dateuothmse. Short-term investments consist of ceatdis of deposits that mature in greater than
three months , but less than one year from theafgtarchase. The carrying amounts reported irbtiance sheets for cash, cash equivalents
and short-term investments, if any, are state@sttwhich approximates their fair market value.

Restricted Casl

Restricted cash represents amounts designateddsrather than current operations and includes,8@8&t December 31, 2013 held as
security for the Company’s letter of credit withrigaof California.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company uses a fair value hierarchy with tiegels of inputs, of which the first two are coresied observable and the last
unobservable, to measure fair value:

* Level 1 —Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities

* Level 2 — Inputs, other than Level 1, that aoservable, either directly or indirectly, such astgd prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are adtive; or other inputs that are observable ortanorroborated by observable
market data for substantially the full term of Hssets or liabilities.

« Level 3— Unobservable inputs that are suppadbtetittle or no market activity and that are siigant to the fair value of the assets
or liabilities.

The carrying amounts of financial instruments sasltash and cash equivalents, accounts receiyabfmid expenses and other current
assets, accounts payable, and accrued liabilgipoaimate the related fair values due to the stewrh maturities of these instruments.

Receivable:
Accounts receivable consist of amounts due to thmgany for sales to customers and are recordeaf et allowance for doubtful

accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts terd@ned based on an assessment of the colletyadiilspecific customer accounts, the
aging of accounts receivable, and a reserve fonank items based upon the Company’s historical esipee.

The allowance for doubtful accounts as of Decen3ieR013 , is as follows (in thousands):

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Balance December 31, 2012 $ 30
Provision for doubtful accounts 2,721
Write-off and recoveries, net (15)

Balance December 31, 2013 $ 2,73¢
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The Company has included $2,702,000 in the allowdocdoubtful accounts as of December 31, 201®&st due amounts from
NMTC. The allowance for bad debt provision and g-off recovery activity for the years ended 2012 a86d1 were not material.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (finsfirst-out) or market and include direct laboraterials, and manufacturing overhead.
The Company periodically reviews inventory for eande of slow-moving or obsolete parts or finishedds, and writes inventory down to
market, if applicable. This write-down is basednsanagement’s review of inventories on hand, contprestimated future usage and sales,
shelf-life assumptions, and assumptions aboutikieéHood of obsolescence. If actual market coodii are less favorable than those projecte
by the Company, additional inventory write-downsyrba required. Inventory impairment charges esthldi new cost basis for inventory and
charges are not reversed subsequently to incoree,ieircumstances later suggest that increasegling amounts are recoverable.

Property and Equipmer-net

Property, equipment and leasehold improvementsea@ded at cost and depreciated using the strlightnethod over the estimated
useful lives of the assets, which are:

Machinery and laboratory equipment 3 -5 years

Instruments 4 years

Office equipment 5 years

Leasehold improvements over the shorter of theahaimg life of the lease or the useful economie bf the asset

Property and equipment includes diagnostic instntenased for sales demonstrations or placed witoowers under several types of
arrangements, including performance evaluationnarmng (PEPs) and rentals. PEPs are placed withmassdor evaluation periods of updix
months . The customer is generally required tolpase a minimum quantity of reagents and, at theoétite evaluation period, must purchase
or return the instrument or sign a reagent rerged@ment. Maintenance and repair costs are expassedurred. During the year ended
December 31, 2013 the Company recorded an impairoiamge included in depreciation expense of $32r@lated to production equipment
which had been built for NMTC.

Intangible Asset:

Intangible assets are comprised of licenses oicartdes to technology covered by patents ownedily parties, and are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the expected useful Infethese assets, which is generally 10 years. Aradion of licenses typically begins upon the
Company obtaining access to the licensed technaagyis recorded in cost of revenues for licenspparting commercialized products. The
amortization of licenses to technology supportingdpicts in development is recorded in researchdanelopment expenses.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the recoverability of loreglassets, including intangible assets, by peftigievaluating the carrying value
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdibat the carrying amount may not be recoverdbimpairment is indicated, the Compa
writes down the carrying value of the asset te#tsmated fair value. This fair value is primardgtermined based on estimated discounted ca
flows. During 2013, the Company recorded an impaiththarge of $1,624,000 to general and adminigtraxpenses related to previously
capitalized payments made under a license agreembkith the Company terminated in December 201& Tbmpany also recorded an
impairment charge of $302,000 related to productiqnipment built for NMTC during 2013. The Compatig not recognize any impairment
charges during the years ended December 31, 2@ 2041

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesméntonformity with accounting principles geneyalktcepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimatessmuaingptions that affect the amounts reported ifitlaacial statements and the notes
thereto. The Company’s significant estimates inetuth the preparation of the financial statemergs@lated to accounts receivable,
inventories, property and equipment, intangibletssemployee related compensation accruals, wgiiabilities, tax valuation accounts and
share-based compensation. Actual results couldrdiibm those estimates.
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Segment Reportin

The Company currently operates in one reportaldénkess segment, which encompasses the developmeemifacturing, sales and
support of instruments and molecular tests basets @moprietary eSensédetection technology. Substantially all of the Camys operation
and assets are in the United States of America.

Revenue Recognitio

The Company recognizes revenue from product salkksantract arrangements, net of discounts ang selleted taxes. The Company
recognizes revenue from product sales when thgrergiasive evidence that an arrangement exidigedehas occurred, the price is fixed or
determinable and collectability is reasonably aesgur

The Company offers customers the choice to eitbehase a system outright or to receive a systeendf charge in exchange for an
annual minimum purchase commitment for diagnosst tartridges. When a system is sold, the Comgangrally recognizes revenue upon
shipment of the unit, however, if the end userayehas the instrument being purchased installéd kication, revenue is recognized whern
revenue recognition terms other than delivery Haaen satisfied. When a system is placed free afyehander a “reagent rental” agreement,
the Company retains title to the equipment andritains capitalized on the balance sheet under gyogred equipment. Under reagent rental
agreements, the Company’s customers pay an adalisgatem rental fee for each test cartridge pwethavhich varies based on the monthly
volume of test cartridges purchased. The systemalrése and diagnostic test cartridges are receghnds contingent rental payments and are
included in product revenue in the Company’s cadatéd financial statements.

The Company has not had significant product retantsis not contractually obligated to accept rtumless such returns are related to
warranty provisions. The Company does not acceygart product returns, mainly due to FDA regulatj@and does not offer volume rebates
or provide price protection.

The Company enters into PEP agreements pursuartith a system is installed on the premises ofagualified customer for the
purpose of allowing the customer to evaluate tlstesy’'s functionality over an extended trial peride customer generally agrees to purchas
a starter kit at the time of installation and agreepurchase a minimum volume of reagents ovelifthef the trial period.

Revenues related to royalties received from licerse recognized evenly over the contractual pedadhich the license relates.
In those cases where the Company bills shippinghandling costs to customers, the amounts billedrarluded in product revenue.
Product Warranties

The Company generally offers a one -year warramtyt$ systems sold to customers and up to a sixgywarranty for reagents and
provides for the estimated cost of the product arsr at the time the system sale is recognizedoFathat affect the Company’s warranty
reserves include the number of units sold, hissband anticipated rates of warranty repairs apcttist per repair. The Company periodically
assesses the adequacy of the warranty reservelprstissthe amount as necessary.

Product warranty reserve activity for the yearseshDecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 is as fol{owthousands):

2013 2012 2011
Beginning balance $ 217 % 92 $ 25
Warranty expenses incurred (649) (305) (135)
Provisions 65¢ 43C 20z
Ending balance $ 22€ $ 217 % 92

Research and Development Co

The Company expenses all research and developroststio the periods in which they are incurred sskbere is alternative future use
that supports the capitalization of an asset.
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Income Taxes

Current income tax expense is the amount of incaxes expected to be payable for the current yedeferred income tax liability or
asset is established for the expected future tagempences resulting from the differences in firdmeporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities. A valuation allowance is provided ffis more likely than not that some or all of trefatred tax assets will not be realized. A full
valuation allowance has been recorded against dingp@ny’s net deferred tax assets due to the umegrgurrounding the Company'’s ability
to utilize these assets in the future. The Compmunyides for uncertain tax positions when suchp@asitions do not meet the recognition
thresholds or measurement standards prescribdtelguthoritative guidance on income taxes. Amofartancertain tax positions are adjusted
in periods when new information becomes availablelten positions are effectively settled. The Conypaecognizes accrued interest related
to uncertain tax positions as a component of inctarexpense.

A tax position that is more likely than not to lealized is measured at the largest amount of tagflighat is greater than 50% likely of
being realized upon settlement with the taxing axityr that has full knowledge of all relevant infioation. Measurement of a tax position that
meets the more likely than not threshold consitle@samounts and probabilities of the outcomesdbald be realized upon settlement using
facts, circumstances and information availabldatreporting date.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@nsepelated to stock options, shares purchasest thel Company's 2013
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP, restritbell awards, and restricted stock units grantezhiployees and directors in exchange for
services. The compensation expense is based daithvalue of the applicable award utilizing varsoassumptions regarding the underlying
attributes of the award. The stock-based compensatipense is recorded in cost of revenues, satemarketing, research and development,
and general and administrative expenses basecc@niployee's respective function.

The estimated fair value of stock options granted,of forfeitures expected to occur during thetmgsperiod, is amortized as
compensation expense on a straight-line basidlecteresting as it occurs. The expense is derfvaah the Black-Scholes Option Pricing
Model that uses several judgment-based variablealtwlate the expense. The inputs include the@gdderm of the stock option, the
expected volatility and other factors.

* Expected TernExpected term represents the period that the dtaskd awards are expected to be outstanding aedeignined by
using the simplified method.

« Expected Volatilit, Expected volatility represents the volatiliythe Company’s stock price expected over the ebgoeterm of
the option and is determined by review of the Comyfsaand similar companies’ historical experience.

« Expected Dividen. The Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model cafis & single expected dividend yield as an inpue Tompany
assumed no dividends as it has never paid dividand$as no current plans to do so.

« Risk-Free Interest Rate. The risk-free interest rate used in the Blackebes Option Pricing Model is based on publishes.U
Treasury rates in effect at the time of grant ferigds corresponding with the expected term obfbtéon.

The compensation expense related to the granstfaied stock awards or units is calculated agdhanarket value of the stock on the
grant date as further adjusted to reflect expeitidditures.

Foreign Currency Translation

Prior to 2011, the Company changed its functionalency from the British Pound to the U.S. DolRrior to this change, monetary
assets and liabilities of the Company’s entitietsiole of the U.S. were translated into U.S. dolmsed on foreign currency exchange rates in
effect at the end of each period, and revenue&apenses were translated at weighted average egehares during the periods. Gains or
losses resulting from these foreign currency titiwis of the Company’s assets and liabilities weoerded in accumulated other
comprehensive loss in the consolidated balancesHgpon the liquidation of Osmetech in the fougtlarter of 2013, $450,0Q8 accumulate:
other comprehensive loss was realized.

Transactions in foreign currencies were recogniradg the rate of exchange prevailing at the dbtkeotransaction. Foreign exchange
gain (loss), which is included in the accompanyingsolidated statements of operations, totaledd®D9, $6,000 and $6,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respBgtand relate primarily to transactions denomgdadh U.S. dollars which were paid in
Euros.
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Net Loss per Common Shau

Basic net loss per share is calculated by divitiisg available to stockholders of our common s{tlo& numerator) by the weighted
average number of shares of our common stock aulistg during the period (the denominator). Shasssed during the period and shares
reacquired during the period are weighted for thetipn of the period that they were outstandindutd loss per share is calculated in a sir
way to basic loss per share except that the deratariis increased to include the number of addiighares that would have been outstandin
if the dilutive potential shares had been issuddasthe effect would be anti-dilutive.

The computations of diluted net loss per shardiferyears ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 20Xbtinclude the effects of the

following stock options and warrants to acquirektavhich were outstanding as of the end of each lyeeause the inclusion of these securitie
would have been anti-dilutive (in thousands).

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Options outstanding to purchase common stock 1,821 1,53¢ 1,59¢
Warrants — — 88
Unvested restricted stock 97€ 96¢€ 40z
Total 2,79% 2,50¢ 2,09(

Concentration of Risk

The Company had sales to individual customers sepiteng greater than 10% of the total revenuethiyears ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011, as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Natural Molecular Testing Corporation 30% 58% 20%
Companion Dx Reference Labs, LLC — 1% —

Comprehensive Loss

The Company has the option to present the totebofprehensive income, the components of net incanetthe components of other
comprehensive income either in a single continga®ment of comprehensive income or in two sepdmatt consecutive statements. The
Company’s comprehensive loss is comprised of rest &md foreign currency translation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

From time to time, new accounting pronouncemereggsaued by the Financial Accounting Standard Baarrthe FASB, or other
standard setting bodies that the Company adopittag specified effective date. The Company beliethat the impact of recently issued
standards that are not yet effective will not haveaterial impact on its financial position or riésof operations upon adoption.

In February 2013, the FASB issued guidance, whacfuires an entity to report the effect of significeeclassifications out of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ®nepective line items in net income (loss) ifdingount being reclassified is required
under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified in its entiretynet income. For other amounts that are not reduinder U.S. GAAP to be reclassified in
their entirety to net income in the same reporfiagod, an entity is required to craosference other disclosures required under U.S. B
provide additional detail about those amounts. giidance does not change the current requirementsgporting net income or other
comprehensive income in financial statements. ghidance was effective for interim and annual msibeginning after December 15, 2012,
and was applied prospectively. The Company's adomt this guidance did not have a material impeacthe Company's consolidated finan
statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 .

3. Intangible Assets, net
Intangible assets as of December 31, 2013 and @@islsted of the following (in thousands):
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December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Gross Net Gross Net
carrying Accumulated carrying carrying Accumulated carrying
amount amortization amount amount amortization amount
Licensed intellectual property $ 2,40¢ $ (1,212 $ 1,197 $ 3,14 % (1,312) $ 1,83

In October 2010, the Company entered into an extallal property license agreement which requiredrmim payments of €1.0 million
(approximately $1.4 million as of December 31, 20b3our equal installments over two years andtamred provisions for additional
licensing fees of €1.25 million (approximately $infllion ) and additional royalty payments basedelated product sales. As of December
31, 2013 the Company had made license fee payrt@atsg $2.1 million to the licensor. The Compaayminated this license agreement in
December 2013 and recorded an impairment chargerteral and administrative expenses for the remginét book value of $1.6 million at
that time.

In March 2012, the Company entered into a licelggeeanent with Caliper Life Sciences Inc., or Calipairsuant to which the Company
obtained a non-exclusive license under Calipermofiuidics patent portfolio. In consideration fiie license, the Company agreed to pay
Caliper $400,000 in up-front payments recordednaigtangible asset on the Company’s balance sltegtcprtain sales-based milestone
payments, as well as a royalty on the sale of ikepi@ducts. As part of the agreement, the Compmuédntgined an unconditional release from
and all claims based upon any alleged infringeréttie licensed patents prior to the effective ddthe agreement. The Company met a
sales-based milestone in March 2013 triggeringyangat of $450,000 , which was made after the figeak during which the milestone was
achieved.

In July 2012, the Company entered into a developmaifaboration and license agreement with Advarldgdid Logic, Inc., or ALL,
which was acquired by lllumina, Inc. in July 20LBder the terms of the agreement, the Companylestat a collaborative program to
develop in-vitro diagnostic products incorporatilgL’s proprietary electro-wetting technology in ganction with the Company’s
electrochemical detection. The Company paid ALlupfront license payment of $250,000 and agreecyoup to $1,750,000 in potential
additional milestone payments. Pursuant to theesgest, the parties agreed to enter into a suppbeagent relating to the manufacture and
supply of certain ALL components. The agreemerd ptevides that the Company would, upon the ocoweef certain events, be obligatet
pay to ALL a royalty consisting of a low- to midagile digit percent of net sales of designated Beermproducts containing ALL components
which the Company manufactures or are otherwisenastufactured and supplied by ALL.

Intellectual property licenses had a weighted ayeramaining amortization period of 8.3 years aBefember 31, 2013 . Amortization
expense for intangible assets amounted to $342,$200,000 and $98,000 for the years ended Dece®ih@013 , 2012 and 2011 ,
respectively. Estimated future amortization expdnsehese licenses is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31, Future Amortization Expense

2014 $ 14¢
2015 14¢
2016 14£
2017 144
2018 14C
Thereafter 47C
Total $ 1,197

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coyngsoorded an impairment charge of $1,624,000edlad previously capitalized
payments made under a license agreement, whicbnweniated in December 2013.

4. Stockholders’ Equity
Follow-on Stock Offering

In August 2013, the Company completed a publiofetbn stock offering of 8,765,000 shares of its owon stock which generated net
cash proceeds of approximately $80,672,000 .

5. Stock-Based Compensation
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In 2010, the Company adopted the 2010 Equity Irzertlan, or the 2010 Plan, which provides forghent of incentive and
nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock, stmgreciation rights, restricted stock units, iettd stock bonuses and other stock-based
awards. Employee participation in the 2010 Plaat ithe discretion of the compensation committetnefboard of directors of the Company.
All options granted under the 2010 Plan are exabtésat a price equal to the closing quoted markiee of the Company’s shares on the
NASDAQ Global Market on the date of grant and gatgwvest over a period of betweone and four years.

Options are generally exercisable for a periodoupQ years after grant and are forfeited if emplegtris terminated before the options
vest. As of December 31, 2013, there were 391s®a6es available for future grant of awards unider2010 Plan.

The following table summarizes stock option acyidtiring the year ended December 31, 2013 :

Weighted
Number of average
shares exercise price

Outstanding December 31, 2012 1,538,71. $ 5.42
Granted 518,95( $ 11.2%
Exercised (85,46 $ 4.7%
Forfeitures (150,97) $ 7.9¢
Outstanding December 31, 2013 1,821,211 % 6.8¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 1,031,90- ¢ 5.5

The weighted average fair value of options gradiigihg the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012@ht was $7.30 , $3.80 and
$2.86 per share, respectively. Options that weeeagsable as of December 31, 2013 had a remaing@ighted average contractual term of 6.7+
years and an aggregate intrinsic valu$7,997,000 . The intrinsic value of options exerdigluring the years ended December 31, 2013 and
2012 was $730,000 and $277,000 respectively. Niomptvere exercised in the year ended Decembe2®1L. As of December 31, 2013 ,
there were 1,821,216 stock options outstandingclivhad a remaining weighted average contractual ¢€r7.57 years and an aggregate
intrinsic value of $11,724,000 .

Valuation of Stock-Based Awards

The assumptions used in the valuation of stockébasweards for the years ended December 31, 20182 &0d 2011 , are summarized in
the following table:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Expected volatility (%) 74% 75% 70%
Expected life (years) 6.0¢ 5.92 6.07
Risk free rate (%) 1.17% 0.97% 2.3(%
Expected dividend yield (%) —% —% —%

The Company is required to estimate potential farfes of restricted stock grants and adjust corsgion cost recorded accordingly.
The estimate of forfeitures is based on histofficekiture experience and will be adjusted overrdguisite service period to the extent that
actual forfeitures differ, or are expected to diffeom such estimates. Changes in estimated farfes will be recognized through a cumulative
catch-up adjustment in the period of evaluationailidalso impact the amount of stock compensagapense to be recognized in future
periods.

Share Warrants

During 2009, the Company issued warrants to pueeB8s317 of Osmetech’s ordinary shares with anoeseprice of £6.90 per share to
a director for services to the Company in connectiith a stock offering completed in 2009. Pursuarthe terms of the warrant, this warrant
was converted in connection with the Company’sganization into a warrant to purchase 88,317 shafrdbsee Company’s common stock at an
exercise price of $9.98 . These warrants were ftdlsted and exercisable upon issue, and expirecerrised on June 30, 2012.
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Restricted Stock Awards and Uni

Restricted stock awards or units may be grantéoeadiscretion of the compensation committee ofiberd of directors under the 2010
Plan in connection with the hiring or retentionpaefsonnel and are subject to certain conditionstrR&ons expire at certain dates after the
grant date in accordance with specific provisionthe applicable award agreement.

The Company'’s restricted stock activity for theryeaded December 31, 2013 was as follows:

Restricted Stock Awards Restricted Stock Units

Weighted Weighted

Number Average Number Average

of Grant Date of Grant Date

shares Fair Value shares Fair Value
Unvested at December 31, 2012 965,71( % 4.6€ — 3 —
Granted 9,77¢ $ 10.9¢ 535,17¢ $ 11.4¢
Vested (337,360) $ 4.4¢ (6,03) $ 14.0C
Forfeitures (136,83) $ 6.04 (54,300 $ 10.7¢
Unvested as December 31, 2013 501,28¢ ¢ 4.54 474,84 ¢ 11.57

As of December 31, 2013, there was $1,554,000wFaognized compensation cost related to restritimek awards. That cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted averageepbof 1 year . The total fair value of restritsock awards and units that vested during
the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 283 $Ww601,000 , $724,000 , and $948,000 , respédctikks of December 31, 2013 , there
was $2,901,000 of unrecognized compensation clagerkto restricted stock units. That cost is elgkto be recognized over a weighted
average period of 1.46 years.

During the years ended December 31, 2013 , 20&& 2611 restricted stock compensation chargedperese was $2,340,000 ,
$1,222,000 , and $911,000 respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense Recognition

Stock-based compensation was recognized in theolidated statements of operations as follows (@ufands):

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Cost of revenue $ 16z $ 12t % 41
Sales and marketing 1,22 55¢ 297
Research and development 613 50¢ 40¢
General and administrative 1,89¢ 1,16(C 1,12t
Stock-based compensation expense $ 3,89: $ 235 $ 1,872

No stock-based compensation was capitalized ddinegeriods presented, and there was no unrecabjt@zxébenefit related to stock-
based compensation for the years ended Decemb20383,, 2012 and 2011 , respectively. At DecemiiePB13 , the estimated total
remaining unamortized compensation expense, rferfeftures, associated with stock-based awardsappsoximately $7,473,000 , which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-averagedoof 1.32 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

Following the adoption of the ESPP by the Compabyard of directors in March 2013, the Companyslgiolders approved the ESPP
in May 2013 at the Company's Annual Meeting of Bhmdders. A total of 650,000 shares of the Compsuegmmon stock are reserved for
issuance under the ESPP, which permits eligiblel@yaps to purchase common stock at a discount ghrpayroll deductions.

The price at which stock is purchased under theFESRqual to 85% of the fair market value of thenmon stock on the first or the last
day of the offering period, whichever is lower. @gmally, each offering under the ESPP will be faresiod
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of six months as determined by the Company's bobditectors; provided that no offering period megceed 27 months . Employees may
invest up to 10% of their gross compensation thinqpayroll deductions. In no event may an employgelm|se more than 1,500 shares of
common stock during any six-month offering peridd.of December 31, 2013 , there were 616,561 sttdresmmon stock available for
issuance under the ESPP. As the ESPP is a compgnpkn as defined by the authoritative guidammresfock compensation, stock-based
compensation expense has been recorded duringénenpded December 31, 2013 .

A summary of ESPP activity for the year ended Ddmem31, 2013 is as follows (in thousands, exceatestand per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2013

Shares issued 33,43¢
Weighted average fair value of shares issued $ 10.5:
Employee contributions $ 30C

The fair value of each purchase option under thRFES estimated at the beginning of each six-mofidring period using the Black-
Scholes model with the following weighted-averagsumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2013
Expected volatility (%) 74%
Expected life (years) 0.4
Risk free rate (%) 0.07%
Expected dividend yield (%) —%

6. Income Taxes
For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 2@ht, all pretax earnings and losses were genkiratbe United States.
The components of income tax expense were as felfomthe years ended December 31, 2013, 201& 2@11 , respectively (in

thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Current expense:
U.S. provision $ — 8 — 3 —
State 44 102 2C
Foreign (non-U.S. entities) — 45 32
Total current expense $ 44 % 148 $ 52

The components of net deferred income taxes ceasdtthe following at December 31, 2013 and 20E3pectively (in thousands):
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As of December 31,

2013 2012
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):
NOL and credit carryforwards $ 31,89: $ 23,85¢
Compensation accruals 1,91z 1,241
Accruals and reserves 2,39¢ 1,13¢
State tax provision 5 9
Federal benefit of state UTP 17z 16¢
Inventory adjustments 53¢ 1,03:
Intangible assets 1,31¢€ 834
Mark to market of marketable securities 111 —
Subtotal: Deferred tax assets 38,34 28,28(
Depreciation (494) (632)
Valuation allowance (37,84%) (27,649
Net deferred income taxes $ — % —

A reconciliation of income tax expense to the amta@amputed by applying the statutory federal incaenerate to the loss from
operations is summarized for the years ended Deee81 2013, 2012, and 2011 , respectively, bovs:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
U.S. Federal statutory income tax rate 34.C% 34.C% 34.C%
Permanent differences (1.9% (0.9% (0.7%
State taxes (1.0% 5.3% (0.2%
Effect of non-U.S. operations — % (0.2% (0.)%
Section 382 limitation on NOLs — % — % (4.9%
Other (0.9% (0.2% (1.9%
Valuation allowance (30.9% (38.9% (27.)%
Total tax provision (0.1)% (0.9% (0.2%

The Company had federal net operating loss (NObryfrwards available of approximately $89.9 mifliand $63.7 million as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively, aftesideration of limitations under Section 382 of thiernal Revenue Code, or Section 382,
as further described below. Additionally, the Comphad state NOL carryforwards available of $56illian and $49.2 million as of
December 31, 2013 and 201&=spectively. These federal and state NOLs mayskd to offset future taxable income and will expin varying
amounts through 2033. The Company also has nonND&. carryforwards of $30.4 million . Because then@pany restructured its operations
during 2012 , the non-U.S. net operating lossesodimel deferred tax assets have been removed fref@ampany’s table of deferred income
taxes above.

Of the $89.9 million and $56.1 million of federaldchstate NOL carryforwards at December 31, 2012Q #illion represents excess tax
benefits related to equity compensation which redult in an increase in equity if and when suatess benefits are ultimately realized.

The future utilization of the Company’s NOL carrgf@rds to offset future taxable income may be sthifea substantial annual
limitation as a result of changes in ownership toglksholders that hold 5% or more of the Compangismmon stock . An assessment of such
ownership changes under Section 382 was completedgh December 31, 2013. As a result of this assest, the Company determined that
it experienced multiple ownership changes througit32which will limit the future utilization of NOlcarryforwards. The Company has
reduced its deferred tax assets related to NOlyoeers that are anticipated to expire unused asultrof ownership changes. These tax
attributes have been excluded from deferred tagtasgith a corresponding reduction of the valuatibowance with no net effect on income
tax expense or the effective tax rate. Additiondilyure ownership changes may further impact tiization of existing NOLs.

The Company has established a full valuation allmedfor its deferred tax assets due to uncertaitiiat preclude it from determining
that it is more likely than not that the Companyl € able to generate sufficient taxable incomestdize
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such assets. Management assesses the availalilegoasd negative evidence to estimate if suffitfeture taxable income will be generate
utilize the existing deferred tax assets. A sigaifit piece of objective negative evidence evaluatesithe cumulative loss incurred over the
three year period ended December 31, 2013 . Syebtade evidence limits the ability to consider etisubjective evidence such as the
Company's projections for future growth. Basedros évaluation, as of December 31, 2013 , a valoallowance of $37.8 million has been
recorded in order to measure only the portion efdlferred tax asset that more likely than notlvélrealized. The amount of the deferred tax
asset considered realizable, however, could bestat]uf objective negative evidence in the forntafulative losses is no longer present and
additional weight may be given to subjective evitlersuch as estimates of future taxable incomengwarryforward periods and the
Company's projections for growth.

The Company applies the provisions of ASC 740,8me Taxes”, which contains a two-step approackdognizing and measuring
uncertain tax positions. The first step is to eatduthe tax position for recognition by determiniihtie weight of available evidence indicate
is more likely than not that the position will besgained on audit, including resolution of relasggbeals or litigation processes, if any. The
second step is to measure the tax benefit as hesibamount, which is more than 50% likely of leiealized upon ultimate settlement.
Income tax positions must meet a more likely thanracognition threshold at the effective date@adcognized upon the adoption of ASC
and in subsequent periods. This interpretation @iewides guidance on measurement, derecognitiassification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure and fitzors

The beginning and ending amount of unrecognizedaefits, exclusive of accrued interest, total@82$000 for each of the years endec
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 .

At December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 , tep@ay classified $610,000 and $590,000 , respdgtigétotal unrecognized tax
benefits, which includes accrued interest and pieisadf $228,000 and $208,000 for 2013 and 20&2pectively, as a component of other
long-term liabilities. This represents the amountrmrecognized tax benefits that would, if recoguizreduce the Company’s effective income
tax rate in any future periods. The Company befieves reasonably possible it will reduce its wmgnized tax benefits by approximately $0.4
million within the next twelve months. The Compaegognizes interest and penalties related to usicaidx positions in income tax expense.

Prior to 2013, the Company is subject to taxatiothe United Kingdom, the United States and vargiates jurisdictions. After 2013, t
Company is subject to taxation in the United States various state jurisdictions. As of December2RiL3 , the Company’s tax years after
2009 are subject to examination by the United Kergdax authorities. Except for net operating loggaserated in prior years carrying forw.
to the current year, as of December 31, 2013 Ctirapany is no longer subject to U.S. federal, statal or foreign examinations by tax
authorities for years before 2008.

7. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases:

The Company has operating and capital lease agrasifiog its office, manufacturing, warehousing daigbratory space and for office
equipment. Rent and operating expenses charged$ie49,000 , $1,323,000 and $774,000 for the yereded December 31, 2013, 2012,
and 2011 , respectively. Pursuant to the Compdagse agreements, a portion of the monthly remaldeen deferred. The balance deferred ¢
December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $1,725,000 and (02, respectively.

Annual future minimum obligations for capital angeoating leases as of December 31, 2013 are asvio(in thousands):

Years Ending December 31, Amount

2014 $ 1,052
2015 1,08¢
2016 1,11¢
2017 1,12¢
2018 1,15¢
Thereafter 3,04t
Total minimum lease payments $ 8,57¢

Legal Proceedings
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From time to time, the Company is party to litigatiand other legal proceedings in the ordinary ssuand incidental to the conduct of
its business. While the results of any litigatiorother legal proceedings are uncertain, the Compaes not believe the ultimate resolution of
any pending legal matters is likely to have a makeffect on its financial position or resultsagerations.

8. Inventories

Inventory on hand as of December 31, 2013 and DieeeBil, 2012 was comprised of the following (inusands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Raw materials $ 712 % 51€
Work-in-process 437 92t
Finished goods 952 552
$ 2,102 $ 1,99:¢

9. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment comprised of the followiagphDecember 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Property and equipment—at cost:

Plant and machinery $ 3,26C $ 3,05¢

Instruments 7,01 5,79%

Office equipment 1,32t 1,047

Leasehold improvements 3,75¢ 2,97:
Total property and equipment—at cost 15,35 12,87«

Less accumulated depreciation (6,762) (5,800
Property and equipment, net $ 8,591 $ 7,074

Depreciation expense was $2,187,000 , $998,00%4/228,000 for the years ended December 31, 22032 and 2011 , respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2013 the Companoyded an impairment charge included in deptieci@xpense of $302,000 related to
production equipment which had been built for NMTC.

10. Loan payable

In March 2010, the Company entered into a loansawdirity agreement with Square 1 Bank, pursuawhioh the Company obtained a
credit facility consisting of a revolving line ofedit in the amount of up to $2.0 million and amipgent term loan in the amount of up to $2.0
million . In March 2011, the Company amended ttanland security agreement to increase the lineedlitto $3.0 million and extend the
original maturity date to July 2012 .

In September 2012, the Company terminated the 8duBank loan and security agreement and enteteéinew term loan with Banc
of California, consisting of the following.

1) The Company increased the letter of credit medito its landlord of its Carlsbad, Californiaifiag to $758,000 from the previous
letter of credit of $500,000 . The increase inlgtter of credit was required by the Company’s lardlin connection with the Company’s lease
of additional space at this facility. The letteedit was secured with $758,000 of restricted cagbeaember 31, 2013 .

2) The Company obtained a variable rate term loam Banc of California in the amount of $836,00@hwan initial interest rate of
3.75% that expired in July 2013 . This term logolaeed the Square 1 Bank equipment loan of the semoaint with an interest rate of 6.75% .
As of December 31, 2013, the Company had rephwltdtanding amounts under this loan.

Pursuant to the terms of the Banc of Californiaifess loan agreement, the Company was requireciatain restricted cash, honor
certain representations and warranties (includingnot limited to, organization, financial infortien and taxes), affirmative covenants
(including, but not limited to, financial recordasurance and environmental compliance and reporégjative covenants (including, but not
limited to, indebtedness and liens, continuity pé@tions and loans, acquisitions and
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guaranties) and other provisions; however, the Gompvas not required to maintain liquidity raticsstrictive covenants or other limitations,
to which it was subject under the Square 1 Bank koad security agreement.

Principal repayment obligations under the Loan &grent as of December 31, 2013 was $37,000
11. Employee benefit plan

The Company has a 401(k) tax-deferred savings plaareby eligible employees may contribute a paeganof their eligible
compensation. The Company may make matching cemiwitts under the 401(k) plan; however, the Comgsas/not made any such

contributions to date.

12. Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities as of December 31, 2028 2012 consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Accrued royalties $ 1,02C $ 472
Outside services and consulting 907 42C
Accrued warranties 22€ 217
Other accrued liabilities 80¢ 1,90¢
Total $ 296: $ 3,01t

13. Fair value of financial instruments

The following table presents the financial instrumtisemeasured at fair value on a recurring basthefinancial statements of the
Company and the valuation approach applied to eksls of financial instruments at December 31, 20182012 , respectively, (in
thousands):

December 31, 2013

Quotes Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other
Identical Observable Significant
Assets Inputs Unobservable

(Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3) Total
Money market funds (cash equivalents) $ 19,91C $ — 3 — 3 19,91(
Corporate notes and bonds — 22,95¢ — 22,95¢
U.S. government and agency securities — 43,11 — 43,11
Commercial paper — 3,79 — 3,79

$ 19,91C $ 69,86¢ $ — 3 89,77¢

December 31, 2012

Quotes Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other
Identical Observable Significant
Assets Inputs Unobservable

(Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3) Total
Money market fund $ 20,00F $ — 9 — 9 20,00¢
Certificate of deposit — 25,00¢ — 25,00¢
Preferred securities $ 1,00(C 1,00(¢

$ 20,00t $ 25,00¢ $ 1,00C $ 46,01

At December 31, 2013, the carrying value of tharficial instruments measured and classified witkiel 1 was based on quoted prices
and marked to market. Level 2 inputs for the vatuest are limited to quoted prices for similar assmtliabilities in active markets and inputs
other than quoted prices that are observable ®asdset or liability. Level 3 assets and liabiiteee valued by recent acquisition price and are
based on significant unobservable inputs that apparted by little or
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no market activity. ASC 820-10-52(bbb) states Huahetimes fair value is measured on the basisicégpm prior transactions or third party
pricing, which the Company used in valuing its pregd securities in a privately-held company.

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Financial liabilities:
Long-term debt $ 63 % 63 $ 701 % 677

14. Investments

The following table summarizes the Company’s atddldor-sale investments at December 31, 2013h@(ausands) :

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized Estimated Fair
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Value
Corporate notes and bonds $ 22,95( $ 4 3 — 3 22,95¢
U.S. government and agency securities 43,124 — (9 43,11
Commercial paper 3,79 — — 3,791
Total $ 69,87. $ 4 % 9 % 69,86¢

During 2013, the Company sold its preferred stoslestment (recorded on the balance sheet in Qthgrterm assets) in Advanced
Liquid Logic, Inc., or ALL, in connection with ALK acquisition by lllumina, Inc., resulting in a $32,000 realized gain.

The following table summarizes the maturities & @ompany’s available-for-sale securities at Deaam3ti, 2013 (in thousands):

Amortized Cost Estimated Fair Value
Due in one year or less $ 48,67 $ 48,67
Due after one year through two years 21,19¢ 21,18¢
Total $ 69,87 $ 69,86¢
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15. Quarterly financial data (unaudited)

Year Ended December 31, 2013
(In thousands, except per share data)

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
Total revenue $ 11,10 $ 521t $ 4637 $ 6,451
Gross profit $ 6,067 $ 2,012 % 49¢  $ 2,93(
Loss from operations $ (4,230) $ (8,087) $ (12,29) $ (10,27
Net loss $ 4,175 $ (8,019 $ (10,817) $ (10,637
Per share data:
Net loss per common share—basic and diluted $ 0.139) $ (0.28) $ (0.30) $ (0.26)
Year Ended December 31, 2012
(In thousands, except per share data)
First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
Total revenue $ 2,15¢ % 3,61z $ 5,25¢ $ 9,44:
Gross profit $ 47z $ 1447 $ 2,22¢ % 4,681
Loss from operations $ (5,482 $ (5,58) $ (6,239 $ (4,59
Net loss $ (5,55¢) $ (5,600 $ (6,252) $ (4,697)
Per share data:
Net loss per common share—basic and diluted $ (0.2 $ (0.2¢) $ (0.200 $ (0.15)
Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
None.
ltem 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduregydesi to provide reasonable assurance that infoomagiquired to be disclosed in
reports we file under the Exchange Act is recorgedcessed, summarized and reported within thefsggdme periods and accumulated and
communicated to management, including our Chiefchtiee Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. The design of arsyesy of controls is based in part upon certainrapsions about the likelihood of future
events, and there can be no assurance that amndeiflisucceed in achieving its stated goals uradlgpotential future conditions; over time,
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions, or the degree of compliance withgie or procedures may deteriorate.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-affeccontrol system, misstatements due to errdraard may occur and not be detected.

As of the end of the period covered by this AnriR@port on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluatioyder the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our €Rirecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, thfe effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 18a)Hnd 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Basetiisrevaluation, our management, with
the participation of our Chief Executive Officerda@hief Financial Officer, concluded that, as otBeber 31, 2013 , our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal contret fimancial reporting that occurred in the quagieded December 31, 2013 that
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, our internal control over financigporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangdal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahaaorting (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) of the Exchange Act). Internal control overaincial reporting is a process designed to provide
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reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynafitial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the United States and includes thoseipsland procedures that:

e pertain to the maintenance of records thata&seeable detail accurately and fairly reflect taas$actions and dispositions of our
assets;

* provide reasonable assurance that transactienrgeeorded as necessary to permit preparatioinafdial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #ad our receipts and expenditures are being malydrmaccordance with
authorizations of our management and directors; and

» provide reasonable assurance regarding preveotitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitioee or disposition of our assets
that could have a material effect on the finansiatements.

Because of inherent limitations, internal contretiofinancial reporting may not prevent or detetstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risks that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions o
the degree of compliance with policies or procesunay deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive €ffiand Chief Financial Officer,
we conducted an evaluation of the effectivenessuofinternal control over financial reporting asDEcember 31, 2018ased on the framewc
in Internal Control — Integrated Frameworikssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway Commission (1992
framework) (COSO). Based on our evaluation undisrftamework, our management concluded that oermai control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2013 .

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness ohtauinal control over financial reporting as ofd@eber 31, 2013 has been audited
by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registeredlipidxcounting firm, as stated in their report whis included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of GerkMziagnostics, Inc.

We have audited GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.'s intlecoatrol over financial reporting as of Decembér 3013, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued byG@oenmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TweadCommission (1992 framework)
(the COSO criteria). GenMark Diagnostic Inc.'s ngamaent is responsible for maintaining effectiveinal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness ofriate&ontrol over financial reporting included hretaccompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our r@sgibility is to express an opinion on the Comparigternal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordxe@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinagutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (&ajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettfansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness to future periogssaibject to the risk that the controls may becoradequate because of changes in condi
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. maintaina all material respects, effective internal ttohover financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013, based on the COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the 2013
consolidated financial statements of GenMark Diagjas, Inc. and our report dated March 11, 201gressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 11, 2014
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Iltem 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART IlI.
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information required by this Item is incorp@ein this Annual Report by reference from the iinfation under the captions “Board
of Directors Information,” “Executive Officers” arf&ection 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Cdiance” contained in the Proxy
Statement to be filed in connection with our 20I#hAal Meeting of Stockholders, or the Proxy Stataime

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a code of business conduct aras dtiniour directors, officers and employees, wiigchvailable on our website at
www.genmarkdx.com in the Investor Relations sectinder “Corporate Governance.” If we make any sriste amendments to the code of
business conduct and ethics or grant any waiven figrovision of the code of business conduct dnideto any executive officer or director,
we will promptly disclose the nature of the amendbw@ waiver on our website. The information ontlwat can be accessed from, our website
is not incorporated by reference into this Annuapgrt.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorp@cin this Annual Report by reference from the iinfation under the captions
“Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Committetedlocks and Insider Participation” and “Reportltéd Compensation Committee”
contained in the Proxy Statement .

ltem 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is incorpacin this Annual Report by reference from the linfation under the captionSé&curity
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managimend “Equity Compensation Plan Information” caimied in the Proxy Statement .

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorp@cin this Annual Report by reference from the iinfation under the captions “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions,” and “Boéi@irectors Information” contained in the Proxtament .

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorp@cin this Annual Report by reference from the iinfation under the captions
“Principal Accountant Fees and Services” and “Repbthe Audit Committee” contained in the Proxatgment.
Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

(@) Documents filed as part of this Annual Rep

1. The following financial statements of GenMara@nostics, Inc. and Report of Independent Regidt@ublic Accounting Firm, are
included in this report:

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent RegistePetblic Accounting Firm
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Report of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Regjistl Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2@l 3GiP
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loshiéoye¢ars ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equitytlieryears ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaded December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. List of financial statement schedules. All shiles are omitted because they are not applicatifeeaequired information is shown
in the financial statements or notes thereto.

3. List of Exhibits required by Item 601 of Redida SK. See Item 15(b) belo
(b) Exhibits.

The exhibits listed in the accompanying “Exhibitiéx” are filed, furnished or incorporated by refere as part of this Annual
Report, as indicated.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 1%@)Iof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asrated, the Registrant has duly
caused this Report to be signed on its behalf bytidersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on Mafdc014 .

GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.

By: /sl HANY M ASSARANY

Name:

Hany Massarany

Title: Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
(principal executive officer)

March 11, 2014

By: /sl RICHARD B. SLANSKY
Name: Richard B. Slansky
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)

March 11, 2014

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signhature appears below constitutes anargpfHany
Massarany and Richard Slansky, jointly and sewerhis attorneys-in-fact, each with the power digtitution, for him or her in any and all
capacities, to sign any amendments to this ReppoRasm 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibitsréto and other documents in connection
therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commisdiereby ratifying and confirming all that eadlsaid attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute

or substitutes may do or cause to

be done by vireweof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 104as been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the

Signature

/ s/ HANY M ASSARANY
Hany Massarany

/ s/ RICHARD B. SLANSKY
Richard B. Slansky

/ s/ CHRISTOPHER G
LEESON

Christopher Gleeson

/ s/ D ARYL J. FAULKNER
Daryl J. Faulkner

/ s/ JAMES Fox
James Fox

/s/ KEVIN C O'BOYLE
Kevin C. O'Boyle

/ s/ STEPHEN W ORLAND
Stephen Worland

registrant ia ttapacities and on the dates indicated.

Title

President, Chief Executive Officer and Directaiiripipal executive officer)

Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officeand principal accounting
officer)

Chairman of the Board

Director

Director

Director

Director

Date

March 11, 2014

March 11, 2014

March 11, 2014

March 11, 2014

March 11, 2014

March 11, 2014

March 11, 2014
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Exhibit

3.1

3.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description

Certificate of Incorporation (incorporatedreference to our Registration Statement on Forn(l8t& No. 333-165562)
filed with the Commission on March 19, 2010).

Bylaws (incorporated by reference to our Regfion Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-16558&9 with the
Commission on March 19, 2010).

Lease between The Campus Carlsbad, LLC an@&t&lMicro Sensors, Inc. dba Osmetech Moleculegnostics, dated
February 8, 2010 (incorporated by reference toRmgistration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 3385B2) filed with the
Commission on March 19, 2010).

Settlement and Release Agreement and Firenllment to Lease between The Campus Carlsbad, hdChnical Micro
Sensors, Inc., dated July 1, 2010 (incorporateckfgrence herein form our Form 10-K as filed whik SEC on March 14,
2013).

Settlement and Release Agreement and Secmetidment to Lease, dated January 19, 2012, byetactbn the Campus
Carlsbad, LLC and Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. d.lisenMark Diagnostics, Inc. (incorporated by refiee to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission onrbta21, 2012).

Third Amendment to Lease agreement dated #(28) 2012, by and between The Campus Carlsbad,drid Clinical
Micro Sensors, Inc. dba GenMark Diagnostics, Imzdrporated by reference herein from our Form 1&8sQ@iled with the
SEC on November 8, 2012).

Second Amendment to License Agreement dateel 20, 2000 by and between California Institut& ethnology and
Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. (incorporated by refece herein form our Form 10-K/A as filed with ®EC on April 18,
2013). t

Amended and Restated License Agreement byetneken President and Fellows of Harvard CollegeGlinical Micro
Sensors, Inc. dba Osmetech Molecular DiagnostateddJuly 14, 1997 (incorporated by reference toRagistration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-165562) filethwthe Commission on May 21, 2010).

Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restatahke Agreement dated June 7, 2005 by and bet@i@gnal Micro
Sensors, Inc. and President and Fellows of Har€atlbge (incorporated by reference herein fromfearm 10-K as filed
with the SEC on March 14, 2013).

Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and Restatmhke Agreement dated January 14, 2006 by andebat®linical Micro
Sensors, Inc. and President and Fellows of Har€attkége (incorporated by reference herein fromamm 10-K as filed
with the SEC on March 14, 2013).

Amended and Restated Chemically Modified Emey Kit Patent License Agreement by and betweem&Molecular
Systems, Inc., F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd., and Chhidicro Sensors, Inc. dba Osmetech Molecular Distjos, dated
February 27, 2008 (incorporated by reference taRmgistration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 3835b62) filed with
the Commission on May 21, 2010).

License Agreement by and between the Regétitie University of Michigan, HSC Research and/&epment Limited
Partnership and Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. dben&gch Molecular Diagnostics, dated March 15, 2@@¢orporated by
reference to our Registration Statement on Form(E#& No. 333-165562) filed with the Commissioniday 21, 2010).

Non-Exclusive License Agreement by and betw@linical Micro Sensors, Inc. d.b.a. GenMark Diasfics, Inc. and
Caliper Life Sciences Inc. dated effective as of¢ha27, 2012 (incorporated by reference herein foumForm 10-Q as
filed with the SEC on May 10, 2012).

Development Collaboration and License Ageatidated July 26, 2012, by and between Advandgaid.Logic, Inc. and
Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. dba GenMark Diagnastinic. (incorporated by reference herein fromearm 10Q/A as filed
with the SEC on March 22, 2013). T



10.13 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporateddfgrence to our Registration Statement on Form(iSt& No. 333-165562)
filed with the Commission on April 20, 2010).*
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10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

211

23.1

23.2

Description

Form of Stock Option Agreement (incorpordigdeference to our Registration Statement on Févin(File No. 333-
165562) filed with the Commission on April 20, 20X0

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (incoayext by reference herein to our Form 10-Q as filiéd the SEC on November
9, 2010).*

Form of Restricted Stock Units Grant Notoel Agreement (incorporated by reference heregutd-orm 8-K as filed with
the SEC on March 12, 2013).*

Form of Amendment of Restricted Stock, Retstl Stock Unit and/or Stock Option Agreement(s)dirporated by reference
herein to our Form 10-K as filed with the SEC onrbial4, 2013).*

The GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. 2013 Bonus Fitecorporated by reference herein to our Form &sKiled with the SEC on
March 12, 2013).*

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. 2013 Employee ISRurchase Plan (incorporated by reference to adinDive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Commissioipril 5, 2013).*

Form of Director and Officer Indemnificatiigreement (incorporated by reference to our Reggish Statement on Form
S-1 (File No. 333-165562) filed with the CommissmmMarch 19, 2010).*

Executive Employment Agreement, dated Jgnlig2010, by and between Osmetech Technologyaimt.Jon Faiz
Kayyem, Ph.D. (incorporated by reference to ourifeagion Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-1&55#ed with the
Commission on March 19, 2010).*

Executive Employment Agreement, dated aspof 5, 2011, by and between GenMark Diagnosties, and Hany
Massarany (incorporated by reference herein fromFoum 10-Q as filed with the SEC on May 13, 2011).

Executive Employment Agreement, dated Ma&;i2012, by and between Clinical Micro Sensors, thb.a. GenMark
Diagnostics, Inc. and Richard B. Slansky (incorpeday reference herein our Form 8-K filed with 8ecurities and
Exchange Commission on April 2, 2012).*

Executive Employment Agreement dated Marc010, by and between Clinical Micro Sensors, thb.a. GenMark
Diagnostics, Inc. and Jeffrey Hawkins (incorporabgdeference herein from our Form 10-Q as filethwlhe SEC on May
13, 2011).*

Executive Employment Agreement dated A@Bjl2010 by and between Osmetech Molecular Diage®atid Jennifer
Williams (incorporated by reference herein from Borm 10-K as filed with the SEC on March 14, 2013)

XT-8 Instrument Supply Agreement, dated Ai@y 2012, by and between Leica Biosystems Melioity Ltd and
Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. dba GenMark Diagnastinc. (incorporated by reference herein fromeamm 10Q/A as filed
with the SEC on March 22, 2013).t

Reagent Rental Agreement, dated Septemb@022, by and between Clinical Micro Sensors, tha GenMark
Diagnostics, Inc. and Natural Molecular Testing @@wation (incorporated by reference herein fromoamm 10-Q/A as
filed with the SEC on March 22, 2013).t

List of Subsidiaries”
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Regexd Public Accounting Firrd

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, IndependentiReged Public Accounting Firf
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31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

101

101

101

101
101

101

Description

Power of Attorney (included on the signature pageto).v’

Certification of principal executive officearsuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of then®exs Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended/

Certification of principal financial officgrursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of then®texs Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended/

Certification of the principal executive a#r pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) of the SecuritieshBrge Act of 1934, as
amended, and 18 U.S.C. section 1350.

Certification of the principal financial afér pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) of the SecuritieshBrge Act of 1934, as
amended, and 18 U.S.C. section 1350.

XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Document

XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document

*

v

T

Indicates a management contract or compensalaryor arrangement in which any director or namegcutive officer participates.

Included in this filing.

Confidential treatment has been granted withaessto certain portions of this exhibit.
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EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISRANT

Set forth below is a list of subsidiaries of thegR&ant. Unless otherwise indicated, all of thessdiaries listed below are wholly owned
subsidiaries of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and avaeed directly by either GenMark Diagnostics, Incbg wholly owned subsidiaries of
GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.

Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Formation
Osmetech Technology Inc. Delaware
Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. Delaware
Osmetech Inc. Delaware

GenMark Diagnostics Europe GmbH Switzerland



23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion No. 333-187371 on Form S-3 and RegistraBtatement Nos. 333-1837393, 333-
189348, 333-168892 and 333-182268 on Form S-8iofeport dated March 14, 2013, relating to the otidated balance sheet of GenMark
Diagnostics, Inc. (the “Company”) and subsidiaffesmerly Osmetech plc and subsidiaries) as of bdmr 31, 2012, and the related
consolidated statements of comprehensive losskhsdtaers’equity, and cash flows for the years ended Decel@ibe2012 and 2011, appeat
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compaaythe year ended December 31, 2013.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
San Diego, California
March 11, 2014



23.2
CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERFPUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference iféllewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 383371) of GenMark Diagnostics, Ir
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1833®#rtaining to the 2013 Employee Stock Purchdae & GenMark Diagnostics,
Inc., and

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 Nos. 333-287333-182268, and 333-168892) pertaining to 80Zquity Incentive Plan of
GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.;

of our reports dated March 11, 2014ith respect to the consolidated financial staets of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and the effectess o
internal control over financial reporting of GenMaiagnostics, Inc. included in this Annual Rep@orm 10K) of GenMark Diagnostics, In
for the year ended December 31, 2013 .

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 11, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSW TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Hany Massarany, certify that:

1.

2.

Date:

| have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKLOf GenMark Diagnostics, Int

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgjor caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control oveairfirial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princijples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséantbis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant’s internal control over finalceporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitte@mmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevaden!
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectriagistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aismmtifole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

March 11, 2014 By: /s/ Hany Massarany
Hany Massarany
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUNT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Richard Slansky, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKLOf GenMark Diagnostics, Int

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary t

make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the

period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgjor caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control oveairfirial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princijples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséantbis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant’s internal control over finalceporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuatimternal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitte@mmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevaden!

functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectriagistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aismmtifole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date:March 11, 2014 By: /s/ Richard B. Slansky

Richard B. Slansky
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of GenMark @iastics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for fisral year ended December 31,
2013 (the “Report”), as filed with the SecuritiexldExchange Commission on or about the date hdrddény Massarany, President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuanil8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursua®édstion 906 of the Sarban@sdey Act of
2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

0] the Report fully complies with the requiremeiof Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Seasifixchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(i) the information contained in the Report fairly gmets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operatio
of the Company.

Date:March 11, 2014 By: /s/ Hany Massarany
Hany Massarany
President and Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies the FormHK@e which it relates, is not deemed filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission and is r
be incorporated by reference into any filing of Gkamk Diagnostics, Inc. under the Securities Ac1883, as amended, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether madeebefafter the date of the Form KJ-irrespective of any general incorporation laage
contained in such filing.



Exhibit 32.Z
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of GenMark @iastics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for fisral year ended December 31,
2013 (the “Report”), as filed with the SecuritiexlédExchange Commission on or about the date hdreRithard Slansky, Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 ICSSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to Secti6roBthe Sarbane®xley Act of 2002, the
to the best of my knowledge:

0] the Report fully complies with the requiremeiof Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Seasifixchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(i) the information contained in the Report fairly gmets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operatio
of the Company.

Date:March 11, 2014 By: /s/ Richard B. Slansky
Richard B. Slansky
Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies the FormHK@e which it relates, is not deemed filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission and is r
be incorporated by reference into any filing of Gkamk Diagnostics, Inc. under the Securities Ac1883, as amended, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether madeebefafter the date of the Form KJ-irrespective of any general incorporation laage
contained in such filing.



